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THE REIGN OF HENRY VIII.

CHAPTER XXI.
END OF THE FRENCH WAR.

NorwitasTanpING the laborious preparations of the Con-
federates, the year 1523 passed away without any decisive
advantage to either side. Of all the qualifications required in
the leader of a great campaign Suffolk possessed one only—
the indomitable courage of big bones and Herculean muscles.
Small engagements in detail, the irritation of an enemy by
sacking and plundering feeble forts and defenceless villages,
apparently constituted his ideal of the duties and respon-
sibilities of a great commander. As a knight at jousts he
fought valiantly—no man more so. But war was often little
better than the darker shadow of mimic fights described in
the pages of the Chronicler : * When they were all armed the
trumpets blew ; then toward the braie marched [these valiant]
gentlemen, with pikes and swords, and cried Haar, haar.
Then there was foining, lashing, and striking. They within
fought mightily ; and when any without clymed up the bank
they within bet them doune, and they within were sometyme
beten doune almoste; but surely they fought valiantly.”” The
result was as substantial and as permanent in one instance
as in the other. War was, in fact, at that time little more
than an aristocratic amusement. The earnest degenerated
into jest; the jest as readily passed into earnest. But surely
they fought valiantly.

So long as fair weather and a plentiful supply of bread
and beer permitted this sort of entertainment, war was fed by
war, and grew by what it fed upon. Honour dictated reprisals

‘b VOL. 1II. R



2 THE REIGN OF HENRY VIIL [A.D.

to both parties, and blow was duly repaid for blow. But as
the year drew to its close, came wind and rain, and with them
¢ fervent frost, so sore that many a soldier died for cold ;** for
clothing and commissariat in those days were little heeded.
Some lost their fingers, some their toes, many lost the nails
of their hands, which, in the quaint language of the same
Chronicler, ‘‘ was to them a great grief.” The Duke, all this
notwithstanding, remembering that he came not thither to
lie still, pressed on; and still it froze. In the morning the
Welshmen set up a shout, and cried “ Home, home.” They
were answered by the English with contumelious and defiant
cries of ‘“ Hang, hang.” The tumult in the camp was for the
time appeased ; but the Duke was compelled at last to disband
his army, without waiting for orders, although he had sent
Lord Sandes into England to inform the King * that his people
which were in the French ground abode much misery; for the
weather was wet, the ways deep, long nights and short days,
great journeys and little victual, which caused the soldiers
daily to die. . . . *Well,” said the King, ‘all this we knew
before your coming; wherefore we have appointed the Lord
Mountjoy with 6,000 men to pass the seas and reinforce
them ; for we will in no wise that the army shall break.’”
Never had English arms been disgraced with a grosser breach
of discipline. The forces under Mountjoy were recalled at
the news of the Duke’s mismanagement. So when * the
Duke and other captains heard of the King’s displeasure they
were sore abashed, and did write to their friends that they
had perfect knowledge that the duke of Bourbon had broken
up his camp for the extremity of the winter, and also showed
that their soldiers died, and victuals failed, which caused
them to break the army; for, of truth, the soldiers would not
abide. With which reasons the King was somewhat appeased ;
and 80 on good hope the Duke came to Calais the 12th day
of December (1528), and there abode long, till their friends
had sued to the King for their return. And when it was
granted, and that they were returned, the Duke and the
captains came not to the King's presence in a long season, to
their great heaviness and displeasure. But at the last all
things were taken in good part, and they well received, and
in great love, favor, and familiarity with the King.”?
Whether the Duke owed this forgiveness to the Cardinal’s
good services, as on a previous occasion, is not certainly
! Hall’s Chron., p. 672.



1523.] CLOSE OF THE CAMPAIGN. 3

known ; but, considering Wolsey’s influence at the time, it
is highly probable.!

Thus ended the last campaign undertaken by this country
during Wolsey’s administration. Inflamed by the idea of
subduing France and carrying their triumphant arms to the
gates of Paris, England had spared no cost. The ill success
of the attempt was not exclusively due to the inability of
Suffolk. It had been ably arranged by Wolsey that each of
the three Confederates, starting from their nearest frontier,
should attack France simultaneously, advance on Paris by
several roads, and place the crown of France on Henry's
head. But such a design did not suit the interests of Charles
or of Bourbon. Neither of them desired to see an English
coronation at Rheims or Paris. To humble Francis, without
reducing him to despair, suited their purpose much better
than transferring his crown to his English rival. That result
could be accomplished with little cost to themselves by allow-
ing the brunt of the war to fall upon Suffolk, whilst they
looked on or took care of their own personal interests. So
whilst Bourbon remained inactive, Charles contented himself
with securing his Spanish frontier, and wresting from the
French their late conquest of Fontarabia.

The selfish design of the Emperor to promote his own
interests only at the expense of England, and wrest an
advantageous peace out of the necessities of France at the
most favourable opportunity, did not escape the penetrating
glance of Wolsey. He had long ceased to regard the Emperor
and his chief adviser and chancellor, Gattinara, with the com-
placency he had formerly entertained, if not for both, yet
certainly for Charles, two years before. The Emperor was
not to be trusted. He recognized no other obligation than
his own advantage ; and whatever way his advantage pointed,
his honour followed the same direction. The Cardinal’s sus-
picions were aroused the more by the conspicuous failure of
Charles in fulfilling his engagements for supporting Suffolk.
The whole campaign had failed through the Emperor’s selfish-
ness. England had been put to great trouble and expense for
no purpose. Wolsey was at no pains to conceal his indigna-

1 At Wolsey’s fall, the Duke, with  the interests of England, and as a
revolting ingratitude, charged the proof of his favour to France. Wolsey
Cardinal with being the cause of his was as incapable of betraying the
pot capturing Paris, because he had Duke as the Duke was of capturing

to send reinforcements. Paris.
This was construed into a betrayal of



4 THE REIGN OF HENRY VIIL [A.D.

tion. He ordered Knight, the English ambassador, to tell
the Lady Margaret that, owing to the King’s services in behalf
of her nephew, the Emperor had been enabled to attend
exclusively to his own interests in Spain, to preserve the Low
Countries from the French, to recover Milan, Genoa, and
Tournay, to redeem the pension of Naples, and free himself
from the obligation of marrying Renée. The King, he said,
did not grudge him this good fortune ; but still nothing had
been for the King’s profit, and no portion of his inheritance
had been recovered.! To the excuses she had made for dis-
banding the Imperial contingent of Burgundians, and the
irregularity of their pay fatal to their discipline and useful-
ness, he took the liberty of telling her, they did not expect
a lady of her wisdom would have attempted to excuse such
notorious wrong ““ by inventions and compasses, by paraboles
and assimulations, interpreting his sayings, mind, and intent
otherwise than, by experience of his accustomable manner,
she hath found cause or occasion to do.” He ended this
tart message by repelling the insinuation that his master had
ever separated himself from the Emperor, as her favourite
minister Hoghstrate had ‘indiscreetly and otherwise than
truly inferred.”

Such language, more peremptory than courtly, especially
to a lady, and the Emperor’s aunt, was doubtless intended for
the Emperor's ears. In Wolsey's correspondence with the
Regent of Flanders he assumed a freedom and directness of
speech to which crowned heads were scarcely accustomed.
The restraint of official etiquette would not have permitted
him to have addressed himself to the Emperor in language so
uncompromising. But under the profession of friendship to
the Regent, and the sincerity which such friendship allowed,
he could adopt a tone of remonstrance, which he well knew
would reach the quarter intended. He could speak to her
with a freedom that could only be justified in an equal. With
consummate and imperturbable tact, not the less galling
because it assumed the mask of friendliness, he contrived to
place the Emperor’s aunt and himself on an equal footing.
She represented the interests of her nephew as he did those
of his master. As the friendship between the two Princes
was inviolable, their ministers could have only one and the
same object in view, and therefore might dispense with
ceremony. Such a mode of address, he well knew, would be

1IV.8.



1534.] WOLSEY TRIES TO FIX THE EMPEROR. 5

far from agreeable—might provoke resentment. But he had
measured his ground. It was necessary to fix the ambiguous
conduct of the Emperor. Either he must prosecute the war
and fulfil his engagements ; or, if he declined it, and attempted
excuses, it would be open to the Cardinal to make other
arrangements, and anticipate the Emperor’s designs.

Two alternatives were before him—to prosecute the war
with vigour, and recover the English possessions in France,
or let it be known that England was not so obdurate an
~ enemy to France, but that Francis might make as ad-

vantageous an arrangement with England as any that the
Emperor could offer. Either resolve was equally suitable to
Wolsey’s policy. To prosecute the war, he must subsidize
Bourbon, at that time exclusively devoted to the Emperor’s
interests. To make terms with France, he must open com-
munications with Louise of Savoy, only too ready to dis-
engage England from the formidable confederacy by which
France was threatened. From this time Louise and the
Regent become prominent figures in the politics of the age.
They are the intermediate agents of the most secret negocia-
tions in Europe. To search and fathom the designs of its
courts, to watch its sovereigns and their ministers, until the
moment came for taking the reins into their own hands, and
dictating peace to all, was their exclusive and arduous task
for the next six years.

But, dissatisfied as he was with the results of the campaign,
it was no part of Wolsey’s policy to betray his impatience, or
give any advantage to the Emperor, who was only too ready
to find a pretext for evading his engagements. 'Wolsey offered
to continue the war with France. He proposed that Bourbon
should be sent into Flanders with 8,000 Burgundian horse, at
the Emperor’s charge, and 10,000 lanceknights. His master,
he said, would contribute one-half of the charge, and add 1,000
archers to pass into Normandy or Paris, *there to recover
certain towns and places to the King’s use; which shall be
more facile for the said duke of Bourbon to do than any other
person.” This, he urged, would save 200,000 crowns due from
the Emperor to the Duke. But for this purpose it would be
necessary that the Duke should be sent at once into England,
“without using such remiss manner, delay, and difficulty
therein by colorable excuses, and for lack of furniture of
money, as hath been done beforetime.”! The combined

! IV. 26. Blightly modified in 61.
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armies were to march to Paris in June. Letters at the same
time were sent to Bourbon, inviting him to visit England.
From the latter an ambiguous answer was returned, professing
his devotion to the King’s and the Emperor’s service; ! from
Charles, a complaint that the English ambassadors were too
hard upon him.? He could not consent to the proposed
arrangement. Satisfied with the recovery of Fontarabia he
was evidently disinclined to continue the war, and was only
waiting for an opportunity of making the best terms for him-
self, without much consideration for his ally.

Wolsey could scarcely have anticipated, as he could cer-
tainly not have wished for, a more favourable answer. As the
Emperor had declined the terms for continuing the war, the
Cardinal was now free to take his own course. Charles could
not hereafter reproach him with breaking their engagement,
or plead its abandonment as a justification for openly coquet-
ting with Francis. The Cardinal saw clearly that the con-
tinuance of the war on the previous terms would bring no
accession of honour or profit to this country. He had done
enough to secure the great aim of his policy by humbling
France, and making its sovereign more dependent than before
on the good-will of England. But there were other strong
reasons why war was undesirable. It was not merely that all
the advantages of it had hitherto fallen to the share of the
Emperor, and all the cost of it on the King, but a protracted
foreign war was an insupportable burthen, and contributed not
a little to the Cardinal’s unpopularity. So completely had he
engrossed the King’s favour, so generally was Wolsey regarded
as his chief adviser, that every act of the government was
attributed to his suggestion—every harsh and every unsuc-
cessful measure was visited upon his head. From the bishops,
the nobles, the religious orders, the people at large, he could
expect no cordial sympathy or support. The civil and
religious administration of the whole kingdom was concentrated
in his hands. It was now growing rapidly too great for one
man’s energies to control. In a few months it was to be still
more complicated by an unforeseen difficulty. The correspond-
ence with the Court of Rome alone, complicated and perplexed
with the subtle intrigues and conflicting interests of the
statesmen and ecclesiastics of all nations, was sufficient to tax
the patience and engross the attention of any one minister to
the utmost. Moreover, a continental war was wholly distaste-

1 IV. 102. 2 IV. 106.



1524.] IMPOLICY OF CONTINUING THE WAR. 7

ful to this nation. It deranged the commerce of the Narrow
Seas, it disturbed the course of national trade and industry,
it interfered with agricultural and mercantile employments.
As England possessed no standing army, no navy, no com-
missariat, no store of arms, except a few culverins and great
guns, the transport of troops to France and Flanders for a con-
tinental war was more costly and laborious than it is even
now, when war is carried on with much larger contingents.
Drawn in the main from the agricultural population, English
soldiers were unused to the hardships of foreign service. The
transport of troops engrossed the small coasting vessels in
every available port. The supply of bread, beef, and beer—
without which English soldiers pined and drooped—enhanced
the price of these necessaries; whilst the licence engendered
by war gave encouragement to robbery and piracy, in which
allies and friends fared no better than enemies.

Up to this time the expenses of the war had been met by
a subsidy from the clergy and a loan granted by Parliament
in the year 1522, consisting of a tenth of the goods of the laity
on all property above 5l. But though these contributions
were readily granted they were not so readily levied. The
loan ‘sore emptied men’s purses,” already reduced by the
necessity of purchasing ‘“ harness and weapons.” The collec-
tion of these subsidies from Michaelmas to April had already
realized the sum of 228,906!., amounting in modern computa-
tion to two millions sterling and a half; and as every man’s
quota had to be paid in specie by an agricultural population
of frugal habits, the tax fell with greater heaviness upon the
counties. To increase the discontent, people were alarmed by
prognostications of a general flood, and corn had risen in price
under apprehensions of scarcity.! To assemble a Parliament
in the present crisis was out of the question ; to raise another
loan without its consent was an expedient on which Wolsey
dared not yet to venture, nor would the occasion warrant it.
Peace, then, was desirable, if not necessary. The Emperor’s
reluctance to continue the war was all that Wolsey wanted.

But to have allowed his wishes for peace and accommoda-
tion to transpire, still more to make the first advances, was
not for the honour of England, nor was it advantageous. All
parties were equally tired of the campaign—the Cardinal, who
saw no good likely to arise from it; the Emperor, who had
made his market, and did not wish to incur further hazard ;

! Hall, 675.



8 THE REIGN OF HENRY VIIL [A.D.

Francis, to divide and diminish the odds arrayed against him.
But though all wished for peace, no one was willing to confess
it. No one was prepared by such admission to compromise
his chances of obtaining the best bargain from the fears and
necessities of his neighbour. Each sovereign, therefore,
held back, and shaped his policy in the hope of forcing
his confederates to make the first advance. The terms
addressed by Wolsey to Charles, on which alone his master
would consent to renew the war, were peremptory ; but the
willingness of Henry to accept an arrangement, if the Emperor
proposed or desired it, was tacitly insinuated. The Emperor,
not less wary, would not definitively accept either alternative.
If Henry would carry on the war as efficiently as before, and
invade France, Charles would assist him in obtaining his
rights. Or, if Henry would secure honourable and advan-
tageous terms for himself and his allies, Charles would
acquiesce, and offer no objections to a peace.

In these straits, into which sovereigns were brought by
their animosity and ambition, when there was no strong
public opinion to control them, and no disinterested state to
arbitrate, the Pope was a convenient and indispensable referee.
He was the Holy Father of Christendom. It was due to his
sacred office and character to maintain peace, and not suffer
his faithful sons, the sovereigns of Europe, to take each other
by the throat, and fill the whole Christian world with blood-
shed and confusion. The argument, always available when
sovereigns desired to find some excuse for doing what they
wished to do, had lately gained additional force by the
approach of the Turks and the increase of the Lutheran
heresy. How could the successor of St. Peter, the supreme
representative of the Gospel, turn a deaf ear to such appeals
—especially when they coincided with the interests of the Holy
See ? It was as much the policy of the Pope as it was of the
Cardinal, to balance the great contending powers of Europe
against each other. Nothing was to be feared from their
weakness, everything from their power. The decided pre-
dominance of any one involved the dependence of the Papacy.
The hopelessness of securing the freedom of the Holy See,
and recovering its lost possessions, never seemed more hope-
less than when one potentate of Europe was powerful and
arrogant enough to overrule the rest. So in a letter?
addressed by Wolsey to Clement VII., after profuse expres-

1 IV.119.



1524.) OBSTACLES TO PEACE. 9

sions of gratitude for past favours and his ‘‘ elegant breve,”
the Cardinal took the opportunity of instilling into the Pope’s
ears the blessings of Christian unity. The Pope desired
peace. Peace, he tells the Pope, is now even more necessary
than war. In a subsequent letter? tothe English ambassadors
at Rome the Cardinal fails not to urge them, in the event of
any slackness on the part of the Emperor, to press the Pope
“ to propose, as of himself, overtures for peace.”

The history of the times has been so heedlessly written,
prejudice or inadvertence has imported into it so many
mistakes, so much confusion, that it is almost impossible to
form a correct judgment of events, still more of the actors and
their motives. In thus applying to the Pope the Cardinal was
well aware that Clement VII., tired, or apprehensive of the
oppressive patronage of Charles V., was naturally inclined to
favour the French. But he was also conscious that any open
avowal of reluctance on his part to continue the war would-
render Francis more dangerous and more intractable than
ever. If, in spite of all the efforts of the confederacy, the
French King succeeded in holding the field—if the combined
armies were compelled to relinquish the campaign—Francis
would obtain the monarchy of Italy. He would become less
anxious than before to secure the friendship of England. To
avoid this contingency the Cardinal bated not a jot of his war-
like demeanour. He had already entered ostensibly upon a
treaty 3 with the Emperor’s ambassador, De Praet, for the
invasion of France. It was a threat, and a threat only; for
he well knew that the season was too far advanced for active
operations. If the treaty proceeded, and Charles prosecuted
the war with vigour, the whole burthen of it would fall upon
Bourbon, who might be assisted, and the forces under him
augmented by money and reinforcements from England, as
the turn of events required.® If the Emperor held back, and
fortune inclined to the French, Wolsey could retrace his steps
without any great sacrifice. Meanwhile his active brain had
been already at work in providing for either contingency.
Informal negociations with the French court for peace and
payment of the pensions due to England * had been set on foot
by unaccredited agents on both sides.

! IV. 185. Clerk and Hannibal wrote from Rome
2 Concluded May 25. See IV. to Wolsey, April 25, to state that
. “they will do all they can for the
? Bee IV. 374 French pension and the peace, and
¢ In a reply to Wolsey’s letter, the other matters, in cipher, in



10 THE REIGN OF HENRY VIIL [A.D.

Matters hung in supsense. The hopes and demands of
the combatants on both sides rose and fell with temporary
successes and disasters. Every one wished for peace; but
though the Pope, either on his own suggestion or at the
advice of others, had sent the Archbishop of Capua to France,
Spain, and England, in succession, when it came to arranging
the terms no one was willing to make concessions. The main
difficulty was the restoration of Bourbon, to which Francis
would by no means consent, nor with it would Charles dis-
pense. Nothing, therefore, remained for the present, except
to wait upon the course of events. If Bourbon prospered, the
Cardinal might find means for delaying his arrangements with
France; if otherwise, they might proceed. But it was by no
means easy to discover exactly how matters stood, or to
penetrate Bourbon’s real intentions.! Pace, who had been
sent to reside with him, was too much influenced by partiality
to the Imperial cause to be implicitly trusted. It is not easy
to decide whether he failed to comprehend Wolsey’s policy, or
disliked it, or wished to counteract it. The freedom and
boldness of his criticisms are scarcely less remarkable than
their shallowness. Flattered by the attentions of Bourbon
and the Imperial officers,® he had ceased to use his own
judgment. He adopted their views and their statements
without consideration, and magnified their powers and im-
portance. In a tone of bravado he spoke of Bourbon’s army
‘““as able to fight all the power of France; and he is deter-
mined to do so! Now is the time,” he continues, with more
confidence than prudence, *“to look to the recovery of the
King’s rights; for if this army, for lack of support—that is,
of money from England—is obliged to retreat, such another
will never be got together again.”® As Henry laid claim to
the throne of France, Bourbon, by right, was his subject.
Would he swear homage to the King of England in event of
the conquest of France? This was the touchstone of his real
intentions. But this he evaded; yet Pace had no suspicion.
He still finds Bourbon “ a very substantial, wise, and virtuous
prince. If he is deceived by the Duke every one is deceived.
He is determined to serve the King faithfully, and neither to
be made king himself, nor to allow any other;” *—as if when
Bourbon had conquered France he would become more sub-
servient to the King’s purposes.

Wolsey's letter.” IV. p. 110. See 2 1V. 420.
also No. 271. * V. p. 182.
! Wolsey to Pace, IV. 874. ¢ IV. p. 187.
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Such airy and unsubstantial hopes did not satisfy Wolsey.
He replied to this rhodomontade with admirable clearness
and unruffled temper.! The contrast is striking between the
broad, cautious, long-sighted views of the great statesman
and the rash and hasty judgments of the man of whom it has
been absurdly said that the Cardinal was jealous. Praising
Pace for his zeal and fidelity, Wolsey proceeded to excuse his
criticisms and rectify his mistakes. Pace is alone: he is
necessarily ignorant of many things ‘“ which he would know
if he were here.” Of Bourbon’s protestations and his pro-
fessed anxiety for the King’s rights, ‘it is to be considered,”
he says, ‘ that Bourbon’s chief reason for making war on the
French king is his own private quarrel, which he could not
avenge alone ; and it was easy for him to see that the Emperor
and the king of England were the most meet protectors of his
cause, which they would not have advocated unless they had
perceived some profit for themselves likely to ensue. Secondly,
there is reason to suspect that Bourbon has offered the
Emperor Provence, Languedoc, and Marseilles, with the sub-
jection of Bourbonnais and Auvergne, which he refuses to
hold of the king of England, affirming (as Pace had reported)
that there is a treaty to the contrary; which is not true.
Besides, when Provence and Marseilles are taken, to which
enterprise the Genoese contribute and bear the charge, it will
be more easy to recover the duchy of Bourgogne (for the
Emperor); and as the French will then be kept from the
Mediterranean, Naples will be open to the Emperor, and
secured from the French.” So all these designs, which
seemed so fair to Pace, were conceived in the Emperor’s
interests solely. He then proceeds to show Pace that the
plans of Bourbon which he had so strongly commended were
contrived exclusively for Bourbon’s and the Emperor’s profit ;
as well as “the laying of an antemurale all this winter
between France and Italie,” contrived by Beaurain ‘ and
other fine personages, in the Emperor’'s interests, on the
pretence that the King shall recover his crown in France.”
Adopting implicitly the suggestions of Bourbon, Pace had
insisted strongly on the invasion of France by an army to be
sent from England. Wolsey was not to be so easily deceived.
Such an appeal, he replies, is premature. His master cannot
be required to perform his promise of invading France, except
in the event of a revolution or a victory, and up to the present

! IV. 510, July 17.
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time (the middle of July) Bourbon had done nothing. He
had not yet gained Provence, or even his own patrimony,
from the French King; ‘“ and there seems no likelihood of a
revolution ; for the French king is not so generally hated as
Bourbon would have men believe, or as Pace writes.” The
Cardinal then discusses, with admirable judgment and com-
plete mastery of the subject, the advantages and disadvantages
of an invasion of France, the means required for it, the
localities where it might best be attempted. He shows as

‘clear a comprehension of all these points as a practised

general, and is equally at home in contriving a campaign as
in building a college.

Calm, judicial, and even considerate, as was the Cardinal’s
despatch, the tone of Pace’s reply! betrays his mortification.
He apologises for asserting that if the crown of France was
lost he should impute the fault to Wolsey (it must be remem-
bered that his letters were intended for the King, and not
merely for the Cardinal), and he did not imagine that his
words would be taken seriously. It was only ¢ to stir Wolsey
to that end.” Still he adheres to the high opinion he had
expressed of Bourbon’s good faith and sincerity.  As to
the conquests in Provence, Languedoc, and Burgundy, being
for other men’s profit, at the King’s expense, this is a great
error, and the fine men whom Wolsey mentions cannot deceive
Pace about that.” For the irregularity in the payment of the
Emperor’s contingent he finds numerous apologies; all of
which, it is obvious, were nothing more than a repetition of
the excuses he had heard from Bourbon and the Imperial
officers. It is clear that Pace was not inclined to defer to the
judgment of the Cardinal. Worse than all, he suffered himself
to be betrayed by the influence of bad temper. In the con-
fidence of his own opinions, he went so far as publicly to
condemn Wolsey’s policy. He taxed the Cardinal with being
swayed by interested motives, and allowed a licence to his
tongue wholly unbecoming his position and employment.
The account given not long after by the Italian, Surian,? to
the Signory at Venice, is not calculated to raise our opinion
either of Pace’s temper or discretion. He went so far as to
inform the Venetian envoy that on the 28th of June he had
received letters from the King and Wolsey desiring him to
encourage Bourbon to persevere in the campaign, with the
assurances that money should be provided, and that English

! IV. 689, Aug. 26. * QOct., 1624.
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troops had already been forwarded to Calais for the invasion
of France. It was arranged, he said, that the Emperor
should disburse 100,000 ducats, whilst England should con-
tribute a like sum year by year until the war was concluded.
The Emperor, continued Pace, never sent 100,000 ducats in
one sum, but by driblets at irregular intervals; yet Pace had
expended 100,000 ducats on the part of England. Of the
second disbursement, which should have been made by the
Emperor, not a penny had been received; and, therefore,
Pace had declined—it would have been more correct to have
stated that he had received the Cardinal's orders not to
advance—any further sums until the Emperor’s quota had
arrived. Surian further assured the Signory that Pace
attributed the mismanagement entirely to Wolsey, because if
he had sent the English troops, as he had promised, into
France, and not 100 soldiers merely, Francis would never
have dared to cross the Alps, nor have made his appearance
in Italy.!

So gross a betrayal of the secrets of his mission was far
from creditable. His animosity against the Cardinal can
only be justified on the plea of infirmity. What follows is far
worse. He told Surian, ‘ that, as far as he knew, no agree-
meut, tacit or otherwise, existed between the kings of France
and England, though he suspected that the Cardinal might
have some secret understanding with the former through
subornation, by reason of Wolsey's very base nature; and he
founded his suspicions on the fact that for the last two
months Don Joachim Passano (De Vaux), the Genoese, who
was accustomed to negociate for France, had been residing
constantly in England.”?

Clever and amusing as he was, Pace was vain and boastful,
and his head had been turned by sudden prosperity. Con-
fident of his own opinions and his supposed influence with the
King, he was unable to endure contradiction, and impatient
of control. The sagacious Italian found it useful to cultivate
the acquaintance of a man who had the opportunity of giving

! Venetian Calendar, IT1. 388.

* Ibid. Gattinara, the Imperial
chancellor, who hated Wolsey for
thwarting his master’s interests, took
a juster view of Wolsey’s character.
On the Venetian, Contarini, remark-
ing that the invasion of France by
England depended on the Cardinal’s
brain, “ which was counstituted some.

what aftoer a fashion of its own,” the
Chancellor rejoined, “I tell you that,
besides the peculiarity of his brain,
his intentions are evil. It scems to
me he would ruin the universe to con-
trive that the Emperor should not
appear to the world superior to his
master.”—Ven. Cal., III. 871.
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important information, and was so indiscreet in disclosing it.
Though he valued the intelligence communicated by Pace, he
had little esteem for his character. ‘‘Pace,” he tells the
Seignory in a subsequent letter, ¢ assures me that on arriving
in England, whither he is riding post, he will not cease urging
his king to make a demonstration by invading France, at the
latest, in spring, and taking the command in person. He
added whole sack-fulls of bravadoes.”! Whether he would
have been able to carry his boast into effect, if he had been
admitted into the King’s presence, as he fully anticipated, can
never be ascertained. Before he reached England, Wolsey
had found for him an important mission. Circumstances
had arisen which made his continuance in Italy indispensable.

It has been stated already that, in anticipation of a failure
on the part of the Emperor, from inability or reluctance, to
fulfil his engagements, Wolsey had opened indirect corre-
spondence with France, or rather with Louise of Savoy, the
Queen Mother. The person employed in these negociations
was the Genoese, Passano, who held no official appointment,
but was justly suspected of carrying secret intelligence between
the two courts. The fact of his living incognito in England
had reached the ears of De Praet, the Imperial ambassador—
was transmitted by him to the Emperor ; and it was doubtless
from Bourbon and Beaurain, the Imperial generals, to whom
it had been communicated, that Pace had derived his intelli-
gence.? This residence in England of John Joachim (for so
he was generally called) was regarded with suspicion by the
Imperial ambassador; but with all his sagacity and watch-
fulness—by no means agreeable to Wolsey—he could never
detect the Cardinal in any correspondence with the French
emissary. To all his remonstrances Wolsey replied that
there was no foundation for De Praet's suspicion. He
even commanded Sampson to inform the Emperor that though
an agent had been sent to him by Louise he had refused
to listen to his overtures; and when required to state on
what conditions the King would be willing to treat, he had
replied it would be no other than the surrender of the whole
realm of France.®? Astwo emissaries had arrived from France
at different intervals, the one a friar, the other De Vaux, this

! Ven. Cal,, III. 393. been sent into England by the French

? Thus Pace, in a letter to Wolsey, King’s mother, and bad held sooret
June 16, 1524, tells the Cardinal, communication with Wolsey. IV.

that Bourbon was in great perplexity, 422,
because he had heard that a friar had 3 June 4, IV. 894. Seo p. 877.
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statement may have been literally true. It was not unlike the
officiousness of friars in those ages to intrude into courts,
either at their own suggestion, or on a hint from those who
employed them as confessors, and assume the liberty of inter-
viewing great personages. It might have been the fact that
‘Wolsey had thus unceremoniously declined the French over-
tures. But it is also true that at the time of this denial
negociations had already advanced so far that the preliminaries
for a treaty with France had been agreed upon, and Francis
had consented to most of the terms demanded by Wolsey.!
To keep certain points open and undecided, to secure delay
until one party or the other saw its advantage, to break off
or conclude accordingly, was a feat of diplomacy thoroughly
understood in those days. The formidable confederacy
arrayed against him, the anticipation of Bourbon’s invasion,
reverses in Italy, discontent among his own subjects, a
season of great scarcity,—made Francis anxious to recover
the friendship of England; and Wolsey was equally anxious
to extract from this wish the most favourable conditions.? A
few months later the scale turned. Bourbon's expedition, as
Wolsey had anticipated, disappointed the expectations of his
friends. There was no rising in his favour. The Pope, the
Venetians, and even the Imperialists, were beginning to lose
confidence. The worst danger had passed away. More than
all, the Emperor’s health was causing serious alarm to his
subjects. ‘‘Os concerning the great enterprise and expedi-
tion,” writes Sampson to Wolsey from Valladolid, on the 30th
of October,? ‘I shall show your Grace my poor opinion clearly.
First, the Emperor is now in a quartana, I assure your Grace,
very feeble, and nothing apt for the war. His remedy is in
God’s hand. Secondo, he is in extreme poverty : notwith-
standing, to his inestimable hinder and loss, he may find
money to pass the charges of it, os I think. Tercio, though
his Majesty be of the best mind to observe his appointment,
o8 without fail I think he is, yet the preparations and other
ordering of the whole matter must chiefly pass by the

! Bee IV. 271-274. Wolsey, and will keep on practising

* On the 20th of October, Charles  with him till he sees his opportunity.
wrote to De Praet, his ambassador in  Francis would never have gone to
England, to require of Wolsey to dis. Provence with his whole army, un-
mizs John Joachim. There are, he less he had been assured that no
®ys, a thousand suspicions, in con- invasion was intended from England.
sequence of his stay, among friends IV. 752.

wd enemies.  He is told that Francis 3 1V. 780.

erpects to get what he wants from
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Spaniardis hands here in Spain, or else they will not fail to
use means the more to hinder the affairs; and the succor of
Spain, by their own proverb, be very late and tardy, os by
good experience I have seen here, and your Grace assuredly
knoweth. Quarto, all the realm of Spain is very desirous of
peace, and os weary of war, especially since they have known
the return of the duke of Bourbon into Italia, and the loss of
that expedition. Wherefore I fear only (every) appointment
for the great expedition, onless (lest) that outher it shall
clearly fail on this side, or be deferred and set forth so late that
all the whole danger of the year shall rest upon the Kingis
army. Moreover, it is my poor opinion that if the King's
highness intend to set onything forth to his own advancement
or profit, that he should only trust to his own arm and
strength ; and if by appointment ony other help or aid shall
well chance, take it for the more advantage; for in effect it is
every man for himself.” Nothing could be more clear, nothing
more sensible. The thunder-clouds which hung over Francis
had cleared away of themselves. He was master of the
situation without an effort. Had he been contented to wait a
fow weeks, he might have dictated his own terms. Intoxicated
with his good fortune, he resolved, in an evil hour, to cross
the Alps and conduct the war in person ;—with what fatal
results must be told hereafter.

Compelled to raise the siege of Marseilles on the 27th of
September, Bourbon had retreated in precipitation to Nice.!
The news at once determined Francis to break off all further
arrangements for a truce, and take this opportunity of wreak-
ing vengeance on his enemies. His advance was regarded
with alarm. Elated with anticipated success, his demands
rose high; his anger was expressed in no measured terms.
Guicciardini reports that when Francis, then starting from
Avignon, heard of the retreat of Bourbon, he called his
officers together, and said to them :—‘‘I have concluded and
am resolved to pass in person into Italy; and whoever shall
advise me to the contrary, shall not only not be heard, but
incur my displeasure. Let every one, therefore, look well to

presents the raising of this siege as

1 Sco IV. 720, 724, 751. ©“If
the result of deliberation, suggested

they (Bourbon) had made as good
speed outwards,” observes Clerk sar-
castically to Wolsey, “as they have
made homewards, they might have
been at Calais long afore this time.”
1V. 724 Hall, in his Chronicle, re-

by the desire of fortifying the Milanese
on the approach of the King of France,
p- 686. Another version of the affair
will be found in the letter of Knight
and Jerningham to Wolsey. IV. 751.
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the discharge of his duty; for God, who is a lover of justice,
and the insolence and rashness of my enemies, have opened a
way for me to recover that which has been unjustly taken from
me.” 8o determined was he in turning a deaf ear to all
advice, that he avoided a meeting with his mother Louise, lest
she should persuade him to remain in France, and commit
the war in Italy to his captains. Three prizes were before
him—Milan, Pavia, and Naples—all of which he was equally
desirous of wresting from the hands of his enemies. Of these
Pavia was the best provided for defence in men, munitions,
and provisions. Milan, the capital of the duchy, had been
visited by a plague all the summer. Its population had been
diminished by war and famine, its fortifications had fallen
into ruins from neglect. It was an easy prey, but worse than
useless, for it could not be defended. The Imperial general,
Morone, had abandoned it in despair. Naples, the seat of the
Viceroy, disgusted with Imperial rule, was inclined to the
French. Even if it had been as strongly defended as Pavia,
the climate was more genial—it was now close on the end of
October—and in the event of ill success, retreat was com-
paratively easy, for Francis had a fleet at Marseilles under
Renzo de Ceri; whereas in the north of Italy the rivers and’
swamps, swollen by rain, rendered all military operations pro-
portionately difficult; and a retreat in the winter over the
passes of the mountains covered with snow would expose the
French to inevitable destruction. In the face of these diffi-
culties, Francis, listening to Italian advice, chose precisely
that course which was the least eligible. He appeared before
Milan only to abandon it, to divide his troops, to give his °
enemies time to consolidate their forces, and enable them to
put Pavia in a better posture of defence.

Pavia was at that time commanded by Don Antonio de
Leyva, the most active, intrepid, and able of all the Spanish
generals, not o say cruel and unscrupulous—a common fault
in those days. He had been a man of war from his youth,
and to great physical daring added the courage of long
experience. He took the odds of war with the confidence and
audacity of a reckless but skilful gamester ; and was as certain
to win as other men would have been sure to lose at the same
stakes. Yet, with all this energy, he was so crippled with the
gout that he could not mount his horse, and had to be carried
in a chair to battle. His spirit and determination at once
inspired the discomfited Imperialists with fresh confidence, and

VOL. 1. ¢
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found a rallying point for their scattered and dispirited army ;
whilst Francis, distracted by a variety of projects, weakened
his forces, and fell a victim to divided counsels. His only
chances of success depended on his ability to take Pavia by a
sudden assault before the Imperialists could recover from their
late discomfiture, and once more make head against him in
the field. He reached Turin on the 17th of October. Uncer-
tain of his movements, the Imperialists posted an advanced
guard of 2,000 foot and six guns at Alessandria, evacuating
Milan as untenable; whilst Bourbon and Pescara, with the
main body, fell back in the direction of Pavia. Leaving the
right road Francis advanced by the left to Milan; thus allow-
ing his enemies to withdraw in safety, and concentrate their
forces on the most defensible spot. His advanced guard
entered at one gate as the last of the Spaniards left by
another.! There was yet time for retrieving his mistake by
marching rapidly to Lodi, and falling on the rear of the
Imperial troops, who were retiring in the greatest disorder.
But evil counsels again prevailed, or rather, that self-con-
fidence and contempt of difficulties which more than once have
proved disastrous to the arms of France.? He was persuaded
that his army would be set free by the capture of Pavia, and
he might then conquer the whole of the Peninsula at his
leisure. Arriving before Pavia on the 28th of October, he
summoned the garrison to surrender. ¢ Since writing last,”
says Pace in a letter to Henry VIII., “ Francis has sent a
herald demanding Pavia to surrender. The captains, Antonio
de Leyva and the count of Sorne, an Almain, took him into the
market-place, and showed him their forces, 4,000 or 5,000
foot, 100 men-at-arms, and 200 light horse, bidding him tell
the King they were all determined to die rather than lose the
city. Francis intends to besiege them, and is only four or
five miles distant. If he take it he will probably gain all the
Milanese ; but it is well fortified and victualled, and cannot be
captured without great loss. If he fail, he will lose as much
reputation as he gained by his hasty passage over the moun-
tains. There is great rain daily.”

! When he took Milan, says Pace,
the (Italian) exiles had led him to
hope that he should obtain money;
but he has not had a penny, by reason
of the death and absence of the
people, and he is consequently in
great perplexity. Nov. 9.

* Du Bellay affirms in his Memoirs,

on good suthority, that the army
under Bourbon, in returning from
Provence, was in such a state of dis-
organization, occasioned by their long
and fatiguing marches, that they
threw their arms into the ditches, and
were too idle to carry them.
3 Nov. 2.
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As the garrison showed no inclination to surrender,
Francis determined to batter the town. I turn again, for a
short account of the assault, to another letter sent by Pace to
Henry VIII.! “A gentleman who was present at the two
assaults of Pavia sent the following account to the marquis of
Mantua. On the 8th (Nov.) Francis determined to give a
somewhat feeble assault, to try the courage of the garrison;
who defended themselves in a similar way, using no artillery
but hand-guns.? The same night he determined on a violent
assault for the following day, in four places, thinking the
defence would be equally weak. To make the garrison
negligent, he did not commence the assault till 10 o’clock,
when he attacked as fiercely as possible, setting forward and
reinforcing his men. The garrison defended themselves with
equal courage, never shooting their artillery till the extreme
force of the French was upon them.”

“In half an hour they slew 2,000 of the French. La
Palice fell mortally wounded. Longueville was slain,® not at
the assault, but two days before, at the foot of the bridge
leading into the city. The assault continued till 4 o’clock.”*
The great loss of the French was occasioned by the impatience
of Francis to storm the town before the breach was practicable.
The assailants were met at every step by a deadly fire poured
on them from the houses, pierced for harquebuses, and their
advance was obstructed by deep trenches flanked with
musketry. In such a mélée the courage of the French gentle-
men was of little use, and served only to expose them more
effectually to the fire of the garrison. Francis lost in this
and in a similar effort 8,000 foot and 400 gentlemen, the
flower of his troops. Of the captains taken on this occasion
were ‘ Jerome Tryulei and John Ferme—great men,” says
Pace, ““ and the chief authors of this business in Italy.” After
two days wasted in this ineffectual attempt, the King desisted,
resolving, on the advice of a French gentleman, to turn the
course of the Ticino and attack the town in a less defensible
quarter. An undertaking so difficult and laborious under the
most favourable circumstances, was little less than insanity
in the middle of November, when the river and its tributaries
were swollen with heavy rains; still more in the face of an

! Nov. 19. they had but a small store.
2 Not from any scrupulous return ? See 1V. 789.
of courtesy, but a more sufficient 4 Pace, Nov. 19,
motive—the want of powder, of which
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enemy jubilant with unexpected success, and now straining
every nerve to rally their scattered forces and take the
offensive. The Imperialists, straitened for money and pro-
visions, were encouraged to persevere in the conviction that
the siege could not continue much longer, and even if Francis
succeeded in obtaining possession of Pavia he would himself
be besieged in turn, cut off from all resources, and his troops
diminished. The Imperial army, says Pace,! will be assisted
with meat and drink by the towns and villages in the duchy,
which had before been indifferent, if not hostile; and they
have taken courage since the defeat of the French. Dangers
threatened on all sides. Bourbon, Pescara, one of the ablest
captains of the age, Lannoy, the Viceroy of Naples, and all
the smaller states of Italy that feared the vengeance of the
Emperor, were now concentrating their forces on the scene of
action., ‘‘If the King raises the siege,” remarks Pace, ‘‘ he
can only retreat to Novara and Vigevano, across the Ticino,
losing his reputation and the city of Milan. If he keeps the
parts of the duchy across the Ticino during the winter, by
way of truce or by force, it will be very costly. He cannot
retreat from the duchy of Milan without sustaining still
severer losses ; and I know not what hope he can have, except
that the Imperials may lack money.” Even before this the
Abbot of Najara, writing to Charles,? had expressed his con-
fident conviction of the folly and madness of the enterprise.
““The king of France,” he writes, ‘“ has made a very hasty
invasion of Italy, and it will not be easy for him to return,
without risking his life and all that he has. He finds the
conquest of the duchy of Milan so difficult that there is no
doubt he is persuaded that ruin is more probable than
success.” In that opinion the Abbot was wrong, as will
appear presently.

Finding all other methods ineffectual, Francis resolved to
fortify his camp, and starve the garrison into surrender. He
was confirmed in this resolution by the intelligence that the
troops were discontented and mutinous for want of pay; and
though De Leyva and Pescara had made great efforts to
supply it, they had only succeeded in staving off for a short
period the resolution of the soldiers to desert. Charles, with
all his extensive dominions, was as hopelessly insolvent as
Maximilian. The wages of the troops were many months in
arrears. Again and again the Imperial viceroys and the

! Pace, Nov. 19. * Nov. 4 (14?), Ven. Cal.
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Imperial generals urge upon the Emperor that nothing can
save them but a large sum of money. Either money must be
provided, or a truce must be made before it is too late ; if not,
the French, in spite of all their disadvantages, must prevail.
‘“ England and Italy will not contribute,” writes Lannoy.
‘“ Your Majesty has done enough to save your honor. Time
is a more dangerous enemy to us than the French.”?!

It was probably the knowledge of this distress that induced
Francis to continue the siege throughout the horrors of a
Northern Italian winter, augmented by sickness and want of
food. ‘‘The King,” says a correspondent of the time, ‘is in
great want of provisions. An egg costs 12 deniers, and a
chicken 15 shillings. The gentlemen pensioners of the King’s
household and the captains send to their own homes for
money. All the great lords are obliged to go and warm
themselves in the King’s kitchen. The infantry lie in the
trenches, and dare not leave them, lest they should die of
hunger and cold. It is reported that Francis will return, and
leave his army in charge of the sieur de Montmorency. Villeroy
and other noblemen have returned nearly dead with cold.” 2

The Pope, naturally anxious and dreading the result,
fearing both powers alike, and desirous of neutralizing both,
bestirred himself in the task of mediation. Lannoy, then at
Lodi, was willing to accept the terms. He had little expecta-
tion of keeping the troops together. Naples was threatened
by Albany, whom Francis had despatched in that direction ;
the Pope and the Venetians were siding with the French King,
whilst Henry and his minister, Wolsey, showed no signs of
assisting the Imperialists; in fact, through the intrigues of
Joachim, they were generally suspected of having made a
treaty with France already.® Notwithstanding the dangers
of his position and the pressing wants of his troops, the King,
at the instigation of the admiral, Bonnivet, and of Saint
Marsault, his favourite, turned a deaf ear to all proposals.
The siege went on.

By this time Bourbon had returned with reinforcements,
and rejoined the Viceroy at Lodi. On the 25th of January the
combined forces started for Marignano. From Marignano they
took the road to Villanterio, intending to assault S. Angiolo
on the way. *They commenced to shoot on Sunday at
dawn, and took the town at 20 o’clock.”* On the 8rd the

! Dec. 21, 15624, Spanish Calendar. 3 Bee Clerk’s letter, Jan. 31.
* IV. 1053. ¢ Bee Lannoy’s letter of Feb. 1.



22 THE REIGN OF HENRY VIIL [A.D.

camp was visited by Sir Gregory Casale, who had been sent
from England by the Cardinal to the Venetians, for the
purpose of urging them to assist the Emperor.! He found
the Imperialists advanced within two miles of Pavia. The
French army had been drawn up in camp all day expecting
battle. To-morrow, writes Casale, the King of France will be
compelled to fight or raise the siege on the side by the Ticino.
If this be done, the army inside will be able to join the forces
of the Viceroy, and cut off the enemy’s supplies. * Two gates
of the park are now attacked, and 8,000 men are engaged on
both sides. I never saw better forces, or more eager to fight.
If I had 100,000 ducats I would spend them in the King’s
(Henry’s) service. If the Cardinal could see these things
with his own eyes, he would be of the same mind; for if the
French King succeeds in putting off the battle, as he is trying
to do,® the Imperialists will be in great danger for want of
money. I expect, if they fight, the French king will be either
killed or taken prisoner.”® He adds, in a postscript, that in
event of a battle the Imperialists will certainly win; but since
the French have refused battle yesterday and to-day (5th and
6th Feb.), they will probably prefer disgrace to defeat, and
will be allowed to retire in safety. *‘If so, the Imperialists
will not be able to force them to fight again for a long time.
If they can intercept the victuals, the French must fight.
The army cannot continue together for 80 or 40 days longer,*
unless 200,000 ducats be forwarded as promised by the
Emperor. The troops are anxious to engage. The enemy’s
positions are being attacked by the smaller artillery and the
light horse; and they are challenged to come out to a pitched
battle, which they could easily do, if they chose, for the
ground between the two armies is flat and open.” ¢ The
war,” he tells Wolsey, ‘‘is carried on most cruelly. No
prisoners are saved, and no quarter is given.”

‘ This morning,” meaning Feb. 6th, the Viceroy, the
duke of Bourbon, and the marquis of Pescara came to me
asking me to go to the Pope, for they had heard that he had
sent commissioners to provide victuals for Albany’s passage
into Naples. I could not refuse them, but asked to be allowed
to stay until to-day, for last night it was determined to pitch
the camp so as to force the French to fight. The King is in

! See Pace’s letter of Feb. 1. ? Letter Feb. 4, p. 464, condensed.
* As he had been most earnestly ¢ More correctly 20 days.
urged to do by the Pope. IV. p. 469.
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a park at Mirabello, with the Ticino behind him, and 2,000
foot to guard the bridge. La Palice with the Swiss is between
the park and the Ticino, and before them is a valley with a
small stream, which we have determined to cross with the
artillery, drive the French from the higher ground, and march
straight to Pavia. If the Swiss in the French service attempt
to cross the water, we shall attack them. We rely upon the
Marquis’s advice, who strongly urges a battle. The park is
surrounded by a wall, double the height of an English park
wall, which has been pulled down by the King, so as to be
able to assist La Palice. To-day we pitched our camp as was
determined. Two such armies have never been seen so near
each other. We are only half a mile from Pavia, with the
enemies between us and the city, from which the French are
protected by earthworks. We intend to attack the enemy’s
works to-night, and gain the higher ground, which would
place them in our power. If we are not successful, we shall
bring up the guns and fight them step by step. If that does
not succeed, we will force our way by trenches. The enemy
is ready day and night, and the King is continually on
horseback.” !

Before matters had arrived at this pass, the French King
had been urged by his most experienced officers to withdraw
from the dangers which every day grew thicker around him,
and made all probability of success more desperate. They
urged that by retiring to some strong place in the neighbour-
hood he would obtain victory without bloodshed; for, as the
Imperialists could not hold out many days for want of pay,
their armies would speedily be dissolved. They represented
the danger of his present position—between an army in front,
numerous, hopeful, and resolved, and a garrison no less active
and resolute in his rear. It was no token of cowardice, they
argued, in a general to avoid exposing his troops to obvious
dangers, and defeat the purposes of his enemy by patience
and skill. The same arguments had been urged by the Pope,
who was perfectly well acquainted with the difficulties and
intentions of the Imperialists. But the counsel of his evil
genius, Bonnivet, the admiral, prevailed. The advice of more
experienced officers was disregarded. The King resolved to
continue the siege, trusting to some accident to relieve him
from his fatal position, and hoping that his enemy, who had
already shown an inclination to temporize, might be compelled

1 IV. p. 466.
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to retire from want of provisions, or the inclemency of the
season. Whether, indeed, if he had followed the advice of
his wiser and more experienced officers, he would in reality
have escaped the dangers that menaced him, or have been
besieged in turn, and eut off from all assistance and hope of
retreat, it is vain to speculate. He had learned, too late, that
if the possession of Pavia brought with it the subjugation of
Lombardy, the loss of Pavia was the loss of all his hopes in
Italy.

The Imperialists on their side were equally aware that
their chance of success depended on giving battle immediately.
They were as anxious for action as the French to decline it.
The garrison was straitened by want of provisions. Their
ammunition was exhausted. The soldiers outside were ready
to mutiny for want of pay. The result would be the same
whether they fought and were beaten, or retired without fight-
ing. In both cases destruction was imminent. Already they
had approached so near the French encampments, which were
strongly defended, that the challenge of the sentinels at the
opposite outposts could be distinctly overheard. The French
were kept in a perpetual state of alarm by feints and sallies
in front and rear. On the 17th of February, the Abbot of
Najara, the Imperial commissary, wrote to Charles to tell him
that the two armies were within musket range of each other.
The ground, he says, has to be conquered inch by inch, until
we can reach each other with our pikes. The French are
strongly fortified with deep ditches. It is impossible to attack
them at once; but they will be forced to give battle within
their fortifications, when they least expect it. The King of
France is very obstinate, and refuses to come out. He confides
in the strength of his position, in his artillery, in his 6,000
Swiss and 2,000 Germans. Skirmishes take place daily. The
French are panic-stricken, and take to flight even when they
meet a smaller number of assailants. The first thing to be
done is to plant the camp in such a position that four or
five thousand men can easily attack the enemy’s quarters.
Measures will be concerted for the garrison of Pavia to sally
forth at the same moment.

The plan thus rudely sketched was adopted. About mid-
night on the 28rd of February the Imperialists began to move.
They advanced in three divisions. The first, consisting of
8,000 Germans and Spaniards, dressed in white shirts, was

! Bee Bergenroth’s Span. Cal. under that date.
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sent forward before daybreak to breach the wall of the park,
and march straight to the Mirabel, in which Francis was
lodged with his men-at-arms. The second division was ap-
pointed to engage the main body of the Swiss, who were
posted a little below on the left, near a thick wood;! thus
isolating them from the rest, and preventing any combined
movement on the part of the French, until the arrival of the
third and the main division. The Germans were at first
warmly received by the French artillery. The result might
have proved disastrous to the assailants—for the French
fought with great resolution, notwithstanding the difficulties
of their position—had not the garrisons sallied out from
Pavia, taking them in the rear. The retreat became a rout ;
the Swiss, on whom Francis relied, did nothing worthy of
their reputation, and only increased the confusion. The
slaughter was terrible, especially among the French gentle-
men and nobles, cooped up in a narrow space, and unable to
exert themselves—to fight or to flee. Of the Swiss 4,000 were
taken prisoners and released. The King might have escaped,
but fought valiantly, killing with his own hand one of the
standard-bearers. Borne down by the press, and his horse
wounded under him, he fell to the ground, and was made
prisoner by five soldiers, to whom his person was unknown.
“There i8 a discussion,” says a contemporary correspondent,
writing from the field, ‘“as to his captor. There are some
who claim him as theirs, showing his sword and his gauntlet.
He was pulled off his horse by the helmet; but the Viceroy,
hastening to his relief, lifted him up respectfully, and freed .
him from the crowd of soldiers.” 2 It was generally reported
that he was wounded in the face. The writer just quoted
states that he received two wounds—in the hands and in the
face. The Abbot of Najara, in his account of the victory,
written on the same day, to Charles V., follows the common
report, but the next day contradicts it, and asserts that the
blood on the King’s face was occasioned by a slight scratch of
his fingers. So ended the battle of Pavia. So perished the
expectation of France, and the flower of French chivalry.
“To-day,” writes the Abbot of Najara to the Emperor,
“ig the Feast of the Apostle St. Mathias, on which, five and
twenty years ago, your Majesty is said to have been born.
Five and twenty thousand times thanks and praise to God for
His mercy! Your Majesty is from this day in a position to
! 8ee IV. 1123 and 1124 *IV. 1124,
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prescribe laws to Christians and Turks according to your
pleasure.”! Never had Fortune, in whose smiles Charles at
that time implicitly believed, placed the empire of the world
80 nearly within the grasp of so young a man. Never since
the days of Charlemagne had the world witnessed so nearly a
realization of its fitful dream of a real empire of the West.
Nothing remained to oppose the Emperor’s wishes. He might
dictate laws at his pleasure to Turks and Christians alike, a8
the Abbot of Najara told him, without caring much to dis-
criminate who were Turks and who were Christians. France
and Italy were equally at his mercy. With the exception of
England, all the West acknowledged his obedience. And it
was to England only that men now turned to see what England
would do in this terrible emergency.? There was not a
potentate in Italy who had not been flagrantly guilty of dis-
affection to the Emperor, had not secretly or openly abetted
his enemies. The Pope, the Venetians, the Duke of Ferrara,
and others, had good reason to dread his resentment.
Moderate as had been his language, when success hung in
the balance, and victory was uncertain; mild as were his
reproofs in public, when he was informed of the defection of
his former allies, Charles had not hesitated to express his
real feelings in private. Some time before the battle of
Pavia, in talking with some gentlemen of his court, he had
so far forgotten his usual reserve as to say, ‘I shall go into
Italy, and there have a fairer opportunity of obtaining my
own, and taking my revenge on those who have wronged me,
especially on that poltroon the Pope. Some day or other
perhaps Martin Luther may become a man of worth.”2 In
a letter to the Duke of Sessa, his ambassador at Rome, he
assured the Duke, ‘“he would maintain his army in spite of
the Pope’s reconciliation with the French king, and carry out
his designs, even if it should cost him his crown and his life.
Though forsaken by all his allies his power was not diminished;
and they who have offended him should find him as hard and
as resolute as ever.” 4

The Emperor heard the news of his great victory, young
as he was, without openly betraying the least emotion. The
intelligence reached him on the 10th of March. The court
was thronged with an eager and exulting crowd. In reply to

! Feb. 26, Bergenroth’s Span. Cal. * Contarini, Feb. 6, Ven. Cal,
* Giberti to the Nuncios in Eng-  p. 401.
land, March 1, Nos. 1189 and 1159. ¢ Feb. 9, Bergenroth’s Span. Cal.
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the congratulations of Sampson, the English ambassador, he
said, he rejoiced in his success, for three reasons: First, that
God had given him the victory, who was a sinner; and in
God’s strength he intended to employ it. Secondly, because
it would enable him to establish universal peace in Christen-
dom, reform the Christian Faith, and apply his travails to
the service of God. Thirdly, because this vietory would be
more profitable to his friends (alluding to the King of England)
than to himself. These words, remarks Sampson,! were set
off with great ““ moderation of gesture, countenance and, as it
seemed, also of inward intent and mind . . . I assure your
Grace there was no more semblance in him of arrogantie or
change of manners to joy effusely, other in word or counte-
nance, than if no such great thing had chaunced.” So much
was the simple-minded Englishman struck with the Emperor’s
demeanour and pious behaviour on this occasion, that he
could not help adding, ‘I think this will induce God to give
him another victory. Ihave learned more by this moderation
than by all the books I ever have or shall read. Immediately
after hearing the news, I am told he entered his chamber, and
kneeled down for a good space, giving thanks unto God ; and
whereos he was advised by some to make great triumph for
this victory, he expressly refused, since it was against Christian
men. Next day he went in procession to the chapel of Our
Lady, in a cape of black frieze, and said on his departure,
‘ Now shall we go to have a solemn mass, giving thanks unto
God ; and I would we should make it much more solemn with
good inward devotion, than with any manner of outward
pomp.” When the Emperor was advised to wear some rich
and fresh raiment, to show his joy, he refused. He assured
me the King should always find him of the same faithful
mind never to fail, os at all times he hath else promised and
s&id.”

The same account is substantially given by the Venetian
ambassador, Contarini. On hearing the news he repaired
immediately to the palace. He found the Emperor pacing a
long gallery with a few of his courtiers. After seven or eight
turns from one end to the other, speaking all the time to those
who were about him, he beckoned the ambassador to approach.
Contarini endeavoured to kiss his hand, but the Emperor
rejected his advances. In the full flush even of his triumph
he could not forget his resentment against the Venetians.

! March 15. See IV. 1189, (Abridged.)
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After Contarini had offered his congratulations, and expressed
a hope that the time might not be long before he was crowned
at Constantinople—certainly not an idle compliment to the
Emperor’s ears—Charles told him that he acknowledged the
victory as due to God alone, who, knowing the Emperor’s
good intentions, had rewarded him beyond his deserts; but
he added significantly, that he wished the Venetians had
assisted his army, as in duty they were bound to do. When
Contarini endeavoured to excuse his republic, he added, “I
believe your intentions to be good; and, if not, I choose to
consider them so. But look you, Sefior Ambassador ! although
many years have passed away since any sovereign had such
means and opportunity as I have of accomplishing his own
ends, I thank God for this good fortune, that not only my
friends, but my enemies, may know that I never had any
other wish except to procure peace for Christendom, and tarn
my forces against the Infidels.” !

From the Mantuan ambassador we gather a few more
particulars. When the courier Spinalosa (rather Pefialosa)
arrived, at noon, on the 10th, he was ushered immediately
into the Emperor’s presence, and said to him in the fewest
possible words, My liege, a battle has been fought under the
walls of Pavia; the king of France is a prisoner in your
Majesty’s power, and his whole army has been destroyed!”
The Emperor was thunderstruck. He could only exclaim,
* The king of France in my power, and the battle gained by
us!” And without another word, or waiting for any further
particulars, retiring into a chamber by himself, he knelt down
before a picture of the Virgin, which hung at the head of his
bed, and remaining on his knees for a short time, gave thanks
unto God and to Christ’s mother for such a mercy vouchsafed
to him. Then entering the presence chamber he desired to
hear all the details. The couricr, who brought no letters,
produced his safe-conduct in the handwriting of the captive
King in confirmation of the truth of his statement. “‘ So the
Emperor, being assured of the truth, ordered the publication of
the news, but forbad any public rejoicings, except a procession
and prayers for the dead, as the victory had been gained
against Christians. He said that he hoped by the favor of
God to obtain another greater mercy against the Infidels, and
then public rejoicing should be made.”

‘¢ All the ambassadors, who flocked to the palace on hearing

} March 12, Ven. Cal,, p. 418.
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the news, offered their congratulations separately; and it was
wonderful to remark that neither by the Emperor’s counte-
nance nor gesture could any difference be perceived from his
usual demeanor,—a thing unrecorded of any other prince, or
"of a few only, however prudent they may have been. His
Majesty’s self-control is the greater by reason of his youth,
and is entirely attributed to his greatness of mind, which is
neither elated by prosperity nor depressed by adversity.
Although his replies were of the same tenor to all, certain
expressions to the English ambassador were remarkable.”
They have been already given from Sampson’s despatches,
and need not to be repeated here. ‘ His Majesty,” the
Mantuan ambassador continues, ‘ remained until nightfall,
giving his hand to all who wished to kiss it. Next morning,
after confession, he went in procession to mass at a church
dedicated to the Virgin, a mile from Madrid. He was clad in
a cape and doublet of black cloth of frieze, a8 worn by him
constantly since his attack of quartan ague, from which he
has never entirely recovered.” !

The political schemes of Wolsey, contrived with so much
dexterity and secresy, had been suddenly overthrown like a
house of cards. He had written to the King on the 12th of
February, ¢ Should the Imperialists get the worst, which is
not probable, thanked be God! your affairs are by your high
wisdom in more assured and substantial train, by such com-
munications as be set forth with France apart, than others in
outward places would suppose.”® It had been his object to
balance the antagonism of Francis and Charles so carefully,
and adjust his assistance so exactly, that whilst neither should
obtain the preponderance, both should feel themselves obliged
to the friendship of his master, and be willing to reimburse
his expenses. This attention to the pecuniary interests of
his Sovereign was not due to Wolsey exclusively. With his
tendency to extravagance, and his love of splendour, Henry
VIII. had inherited the parsimoniousness of Henry VII. The
money required for war or diplomacy was advanced from his
privy purse—for there was no public exchequer at that time
—and the King expected his minister to return the sums he
had borrowed, or provide an equivalent. The alliance made
with Charles V. three years before, if not influenced exclusively
by similar considerations, was certainly facilitated by the
readiness of the Emperor to take upon himself certain pecuniary

! Ven. Cal., No. 959. 3 IV. 1078. Specially p. 615.
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obligations ; and when the Cardinal discovered that he had no
intention whatever of fulfilling his engagements, or even of
repaying the sums advanced him by Henry, his hope of
recovering them by a closer union with France was not the
least motive which induced the Cardinal to lend an ear to the
negociations of Joachim.! But though he showed himself
favourable to the proposals of Francis, he had not failed,
some time before the battle of Pavia, to secure a retreat, in
the event of the defeat of the French King, by sending Gregory
Casale to the Imperial camp, and assuring Bourbon of Henry’s
desire for the success of the Emperor. He had even given
instructions to Pace to persuade the Venetians to unite their
troops with the Imperialists.? He had reason to be satisfied
with the success of his measures; for whilst he was obliging
the Imperialists he was increasing the difficulties of Franecis,
and augmenting the value of an English alliance. The situa-
tion was critical. Uncertain of the result, in no great ex-
pectation of the success of the French at Pavia, he was
evidently no more prepared than was the rest of the world for
8o terrible a blow, which seemed for a time to have blotted
France from the map of Europe, and transferred the monarchy,
not only of Italy, but of the West, at a stroke, to the hands of
the Emperor.

How the Emperor received the intelligence of his good
fortune, with what moderation and piety (unlike his vain-
glorious rival) he disavowed all merit, and rejoiced that God
had given him the victory, has been told already. He was
the object of Divine favour, because the Searcher of all hearts
knew that he intended to use his victory for the benefit of
others, and restore peace to bleeding Christendom. It might
have seemed more in accordance with these declarations of
universal benevolence and good will, if, in the midst of his
successes, he could have forgotten the disaffection of the
Venetians, and, in token of his forgiveness, allowed Contarini
to kiss his hand. He was still in alliance with England, and
was bound by the terms of the treaty to divide his successes
with his ally. But of this he had no intention. He had
carried on the war exclusively for his own benefit, without the
least regard to the interests of his ally; and now when victory
came that ally was as little in his thoughts as ever. Still,
all men vied in praising his moderation; and Sampson, the
English representative, was so deeply impressed with what he

¥ See specially IV. 1093 and 1160. ? IV.1107.
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had seen and heard of ‘‘the good Emperor,” ! that he could
not suspect so virtuous a prince of harbouring any but the
most pious intentions.?

Not so Wolsey. He was not weak enough to be deceived
by the Emperor’s professions of moderation. The capture of
Francis had alarmed not only those Italian states who had
good reason to fear the Emperor’s resentment, but all who
had any cause for dreading his power. ¢ Many here” (at
Rome), writes Clerk to Wolsey,? ‘“ are right glad of the over-
throw of the French, but sorry to be left a prey to the
Spaniards, who for their cruelty are most hated of all nations.”
Subsequently 'he writes,* ‘“ The Venetians are in great fear,
now that they are at the discretion of the Imperialists, whom
they have not treated well. They are arming themselves, and
pressing the Pope to do the same . . . The effect is that the
Pope, Venice, Florence, the duke of Ferrara, Sienna, Lucea,
Mantua, and other meaner powers, will make a league for the
defence of Italy, which they think the duke of Milan would
gladly enter, as they suppose he will be for some years in no
less captivity than the French king.” If such a league as
this were consolidated by an alliance with England, it would
offer a formidable obstacle to the ambition of Charles, and
neutralize in a measure the advantages of his late victory.
But then the King would at once make the Emperor his
enemy ; the sums owed by him to England would be irre-
trievably lost, and all hope of sharing the Emperor’s victory
would have to be abandoned. In addition to this it would be
necessary to undertake a second war at no inconsiderable cost,
the fruits of which would fall to the Italians. Might it not be
possible, then, to take advantage of the present disposition of
the Emperor? Might he not be called upon to fulfil his
engagements, and urged to perform his promise of invading
France, and investing Henry with his hereditary provinces in
that kingdom ? An offer of men and money for continuing
the war involved no risk. If the Emperor complied, the
results would more than counterbalance the cost, as France
was in no condition to resist ; if he refused, neither men nor
money would be required. And here my readers will be
enabled to see what was the real meaning of the Emperor’s

' TV. 1190. than other Englishmen, all of whom,
® This is the more remarkable, with the exception of Wolsey, took
when compared with SBampson’s own the Emperor at his own valuation.

letter, quoted at pp- 16,16 ; but in this 3 Feb. 28.
respect he was not more credulous ¢ March 19.
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moderation, and what the true interpretation of his repeated
assertion that he valued his victory for the peace it would
enable him to establish in Christendom. He would pursue
victory no further; for the best of all reasons. What more
could he gain by war? Diplomacy was less costly, and more
sure. The spoils which good fortune had thrown into his lap
he intended to keep exclusively to himself. For the rest, he
might remunerate himself for his losses by wresting Burgundy
from his unfortunate prisoner ; whilst Henry might prosecute
his barren claims upon France as best he could, without
expecting aid from his ally. Further continuance of the war
involved the fulfilment of his engagements, and a just distri-
bution between England and himself of the advantages he had
gained already. This did not suit the Emperor's plans. He
meant to make a merit of his moderation with Francis by
extorting from his necessities the richest province of France,
and declining to assist Henry in obtaining any other. 8o, at
a very early period, he gave Sampson to understand that the
King of England must not hope to receive reinforcements from
the Imperial dominions, still less 100,000 or 50,000 ducats for
their support. ‘They think,* here,” says Sampson, ‘*that
the King should make the rest of any conquest at his own
charge.”! As neither alternative promised much, Wolsey
determined to turn both of them to the best advantage.

But at this time, whilst the Cardinal was still smarting from
the failure of his schemes, and the immovable selfishness of
the Emperor, an event occurred by no means calculated to
improve the good understanding between them. It has been
stated already that various complaints had been made by the
Imperial ambassador, De Praet, of the residence of Joachim,
the French agent, in England. The Cardinal had insisted
more than once that nothing had passed between himself and
Joachim, in contravention of the good understanding existing
between the two Crowns. Joachim ‘‘ was kept close in the
house of Doctor Larke, a prebendary of 8t. Stephen’s,” who
lived at Blackfriars, ‘‘ and every day privily spake with the
Cardinal.” * His protracted residence in England, and the
rumours of his intercourse with Wolsey, were by no means
agreeable to the Imperial minister. He determined to watch
the movements of Larke, Joachim, and Wolsey more narrowly.
But whilst he was thus engaged, a messenger carrying &

! Sampson, April 1. Bee IV. p. * Bee a letter of Joachim to Larke

543 1V. p. 639. Hall, 691.
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packet of letters on the mnight of the 11th of February was
surprised by the watch on his way to Brentford. As his letters
were superscribed in French, the constables took the packet to
‘“a man of law’s clerk.” It fell eventually into the hands of
Bir Thomas More, in the adjoining watch, and he presented it
to Wolsey on the following morning as he was sitting ‘“ in the
Chancery at Westminster.”! ¢ Which, when I had read,”
writes Wolsey to the Emperor, ‘ knowing how far the effect of
them was discrepant from the truth, anon I conceived the
former advertisements, made unto me touching the said am-
bassador’s (De Praet’s) accustomed usage in making sinister
reports, to be true. And perceiving by the said letters, that
albeit the usage is not here, that strangers should pass through
the realm without a passport, yet that one of the Fulkers was
despatched by the said ambassador the day before, with letters
towards Spain, wherein it was like there might be as evil or
worse report than in these, I with all diligence sent to counter-
mand the said former letters, or any other despatched at that
time by the said ambassador ; and so was taken also a packet
of his letters directed to my lady Margaret. Which original
letters . . . viewed and overlooked, and the untruth men-
tioned in them deprehended, I send unto your hands.” On
summoning De Praet to appear before himself and the Council,
Wolsey taxed him with untruth, objecting to various expres-
sions in the ambassador's despatches; viz. “ If we obtain the
battle (of Pavia) all will be well ; our master will escape the
danger of such friends and confederates as he has hitherto had.”
“ Let me say he is little obliged to any of them, whoever they may
be.” And again: ‘ When matters succeed well, Wolsey knows
not what to say, and when otherwise he talks wonders. I hope
one day to see our master avenged, for Wolsey is the main cause
of all his misfortunes.” De Praet made no reply, except to
complain of his letters being intercepted, contrary to the
privileges of ambassadors. In the end Wolsey ordered him to
forbear writing, saying that the King and himself would com-
municate the particulars to the Emperor.?

Such an extraordinary outrage on the privileges of an
ambassador had never been known before ; still more on an
ambassador of the greatest sovereign of Europe.? ¢ Great

) That these particulars were * Bee IV. 1083.

sccurately stated will be seen by a * De Praet’s own version of the
reference to the list of the watoh, affair will be found in Gayangos’
rinted in IV. 1082. Span. Cal., IIL. p. 50. It does not

VOL. II. R
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injury,” says De Praet, ‘“ has been done to the Emperor’s
honour and reputation by such an act. For a thousand years
there is no instance on record of ambassadors of allied and
friendly powers having their correspondence violated and
divulged, much less of their being forbidden to write to their
kings and masters.” ! It is hard to imagine the motive for a
proceeding so arbitrary and offensive, unless it were the
Cardinal’s intention to show how little he was awed by that
authority to which the rest of the world was inclined to pay
such profound and implicit homage. It could not be denied
that Wolsey for some time past had expressed in very plain
and unambiguous language his opinion of the Emperor, the
Archduke, and the Lady Margaret. He had condemned, in

terms more candid than courtly, their shallow tricks and -

subterfuges, their transparent excuses for evading their
engagements; but he had never yet been so far transported
by indignation as to impound the correspondence of their
ambassadors. Strange to say, his conduct on this occasion
was warmly defended by his master. The King wrote a letter,
in his own hand, to the Emperor, condemning the conduct of
his minister, and insisting on his punishment, in very explicit
terms.? He carried his displeasure so far as to refuse to listen
to any remonstrances that could be urged in mitigation of the
ambassador’s misconduct. De Praet was confined to his house
until the nomination of his successor; for all reconciliation
was found to be impossible.?

When the news reached Madrid the whole court was in a
ferment.* So great an affront called for signal punishment,
and the Emperor, it was urged, must vindicate the honour of
his ambassador, lest others should follow Wolsey’s example.
But here, again, the moderation of Charles saved him from
extremities. He wrote, indeed, to De Praet, expressing great
displeasure at the insult. He did not intend to let the matter
pass unnoticed, for God had given him the power to maintain
his dignity ; but he would for the present disguise his resent-

differ in any important particulars p. 62. (The references here and else-
from that given by Wolsey, except in  where to Gayangos are all to Vol. III.
asserting that the packet of letters, of the Calendar of Spanish State
‘““closed and sealed,” was delivered Papers, the first that appeared under
into More’s hands in the very presence  his editorship.—ED.)

of the man who had the charge of it, ! Gayangos’ Span. Cal., p. §3.
and by More, who was then in bed, ? Tbid., p. 74. .

was taken to the Legate’s apartments. * March 16: Gayangos, p. 92
An English version of the same affair Compare also pp. 76, 78.

willalsobe found in thesame Calendar, ¢ Contarini, April 19, Ven. Cal.

-
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ment until he had heard further particulars. Meanwhile, he
desired to know whether the ambassador could not suggest
some means by which the Emperor might punish the Cardinal !
without incurring any serious risks to his own interests.
Shortly after, on receiving a more explicit statement of what
had taken place, he informed the ambassador that his honour
was safe in the Emperor's keeping. At some future time,
whenever the opportunity offered, he might be satisfied that
full reparation should be demanded.? It is to be hoped that
De Praet was satisfied with this assurance, and his wounded
honour effectually salved.

To Sampson, the English ambassador, such an outrage
. appeared little less than insanity; still more when the
Emperor, in the mildest possible way, remonstrated with him
on the indignity. After expressing his entire confidence in
the King, Charles could not help lamenting the shock his con-
fidence in Wolsey had sustained by his late proceedings. The
injury was the less excusable, because in this time of ‘‘ most
fervent war,” when the French King was in prison, Joachim
had been so long retained in England, that his friends believed
that Henry had forsaken the Emperor, and was providing for
himself. It was the more strange, he said, and indefensible,
because such interception of his ambassador’s letter was
violare jus gentium ;—so much Latin his Majesty had learned,
remarks Sampson.? Some say, he continues, that unless the
Emperor had been well assured of the King's constant mind,
he would have taken this interception of his ambassador’s
letters as a clear case of rupture; for unless those who were
guilty of it were punished, it must have been “a prepensed
matter ; " nor was it less dishonourable to the King, * that his
most friend’s ambassador should not be at liberty. The whole
court was more moved than the good Emperor.” Those who
were of the best mind thought that Wolsey should accept the
ambassador with a new reconciliation, for the joy of the news
and victory at Pavia. I writ, Sir, to your Grace, thus clearly
to advertise the same of the truth plainly; for other toward-
ness I perceive nothing in them or any of them ; but the more
that is spoken of the matter, the more they be moved.”

) Letter to De Praet, March 26, from the Venetians, Charles remarked,
“] am a bad Latin scholar. I will

K Gavnngoo p-1 send it to the Chanoellor.”—Ven. Cal,,
} Letter, March 15 'IV.1190. On p. 431,
Contarini presenting him a letter
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Sampson was no seer. Charles knew his own interests too
well to sacrifice them to any transient resentment.

Splendid and dazzling as was his fortune at this moment,
no one perhaps understood more clearly than himself how
slippery was the foundation on which it rested. He could not
afford to quarrel with England; least of all to show his dis-
pleasure to the Cardinal, whose policy he most dreaded, and
whose sagacity he had hoped to blind. He would gladly have
detached the King from the Cardinal, had it been possible;
and, therefore, he made it a point to insist the more on his
unshaken regard and affection for the former, whenever he
dropped any remarks disparaging to the latter. Though the
victory at Pavia had filled Italy with consternation, it had
made every Italian potentate look to his own safety, and band
together for protection against the common enemy. Charles
was just as unable as ever to provide the necessary sums for
keeping his army on foot, and he hoped by ‘‘ doulce ’ means
and fair promises to obtain that pecuniary aid from the states
he certainly would never have obtained, had he showed any
symptoms of vindictiveness, or betrayed his intention of prose-
cuting his victory at their expense. In a curious document in
the possession of Don Pascual Gayangos, and published in his
Calendar,! a list will be found of the various sums proposed to
be levied on the different Italian powers, amounting to 288,000
ducats, towards covering the expenses of the war. To any
sovereign this was a large sum; to Charles, penniless in the
midst of his good fortune, and without hope of extorting money
from England, it was most desirable. But for any chance of
obtaining it the Emperor must assume a magnanimity by no
means native to his character. * The Pope and the rest of
the Italian powers,” writes his minister, Soria, then in Genosa,
‘ are afraid lest your Imperial Majesty should show resent-
ment at their late conduct, and wish to chastise them for
their misdeeds. I have told them that your Imperial Majesty
will forget and forgive all offences, and say to them, Recedant
vetera, nova sint omnia. It would be advisable that all your .
ministers and agents in Italy should dissemble and use a similar
language, but I hear they do not.” ?

It was then necessary for him to keep on good terms with
Henry and his minister. The least show of displeasure would
invest the confederation of Italy with spirit and proportions
fatal to the Emperor’s designs. If he resented the insult, and

! Gayangos, p. 106. * March 2 : Gayangos, p. 61.
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broke with England, the sole inducement which kept Wolsey
firm to his alliance would exist no longer. On his part the
Cardinal was equally reluctant to come to an open rupture, for
he still hoped to recover from the Emperor some portion of
the sums that England had lent him, or some equivalent in
their stead. The alienation of Wolsey would throw him at
once into the arms of France, and relieve its King from all
fears of an English invasion. Francis would become less
manageable—less willing to accede to the Emperor’s demands.
Nor, in the view of a better understanding between the two
Crowns, could the Emperor ever feel confident that any pro-
posals he might secretly make to the French King would not
be divulged to Wolsey, and be turned against himself. All that
he wanted was to gain time, and in the meanwhile keep his
real designs as secret as possible both from friends and enemies.

But though the Cardinal had disposed of the Imperial
ambassador, and shuffled him off the stage, in a curt and un-
ceremonious manner, it was not his policy to quarrel need-
lessly with the Emperor. He protested that his late act had
been dictated entirely by the purest zeal to maintain un-
diminished the amity between Charles and his master.
Nothing but Henry’s implicit trust in the Emperor, which
Wolsey had always used his best endeavours to promote, would
have persuaded the King to tolerate an ambassador so inexpert
and unmeet for his office as De Praet. ‘I have never done
anything that I know,” he says, in a letter addressed to the
Emperor,! “ to the prejudice of your affairs, or the person of
your Majesty, as some ill-intentioned people may have had the
boldness to surmise; which assertion, most confidently put
forward, gives me courage humbly to request that your Majesty,
for the purgation and discharge of my poor honor and reputa-
tion, will cast off and reject the indiscreet, disloyal, false, and
abusive reports and advices of the sieur De Praet, your resident
ambassador at this Court, whom I have all the time, and for
your sake, treated as favorably and affectionately as if he were
my own brother.” The Emperor was equally civil and sincere
on his part. At least he told Sampson, the English am-
bassador, ‘“ That he never suspected Wolsey, although some
things had been done in England much to the hindrance of his
affairs, and the Cardinal had many times made use of expres-
sions which excited the suspicions of De Praet. Still he con-
sidered the Cardinal his very good friend; and as he was

! March 8 : in Gayangos.
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faithful to his master, he could not but be faithful to the
Emperor also.” !

The contest now resolved itself into a trial of diplomatic
skill between Charles V. and the Cardinal. Other actors in
the scene, even the Pope himself, sunk for a time into the
subordinate condition of pawns in a game of chess, whose
movements are determined by the will or necessities of the
master pieces on the board. The ingenuity of both was
sharpened in the encounter. Both were wary; both were
ready to employ any device which promised advantage to
either. That they should cordially hate each other was
natural ; but that either of them should express that hatred,
as popular historians imagine, by gratuitous discourtesy, or
ostentatious absence of apparent cordiality, is to mistake the
character and the abilities of both. The popular belief that
Charles from this time withheld in his letters to Wolsey those
phrases of official deference and respect he had been wont to
use at an earlier period of their acquaintance, is founded on a
mistake. It rests on no better ground than the other sup-
position, that Wolsey postponed the interest of his country to
his own passions, and revenged himself upon the Emperor for
neglecting to assist him in securing the Papacy. Both felt
alike that they were engaged in an intricate game; and both
were too skilful, both too much interested in the result, to
misapply their energies like meaner men, or expose themselves
to disadvantage by any useless gratifications of ill temper.
But Wolsey was unduly weighted. He had other interests to
distract his attention, and other wishes than his own had to
be consulted. At no period in his life was Henry the most
tractable or self-denying of sovereigns; at no time would he
have been slow in sacrificing his ablest minister, rather than
incur the temporary odium of an unpopular measure.
Whether he had at this early date begun to grow weary of
Katharine it is impossible to say. Perhaps he scarcely knew
himself the state of his own mind, or the exact bent of his
inclinations. 8till, if Katharine took any interest in politics,
it was impossible that she should not view with some feeling
of dislike the actions of a man whose will was, in appearance,
though certainly not in reality, omnipotent with her husband.
It is scarcely possible that she should not have used what
influence she still possessed in favour of her nephew. That
she corresponded with him is undeniable.

! 8ampson : April 1, IV. 1237,
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Charles had no intention of allowing his secret purposes
to transpire. He was a master of dissimulation; and the
historian finds it by no means an easy task to fathom his real
designs. Great as was the victory at Pavia, it had as yet
been unproductive of any advantage beyond the possession of
the King’s person. Its substantial importance would depend
upon the amount of money or territory that Charles could
extort from the wishes or the fears of his unhappy prisoner ;
how far, whilst his worst foe remained caged up, he might
take the opportunity of securing his conquests in Italy, or
invading France. But to do one or the other an army must
be maintained; and Charles had no money. Negociations
were cheaper, if only they were speedy, if only Henry could
be persuaded not to interfere between him and his prisoner ;
still better if he could be induced at a moderate expense—best
of all at his own sole cost—to invade France, and enhance in
the eyes of the world, and of Francis himself, the Emperor’s
magnanimity. To avoid displeasing Henry or his great
minister, to distract their attention from his own designs, to
blind and amuse them, above all, to exclude them from any
share in the profits of his victory, by engaging their attention
elsewhere, this was the policy of Charles. But the game was
a delicate one. He was deeply in debt to the King of Eng-
land, and, under one plea or another, had perpetually failed
to fulfil his engagements. The shabbiest of Imperial debtors,
he always apologized and never paid ; was always demanding
an extension of time from his royal creditor, at the moment
he was preparing to incur fresh obligations. With his dis-
ciplined armies and his military resources, he could have
afforded to disregard the power or vengeance of England, if
England had stood alone ; but he well knew that the success of
his design depended exclusively on the attitude taken by this
country. He had his hold upon it by being its debtor; by
amusing it with promises of payment ; by the ambition, as he
supposed, of Henry to be crowned King of France, in imitation
of Henry V.; and he had as little intention of fulfilling his
engagement in one case as in the other. But as every step he
took towards his own designs was directly opposed to the
interests either of his ally, or of his prisoner, sometimes of
both, he had to fear lest haply they should come to a mutual
understanding, and he should make an enemy of both. To
keep them apart ; if possible, to make them suspicious of each
other’s intentions ; above all, to prevent the one from discover-
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ing the exact terms in which he was shaping his measures
with the other ;—these were the aims of the Emperor for the
present.

On the other hand, various plans presented themselves to
the Cardinal for counteracting the designs of his opponent..
He might organize a formidable league ; for in their dread of
the Emperor’s resentment, and still more of his interminable
exactions, the Italians were willing to contribute 500,000
ducats for the maintenance of the war, if Henry would join it,
and give his daughter in marriage to one of the French King’s
sons.! Or, he might, in the next place, find it possible to
re-open negociations with Louise, and obtain more from the
fears of Francis than he could hope to gain from the terrors
of the Italians or the gratitude of the Emperor. Thirdly, he
might assume as sincere the offers of the Emperor to assist
his master in recovering his inheritance in France, and profit
in various ways by any opportunities that might present
themselves. But to join the Italian league openly was to
declare war against the Emperor at once, and sacrifice all
chance of recovering the debt he owed to England. War at
so great a distance was costly and unpopular. England had
no generals to oppose to Bourbon or Pescara, and their veteran
captains and soldiers, flushed with their late victory, and well
acquainted with the hardships and dangers of an Italian
campaign. To open negociations directly with Louise was
hazardous. She might betray them to the Emperor, in order
to obtain the release of her son on easier terms. It was still
more hazardous at this moment, when she was on her way to
meet Charles, and no one knew precisely what concessions
she was prepared to make, or what were her real intentions.
This only was certain, so great was her affection for her son,
8o perilous was the position of his country, so apprehensive
were the French of an English invasion—their chief, in fact,
their only fear ®—that every one believed she would readily
make any sacrifice, short of the dismemberment of France, to
procure his liberation. Without, therefore, entirely abandon-

1 1V. 1249, 1255.

* “The Regent has published all
over France that the English are in
mautiny ” (probably she was referring
to the dissensions caused by the
Amicable Loan), “and would have
too much to do to invade France.
She told the Estates at Lyons (where
she was staying) she was well assured

that those who governed the King of
England (Wolsey ?) would do nothing;
and if they attempted to invade
France the Scots would attack them.
Nevertheless, all through France their
only fear is of England.” See IV.
1364 and 1365, and further, for the
condition of France at this time.
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ing the prospect of either an Italian league or a French
alliance, but rather, as will be seen hereafter, keeping both
steadily in view, Wolsey resolved for the present to urge the
Emperor to a renewal of hostilities. The Emperor had
written to his ambassador in England that he did not intend
to disarm, and wished the King to follow his example, and
join with him in prosecuting the war. He had instructed his
aunt, the Lady Margaret, to furnish Henry with troops and
provisions.! Further, he had informed the French that the
only terms of peace to which he could accede would be the
cession to himself of Burgundy, the restoration to Bourbon of
his rights, to Henry of his ancient provinces.

It was not for the Cardinal to betray suspicions of the
Emperor’s sincerity, or reject his advances. He took the
Emperor at his word; and as he had suggested that both
should continue their warlike preparations, Wolsey was ready
with a proposition which should not only secure peace for the
present, but in all time to come. This was no less than the
total exclusion of Francis and his son from the throne of
France. “If,” he urged, ¢ the French king, who is now a
prisoner, be restored, he will not fail to seek opportunities of
revenging himself ; therefore the only means ‘ of meeting the
danger is that he and his succession should be utterly
abolished.”® This, he argued, would be the most effective of
means for securing those rights on which Charles had insisted.
As a proof of the sincerity of his intentions, he gave out that
Henry was willing to join with the Emperor in an immediate
invasion of France, lead his army in person, and contribute
200,000 ducats to the expenses of the war. At its conclusion
the King would accompany the Emperor to Rome; by which

1 Charles to De Praet, March 26.
This letter is very important as a key
to the Emperor’s intentions. It was
written to announce officially to De
Praet the victory at Pavia, and shows
clearly from the first the dissimulation
of the writer. After stating that he
wishes for peace, and to practise
the virtues of magnanimity and
clemency, unless he is provoked to
forget them, Charles directs De Praet
how he is to proceed. He is to urge
the King not to disarm, in order that
the French may be compelled to ac-
cept the Emperor’s terms. If Henry
desires to prolong the war, he may do
it on his own responsibility. He has
written consequently to Lady Mar.

garet to furnish troops and provisions
for the English, at their own erpense,
unless she thinks it best to dissemble,
in which case she can pretend, before
complying with their wishes, that she
must consult the Emperor. “ It would
be unfortunate,” he proceeds, “to
lose their friendship.” But on no
account i8 De Praet to enter upon
any negociations with England for
carrying on the war at the Emperor’s
expense. He has heard of De Praet’s
treatment, and wishes there were
some good and safe means for punish-
ing the Cardinal, but the ambassador
must dissemble his displeasure.
? IV. pp. 628, 670.
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means and the possibility of Charles’s marriage to the princess
Mary, he would eventually become lord and owner of all
Christendom.”! As an earnest of his intentions, it was inti-
mated to the Emperor that the King was making all possible
preparations for invasion; that he desired permission for the
Lady Margaret to raise 4,000 horse and 4,000 foot at the
expense of the Low Countries, to assist in the enterprise;
that he intended, on his own part, to make up his army to
80,000 foot and 10,000 horse.? With these propositions there
was sent, as from the Princess Mary—at that time a flaxen-
haired child only nine years old—an emerald ring, as a love-
token to the Emperor ; ““ and you shall say,” Wolsey instructs
the ambassador, “ that her Grace hath devised this token for
a better knowledge to be had, when God shall give them grace
to be together, whether his Majesty do keep himself as con-
tinent and chaste as, with God's grace, she woll, whereby ye
may say his Majesty may see her assured love towards the
same hath already such operation in her that it is also con-
firmed by jealousy, being one of the greatest signs and tokens
of hearty love and cordial affection.” ®* Though the Emperor
was already indulging in the hope of superseding his engage-
ments for a more advantageous match, and a less formidable
father-in-law, he could not be so ungallant as to refuse the
present; so he put it on his little finger, observing he would
wear it for her sake.*

It is not to be imagined that Wolsey deceived himself with
the notion that the Emperor would accept so extravagant a
proposal. He could never have supposed that Charles would
heartily support the interests of his ally, and enthrone an
independent monarch at Paris, far more formidable than
the poor King he then held prisoner at Pizzighettone. He
had, indeed, promised all this, and more, to obtain Henry's
alliance ; ® but the flexibility with which Charles repudiated
his obligations, professed to treat them as merely ceremonial,
found paltry excuses for breaking his word, pleaded his
own expenses, pleaded anything, in short, rather than make
good his engagements,—must long since have convinced the
Cardinal that the Emperor was not to be trusted. He had

* IV. pp. 528, 570. secret promise made to the King’s

* IV. p. 672. Highness and Wolsey at sundry times
* Wolsey to Tunstal, etc., April 8.  and places, all tending to the expulsion
¢ See 1V. p. 611. of the King of France, and setting up

8 « As to the succession, they are  Henry in his place.”—Instructions to
to put the Emperor in mind of his Tunstal, etc., March 26, IV. p. 628,
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already expressed, in somewhat unceremonious language, his
opinion of the Emperor's insincerity, and the folly of relying
on such a broken reed.! He knew well that when Charles
proposed an invasion of France, nothing was further from his
intentions. He saw the difficulties brewing in the distance.
For though Louise, uncertain of Wolsey's intentions, which
apparently augured no good to France, had spoken of him
unfavourably, and communicated to him none of her move-
ments, he was kept well informed by the Pope of what was
going on. Clement dreaded, as much as any other power in
Italy, the cold, ambiguous, and resentful temper of the
Emperor. He leaned entirely to France, and disliked the
idea of a French invasion by England. He disliked still more
the Imperial demand of 200,000 ducats. It boded no good to
the patrimony of St. Peter that the Emperor still kept his
troops in Parma, Piacenza, and Bologna, withholding their
pay, and wasting the inheritance of the Church to the amount
of 200,000 or 800,000 ducats more. A friend of Francis, he
was not kept in ignorance of the designs of Louise, or of the
offers she intended to make to the Emperor. If the Queen
Mother, as an inducement to moderate his demands, betrayed
to Charles any favourable advances made to her by England,
the proposals offered by Charles to Louise were in their turn
communicated to the Pope, and betrayed to Wolsey. In spite
of appearances and professions, Wolsey knew well that war
with France was not what the Emperor intended. He knew
that the pay of his army in Italy, which cost 100,000 ducats
a month, had fallen six or seven months in arrear ; and the
last instalment had been squandered by the officers, without
any regard for their unfortunate soldiers. He had heard that
Francis, who had always looked upon Bourbon with great
disdain, ‘“‘now talked and dallied with him familiarly.”?

! S8ome kind friend had repeated,
not without exaggeration, Wolsey's
opinion of the Emperor; and the
Iatter, on receiving Wolsey’s letter
(see 1V. p. 616), had mentioned it to
the English ambassadors. They report
that the Emperor had told them that
Wolsey had called him a liar, Lady

t a ribald, Don Fernando a
child, and Bourbon a traitor. This
report was brought by Beaurain; to
whom, when he asked for 200,000
ducats of Henry for the late
campaign, Wolsey had answered,
the King has something better to do

with his money than spend it for the
pleasure of four such persons, using
the above words. (S8ee IV. 1879.)
The Emperor admitted that he had
not kept some points of the treaty,
with & whining remark that it wes
not from want of will, but extreme
need, for which his friends should not
accuse him. For more to the same
effect, see the conversation between
the Imperial agent De la Sauch and
Wozlsey, in Gayangos’ Span. Cal,
p- 216.

* See Charles’s letter, IV. p. 588.
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These signs were not lost upon him. The good intelligence
between the French and the Imperialists showed no indica-
tions of war on the part of the latter. Whatever Charles
might pretend, Wolsey was not to be deceived as to his real
intentions.

But if there could be any room for doubt, his own letters
are conclusive. In less than a fortnight after the proposal
for invading France, and disinheriting its sovereign, he tfells
Tunstal that he had received information from the Pope that
the French King’s mother intended to repair to the Emperor.!
“If she has power to treat,” he adds, ‘it is not likely the
Emperor will agree to a personal invasion, or do any great
feat of war till he see what will ensue therefrom.” Consider-
ing the uncertainty of all things, and the doubt how soon
sufficient money could be levied, “ though all the shires (in
England) were ready to contribute,” Wolsey had persuaded
his master to abandon his design of conducting'the invasion
in person. Commenting on the tortuous but transparent
policy of the Emperor to gain time, and avoid a direct answer,
he had written to the King, ‘I doubt not but of your profound
and great wisdom your Grace will facilely conject what this
manner of proceeding doth imply.”* The war, as he urged,
would bring nothing to the King’s benefit; and as for the
Emperor’'s promises to be moderate in his demands, to the
intent that the King's bargain with Francis might be the better,
there was little or no chance they would be realized. The
despatch received from the ambassadors then in the Emperor’s
Court, with Wolsey’s caustic remarks on his duplicity, leave
no doubt how Wolsey regarded the whole affair.

As for the Lady Margaret, she received the proposals for
this formidable campaign, like a lady diplomatist, with her
usual smiles and affability. For her part she preferred peace,
but if the King and the Emperor desired war she would readily
conform to their wishes. After many debates with the English
agent, Fitzwilliam, protesting her willingness to aid, but
ending in significant allusions to her poverty; after many
conclusions where nothing was concluded ;—she referred him
to the Emperor, who would determine the arrangements him-
self a.sasoon as the English ambassadors arrived at the Imperial
Court.

! Letter to Tunstal, who had not % See also Fitzwilliam’s remark.
yet started, April 7. able letter, p. 682.
2 IV. p. 605.
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June was approaching, and preparations for war would
soon become impossible. Henry sent his ambassadors to
Charles, desiring a positive declaration of what he intended
in their common affairs. His army, he said, was ready: he
was himself prepared to lead it in person, and only waited for
the Emperor’s reply. Next day the ambassadors of both Courts
met in Council, and the English were asked to declare their
intentions. They replied they had already made their demands;
repeated them, and pressed for an answer. Three days later
they met again, when the Chancellor entertained them with a
long oration. The Emperor, he urged, had spent above a
million and a half of ducats; by the aid of the Italian powers,
and of contributions from Henry, he had disbursed the pay of
his army,! but he still owed 570,000 ducats. The revenues of
the Crown had been so much impaired by the rebellion in
Spain during his absence, that he had no means of maintain-
ing the war. In this perplexity he had summoned his nobles
for aid to Toledo, but they had refused their consent to his
leaving the kingdom until he was married to the Princess
Mary. In compliance with their wishes, he had written to
Henry that she might be sent to Spain with a dowry of 400,000
ducats,® and if the King would contribute 200,000 crowns
besides for the expense of the war, the Emperor would provide
the rest. Here the Chancellor paused. He wished to know
what the ambassadors had to say to this proposal. To send
the Princess to Spain at nine years old, with more than half
a million of ducats, was to throw more than half a million of
ducats away, besides what the Emperor had borrowed already,
and leave her a hostage in the Emperor’s hands, not for their
repayment, but their repudiation. The English ambassadors
stood aghast at the unparalleled effrontery of such a proposal.
They replied calmly that these conditions were very.strange
and discrepant from the former treaties, especially the delivery
of the Princess at so young an age, and her conveyance to
such a hot climate. Her dowry, they reminded the Imperial
councillors, was only to be paid by instalments after her
marriage, and such sums deducted from it as the Emperor
owed to the King. Instead of the King contributing money to
the Emperor, the Emperor was bound before the personal

1 A falsehood. result of this conference, and embodied

* The Emperor wrote to his am- the substance of it. Whilst pretend-
bassador in England to this!effect on  ing to discuss, he had decided already.
the 318t of May, and not before, as he  See Gayangos’ Span. Cal, p. 174.
stated. In fact that letter was the
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invasion to repay the King 150,000 crowns he had borrowed
at his last journey into Spain, in addition to the King’s
indemnity. For the King to advance 400,000 crowns to the
Emperor, 200,000 crowns for the army in Italy, and to bear
his own expenses besides, were terms wholly inadmissible.
They could not believe that such proposals emanated from the
Emperor.

A proposition so extravagant and so unreasonable was no
more than a feint on the part of the Emperor. It was his
object to make his demands as impracticable as possible, that
the necessity of refusing them might furnish him with a pre-
text for evading his engagements. Notwithstanding all the
anxiety he had expressed that Mary should be brought up in
Spain, to learn the language and manners of the country ;!
notwithstanding the seeming interest with which he listened
to the ambassadors when they descanted on ‘‘the manifold
seeds of virtues that were in my lady Princess;™? notwith-
standing her poor emerald love-token worn on his little finger ;
—he had no intention to marry her. Two days passed; on
Monday, May the 29th, the Chancellor told them the Emperor
was greatly perplexed, as he could obtain nothing from the King
—neither my lady Princess nor her dowry. Might it not be as
well if the Emperor with the King’'s consent should take
another wife; not a French woman, though great offers had
been made in that quarter, but such as had been ‘‘long before
motioned, and a million of ducats offered for her dote ? 8
This was his mode of announcing his determination to marry
Isabella of Portugal. It was a foregone conclusion. But the
ambassadors had one consolation to offer. Whatever Henry
intended to do this summer—and they might equally have

Katharine to Mary, by which it ap-
pears that Mary was first taught
Latin by her mother. She desires of

1 IV. p. 612.
3 Mary’s precociousness is beyond
dispute. In the March of this same

yoar, tho commissioners from the Low
Countries went to pay their respects
to Katharine and the Princess, when
they again met the King, who in her
presence sent all manner of com-
pliments and affectionate regards to
the Lady Margaret. With the Car.
dinal’s permission and advice, they
addressed the Princess in a short
Latin specch; to which she replied in
the same tongue, with all the ease
andassurance imaginable. (Gayangos’
Span, Cal., p. 82.) Pretty well for a
child only nine yearsold. The reader
will do well to tarn to a letter of

the Princess, when her master has
seen her letters, ‘‘ that I may see it,
for it shall be & great comfort to me
to see you keep your Latin, and fair
writing, and all.” See IIl. p. 6Sl.
Less than six months later, the
Venetian ambassador, in a private
letter, speaks of her as ‘“a rare
personage, singularly accomplished,
most particularly in music, playing on
every instrument, especially on the
lute and harpischord.”—Ven. Cal.,
p. 471.
S IV. p. 614.
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said the next—he would have to do it alone, for no help could
be expected from the Emperor. Wrapped in the thickest and
coarsest fleece of self-interest, it would be vain to appeal to
him to take greater heed to his word, and fulfil his engage-
ments. The King might do better, they thought, by keeping
my lady Princess at home until she came of age, when many
princes might hope for her hand, and this could not be if she
were affianced to one. ‘‘By consenting to the Portuguese
marriage,” said they, ‘‘the King will defeat any scheme of
Charles with Madame d’Alengon (whose husband was just
dead), with whom great offers will assuredly be made. The
Spaniards are anxious for the Emperor to marry, as his
brother Fernando is not likely to have children, his wife being
corpulent ; but the Council do not talk of this. We certainly
think,” they said, ‘“from the Chancellor’s words, that the
Emperor will not co-operate with the King in an invasion
either this year or the next.”! If Wolsey ever seriously con-
templated the conquest of France, or the King still dreamt of
a coronation at Paris, that dream was now dissipated. It is
probable, however, that the thoughts of both were turned in
an opposite direction.

1 IV, p. 615.
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CHAPTER XXII.
THE LOAN.

WaR, real or pretended, involved the necessity of a loan. It
offered the readiest means for recruiting an exhausted ex-
chequer. The governments of Europe had outgrown the old
fiscal arrangements of feudalism. Wars, conducted on a
broader basis, and maintained by mercenary troops, at a great
expense, outran at this time the ordinary means of medisval
kingdoms. Forced and precarious loans, unwillingly paid,
and collected with difficulty, were a poor substitute for modern
taxation ; and no sovereign—unless, like Queen Elizabeth, he
practised the utmost frugality, and studiously avoided war—
could sustain the drain on his finances without having recourse
to some extraordinary method for recruiting them. War was
exclusively the King’s affair. If his subjects were willing to
contribute a portion of the expense, and reimburse him for his
outlay, so much the better. If not, he had to endure the loss,
and find the best remedy for it in his power. In England, at
the time of which I am now speaking, no Parliament was
sitting, and none was summoned ; whether from the necessity
of speedy action, or Wolsey’s experience of the last Parlia-
ment, is uncertain. To provide for war, or even the appear-
ance of it ; to raise the expense necessary for the administra-
tion, without trenching too much on the King's personal
extravagance, or alarming his avarice ;—money must be found.
There were no bankers to farm or anticipate the revenue. In
this difficulty, Wolsey hit upon an expedient, if not absolutely
new, yet one that had never been enforced during that genera-
tion.! This was an Amicable Loan ; a project derived from
the old feudal obligation of contributing aid to the King when
he led an invasion in person. On this subject, Hall, the
Chronicler, observes,? that *“ the Council remembering that it
was determined that the King in proper person should pass the

! Tt had been adopted by Richard III. just forty years before.—ED.
2 IV. p. 694,
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sea, they considered that above all things great treasure and
plenty of money must needs be had in readiness. Wherefore
by the Cardinal were devised strange commissions, and sent in
the end of March to every shire, and commissioners appointed,
which were the greatest men of every shire ; and privy instrue-
tions sent to them to say (assay) and order the people; and
the tenor was that the sixth part of every man’s substance
should without delay be paid, in money or plate, to the King,
for the furniture of his war.” In conformity with this resolu-
tion a commission was issued to the Cardinal as early as the
21st of March to treat with the city of London  for a subsidy
for the French war, the King intending a personal invasion.” *
The account of the Cardinal's interview with the mayor
and corporation will be found in Hall.® Addressing them in
a speech of considerable length, he concluded by saying, ‘ Now
I ask you this question, whether you think it convenient that
the King should pass the sea with an army or not; for the
King will do by the advice of his subjects.” Many said,
“Yes.” *‘“Well,” said the Cardinal, ‘“ he must go like a
prince, which cannot be without your aid.” Then telling
them how liberally the nobles and bishops had contributed, he
proceeded in the following strain:—* Forsooth, Sirs, I think
half your substance were too little for so noble a prince—not
that he means to ask so much; for he demands only 8s. 4d.
in the pound on 50l. and upwards, 2s. 8d. on 20l. and upwards,
and 1s. in the pound on 20s. and upwards, and this upon your
own valuation.” A feeble voice from the hall urged, in the
general consternation, as citizens would urge, that business
had decayed. “ Sirs,” said the Cardinal, ‘ speak not to break
what is concluded, for some shall not pay even a tenth—and it
were better that a few should suffer indigence than the King at
this time should lack. Beware, therefore, and resist not, nor
ruffle not in this case ; otherwise it may fortune to cost some
their heads.” If the Chronicler has not exaggerated—a fault
to which he is liable—it must be admitted that the Cardinal
had a summary method of despatching business ;—an art
which has since been lost in the development of Parliamentary
oratory. He eluded opposition by reserving all the action and
most of the speaking to himself. The citizens grumbled and
consented. ‘ When this matter was opened through England,”
ways Hall, “ how the great men? took it was marvel ; the poor

1 See IV. 1199. 8 The * great men ” with Hall are
* IV. p. 697. the aldermen.

YOL. 1I. E
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cursed, the rich repugned, the light wits railed; but in con-
clusion all people cursed the Cardinal and his co-adherents, as
subvertors of the laws and liberty of England.”

The prejudices of Hall are too violent for his statements to
be implicitly accepted wherever the Cardinal is concerned.
Yet it is no new thing in our history for Englishmen to desire
war without additional expenditure ;—fleets and effective
armies without ‘‘ amicable loans ” or taxation of any kind. A
war with France, as we have seen, was no part of Wolsey's
policy ; but he was opposed by a strong war party in the
Council, of whom Norfolk and Suffolk were the leaders; and
when the King’s inclinations took the same direction, undis-
guised opposition was impossible. It is beyond dispute that
the war was a favourite project with the King. The moment
that he heard of the news of the capture of Francis, his face
was radiant with delight. When the Flemish commissioners
communicated the intelligence on the 9th of March, they found
him in high spirits, expressing his joy in a& manner that  no
prince could do better.” In the course of their conversation
he remarked, ¢ Now, is the time for the Emperor and myself
to devise the means of getting full satisfaction from France.
Not an houris to be lost.”! Certainly no minister of ordinary
prudence would have entered on so romantic and hazardous
an enterprise as the conquest of France, if left to his own dis-
cretion ; least of all when no funds existed for the purpose,
and he had to devise means that could not fail to render him
unpopular. That was not Wolsey’s policy ; nor could he have
been blind to the impracticability of such an undertaking, and
the vast expense involved in it. But it was his misfortune to
be regarded as the author and adviser of every measure that
entered into the head of his master. The King's temper was
daily growing more intractable. He was surrounded by
favourites. Norfolk and Suffolk, Sir Francis Bryan and Sir
Thomas Boleyn, attended him in his progresses and amuse-
ments, and so far from restraining his pleasures they
encouraged his extravagance. All of them, with the excep-
tion, perhaps, of Boleyn, were in favour of war—especially a
war with France. It was their main opening to profit and
distinction, and certainly the only method by which they could
hope to counteract the Cardinal’s influence. Events were now
marching at a rapid pace, if they had not arrived already,
which were to make them more powerful with the King than

' Gayangos’ Span. Cal., p. 82.

|



1525.] WOLSEY UNPOPULAR. ) 51

ever. Whether, then, this ‘‘ amicable loan” had its origin
with the King or with Wolsey, or was devised by the latter to
satisfy the King’s desire of invasion, it can scarcely be con-
sidered as emanating from him alone.

But that people ‘‘ cursed the Cardinal,” and vented their
anger upon him without much reflection, is unquestionable.
In a letter to Wolsey from Archbishop Warham, one of the
commissioners of Kent, we have clear indications of the
popular feeling. He tells the Cardinal that it will be hard to
raise the money required, as the late parliamentary grants
were still in arrears. People complained, he said, that the
late loan had not been repaid, nor would this be; that too
much coin of the realm was already exported into Flanders;
that France would only be enriched by the money spent
there; and if the King conquered it, he would have to waste
his time and his revenues in a foreign kingdom. They added,
that all the sums already expended on the invasion of France
had not gained the King a foot more land in it than his father
had, ‘“who lacked no riches or wisdom to have won that
kingdom if he had thought it expedient.”! In a subsequent
letter, the Archbishop details the arguments he employed to
persuade the people of his own county. The King trusted
them most of his loving subjects, ‘‘forasmuch as his Grace
was born in Kent.” Their backwardness would have a bad
effect upon others. If gentleness would not win them, they
must leave their homes, and make their excuses to the
Council ; no idle or unmeaning threat, for to appear before
the Council was more costly than paying the tax. Neither
threats mnor flattery availed. At one time they alleged
“poverty, with weeping tears;” at another, ‘‘they spoke
cursedly,” saying they should never have rest from such
payments as long as some one was living.?

They were encouraged in this dogged resolution by the
clergy and religious orders. The Cardinal was employed at
this time in suppressing some of the minor religious houses
in Kent, Sussex, and Essex, for his great foundation at Oxford.
The wisdom and grandeur of the scheme his contemporaries
could not understand. Oppressed by debts and encumbrances
of various kinds, the smaller religious houses had fallen into
ruins, discipline was neglected, the inmates were poor and
illiterate. Had the property of these religious foundations
been diverted in time to the purpose of education, schools and

' April §: TV.1248. * IV. pp. 545, 655.
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colleges would have been provided for all paris of England;
but even the Reformers, who hated monastic institutions,
hated Wolsey still more, and could not recognize in this act
any better object than injustice and oppression. Monks and
friars, detesting what he had done, or dreading what he
might do, through his influence with the King and his legatine
authority, set themselves actively to work to counteract his
plans and hold them up to popular dislike; and writers since,
who should have known better, have adopted unhesitatingly
these popular prejudices.! The secular clergy, poor and
depressed, felt strongly the burthen of the loan, and pleaded
poverty, more justly than any other class. The Archbishop
found, upon inquiry, that there was great untowardness
among them ‘“to make contributions of the third part of their
goods,” as they alleged they had already to pay the subsidy
granted in the last Convocation. ‘If they paid this third
part they asserted they would be utterly destitute ; and if the
King should now, and also in time to come, thus, by his
Grace’s letters missive, privy seals, and other ways, hereafter
require aid of the spirituality, as oftentimes as it should
please his Grace so to do, besides the grants of Convocation—
to which they knowledge themselves to be bound—the Church
and the clergy would at length be put to such impossible
charges as they should least be able to bear, to the utter
undoing and destruction of the same.” They complained
further that they would be no longer able to maintain
hospitality, or support their fathers and mothers; that for
the sixteen years of this reign they had on an average con-
tributed an annual tenth, and the Church was never before so
continually oppressed. If the laity refused, they had greater
reason, they said, to refuse also.? As might be expected, the
religious houses were not more compliant, *“ sorely grudging "
at the suppression of their religious foundations. They
absolutely refused to give any answer until they had com-
municated with their different convents.® The letter conveying
this news is remarkable for one of its concluding sentences.

! See a remarkable instance of
this in the correspondence between
Warham and Wolsey, IV. p. 656.
The Cardinal was desirous of convert-
ing the priory of Tunbridge into a
sochool for the benefit of the inhabi-
tants; but in order to do this in &
manner agreeable to their wishes, he
desired Warham to consult them on

the project. Although not ome of
them, under other oi
would have cared the least for the
priory, yet when the alternative was
proposed to them, they rejected the
echool in favour of the priory. Itis
olear that Warham went with them.

2 IV. 1267.

* 1V.1268: April 12, 1625.
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In suggesting that it might be as well to proceed no further at
present, the Archbishop adds, ‘till this great matter of the
King’s grace be ended. . . . It hath been thought good policy
in times pasi not to broach too many matters of displeasure at
once.”” What was this great matter of the King’'s? What
was it that seemed so likely to create displeasure ?

“ The amicable loan,” as it was called, was differently
received in different counties. In Cambridgeshire and the
Isle of Ely it encountered a determined opposition. Three
centuries have made very little change in the tone and style
of popular grievances. Some pleaded losses by fire and cattle
diseases ; some complained that they had over-rated them-
selves at the former assessment, in order to advance their
names and their credit; others, that men well off before now
believed they would not be worth a groat when their debts
were discharged. But at last, says the Bishop of Ely,! to
whom we are indebted for these particulars, ¢ by fair words
and the rough handling of one or two,” they were induced to
yield, though with much dolour and lamentation, saying that
they had no money, and would gladly sell their cattle and
goods at half their value to obtain it. Still, as the time was
pressing, the matter honourable, and the considerations
pressed upon them weighty, they would do what they could to
comply with the King’s demands. ‘It would have made a
man sorrowful,” says the Bishop, ‘though he had a right
hard heart, to hear their lamentation, not only of the poor,
but of those who were thought rich. Those who were before
valued at 100l or 200l. cannot now make 20 nobles in ready
money, and some scarcely 40s.” Coin and the precious
metals in outlying districts had never been plentiful, and in
the pressing demand now made for raising the loan, both were
less easily obtained than ever. It was a difficulty the com-
missioners could not overcome.

In Norwich, where the Duke of Norfolk sate as the chief
commissioner, less unwillingness was evinced at first. The
citizens admitted that an immediate invasion of France would
be very advantageous, but it was not possible for them to
furnish the sums required. The prosperity of their city, they
said, depended on worsted and thread-making, ‘ wrought by
the hands of many & thousand,” who must be paid weekly in
ready money, which could not be spared for other purposes.
They offered their gilt-plate at 4s. the oz., parcel gilt at 4s. 8d.,

! Letter to Wolsey, April 19: IV. 1272,
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and white plate at 8s. 4d.! A fortnight after the Duke was
enabled to inform the Cardinal that he had met with so much
success that all the people had consented to contribute, and
no other parts of the county remained to be visited, except
Lynn and Yarmouth, and one small hundred consisting of
inhabitants assessed below 20.? At the end of the month the
Duke wrote again that he and the rest of the commissioners
had taken such order that he thought the King would have
good reason to be satisfied with the grant of that shire. He
adds, however, that many had been put in hopes of being "
released from payment because it had been rumoured that the
inhabitants of London and other places had refused their
consent to the assessment. ¢ News came yesterday that you
(Wolsey) had spoken on Wednesday with the Mayor of
London and forty others, promising they should pay no more
than they themselves would grant; on which the Mayor and
Corporation of Norwich trusted that the Duke would extend to
them the same indulgence.”?

It will be seen by these remarks that the King and his
ministers had already been compelled to recede from their
first demand, and make concessions. As the nature of these
concessions has been misunderstood, and the King’s proceed-
ings generally misrepresented, it will be necessary to explain.
The author of these misrepresentations, intentional or
otherwise, was Hall the Chronicler. He states that when
‘“ the mischief”” (meaning the popular discontent) was shown
to the King, he remarked that he never knew of the demand,
and therefore with great diligence sent his letters to the city of
London and to all other places, in which he ‘‘ gently wrote ”
that he would demand no sum certain, but such as his loving
subjects would grant him of their good minds toward the
maintenance of his wars. Hall then proceeds to describe how
Wolsey on the 26th of April sent for the Mayor and Corpora-
tion of London to his place at Westminster, and after telling
them how graciously the King had accepted their loving grant,
added, ¢ Then I kneeled down to his Grace, showing him both
your good minds towards him, and also the charges you eon-
tinually sustain, the which, at my desire and petition, was
content to call in and abrogate the same commission.” The
Cardinal concluded by assuring them that the King would
take nothing of them except a benevolence or free grant.*

! Norfolk to Wolsey, April 1: IV. * April 30 : IV. 1295.
1235. ¢ Hall, p. 697.
* IV, 1265.
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It is evidently the purpose of the Chronicler to insinuate
doubts of the Cardinal’s veracity, and leave his readers to
infer that the King had been deceived by his minister. The
notion has been adopted, not merely by historians, but by
the great dramatist. What use he has made of this passage is
familiar to all. It has stamped itself on the minds of his
readers as an indubitable proof of the vanity and hypocrisy of
the Cardinal, and of the good nature of the King, who was
easily deceived by his unworthy favourite. It was the fashion
of the sixteenth century to exculpate the King at the expense
of the Cardinal, and attribute every unpopular measure of his
reign to his minister. His devotion to his master, for whom
he sacrificed all, left him none to vindicate his memory.

For those who have studied the authentic materials of the
times it is impossible to acquiesce in these misstatements.
The King could not be ignorant either of this or any other
important measure of his Privy Council. He had signed the
commissions for the different counties, without which no com-
missioner would or could have acted, and therefore he could
scarcely be ignorant of their contents. It was not his habit
to trust his ministers implicitly, or register their decrees
without examination. Such a notion is inconsistent with
Henry’s temper. At no time in his reign was he so completely
governed by the Cardinal, as is often supposed. Quite the
reverse. If the Tudors possessed one pre-eminent quality
above all other sovereigns, it was their ability of seeing into
the characters of the ministers they employed. If they had
one fault in excess, it was their jealousy lest those ministers
should become their masters ; it was the ruthless insensibility
with which they sacrificed those who had served them.
Henry VIIL. was no exception to this remark. He saw all
despatches; he insisted on knowing the purport of every
document which was laid before him. He exacted the most
profound respect from all who approached him. In his
palmiest days Wolsey no more forgot the deference due to
his Bovereign, or ventured to overstep it, than the proudest
noble would have ventured to issue orders in the King’s name,
or have used his royal authority without his express permis-
sion. The King had not withdrawn the commission in the
sense of abandoning the loan, as Hall would lead his readers
to suppose. He had not taken any such step to relieve the
oppression of his subjects. Nor did Wolsey, as represented

by Shakespeare, claim an interest with the commons for an
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act of generosity of which he was not the real author. A
letter from Warham to Wolsey! justifies the Cardinal’s asser-
tion of his intercession with the King on this occasion.
“From the moderation concerning the temporalty, your
Grace appears a very good mediator with the King for the
commons ; and they are more bound to you than they have
wit to consider.” Warham was not inclined to flatter; and
his remark would have been wholly unfounded and glaringly
false if that moderation had been due exclusively to the King
and ‘‘ his gentle letter,” as Hall asserts; for Warham was a
member of the Privy Council, and could not have been ignorant
of the facts. He adds, as a warning historians might do well
to consider, ‘‘ The indiscreet multitude is easily moved by
every light tale.” But this is not the only instance where
Wolsey had to bear the odium, and the King carried off the
praise.

To put this matter in a clearer light. In the year 1523
Parliament had granted a loan to the King, to be raised by
a property and income tax, assessed on a graduated scale.
This loan was to be paid in four yearly instalments ; and it
may have been true, as stated by some of the malcontents,?
““that they had over-rated themselves’ at this assessment,
““to advance their names and their credit.”® The Cardinal
and the Court party had employed their influence with the
House of Commons to enhance the rate, and abridge the
periods of payment. But without success. The King’s ex-
chequer—and it must be remembered that it was the King's
and not the national exchequer—had been heavily burthened
by the late war, by- his loans to Charles V., and his own
personal expenditure. There existed, happily, at that time,
none of the modern expedients, real or pretended, for recruit-
ing an exhausted exchequer, war alone excepted. To assemble
Parliament and propose a fresh loan was out of the question,
whilst the instalments of the former loan remained unpaid.
What was to be done ? Abandon all hopes of fresh taxation,
or abandon all thoughts of continuing the war with France ?
That, as I have explained, was Wolsey’s policy. But the King
wished to have his exchequer replenished, and the sums he
had advanced for the war repaid. For what purpose did a
minister or & Privy Council exist, except to be useful ?

In this perplexity the Cardinal seems to have fallen back
upon the old feudal notion that when the sovereign went to

! May 12, IV.1382. * Probably Hall himself. 3 Suprs, p. 53
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war in person he had a claim upon the extraordinary aid and
benevolence of his subjects. In his address to the Mayor and
Corporation of London he had cleverly secured their assent to
the proposition that it was ‘‘ convenient that the King should
pass the sea with an army ;” if so, then for the honour of the
nation, as Wolsey cogently insisted, he must ‘“go like a
prince.” When so precious a life was put to the venture,
what ought they to give who remained quietly at home, and
enjoyed the glory and the profit without the hazard of the
enterprise ? Surely not less than half their substance ; though
the King was too considerate and kind to demand so much.
8o it was called an ‘‘ amicable grant;” a free gift—the test
of their love and loyalty.

In token of this affection for his subjects, Wolsey proceeded
fo urge, instead of assessing the contribution at the rate of
the parliamentary loan, and demanding 4s., the King would
ask no more than 8s. 4d. in the pound on incomes of 50L.,
diminishing the rate to 1s. in the pound on 20s. and upwards,
to be taken at their own valuation; or rather at the rate of
their previous assessment for the parliamentary grant. Thus
Wolsey made it appear throughout that it was not the citizens
but the King who was granting the favour. The better to -
induce the commons to comply, commissioners of rank and
influence in their several counties were appointed to stir up
the people’s liberality. How they fared has been already
described, and needs not to be repeated.

But finding how strong was the opposition to the grant in
most of the counties, especially when its ‘ amicable >’ character
was lost by insisting on a fixed and rateable benevolence, the
Cardinal, and no doubt the Council, induced the King to remit
8o much of the demand as required that all men should con-
tribute in proportion to the parliamentary assessment. ‘I
kneeled down to his Grace,” he tells the Londoners, ‘ and
though by your own grants he might have demanded the
money as & debt ”—referring to their previous admission—
“he is content to release and pardon the same, and will
nothing take of you but of your benevolence.”! It was not
. meant by this, as is often inferred, that the King withdrew
his demand, and abandoned entirely all claim to the liberality
of his subjects, still less that he had been kept in ignorance of
Wolsey’s proceedings. He only withdrew so much of it as
ingisted on a rateable contribution. A benevolence he still

! Hall, p. 698,
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expected ; and a benevolence Wolsey still endeavoured to
obtain.

It was in this stage of the proceedings that the Cardinal
assembled the Mayor and the Corporation a second time, on
the 8th of May. But on pressing the benevolence he was met
by an observation from one of the citizens, probably from
Hall himself, that by the statute of Richard III. no such
benevolence could be legally demanded. ¢ Sir,” retorted the
Cardinal, ““I marvel that you speak of Richard III., which
was a usurper and a murtherer of his own nephews. Then of
80 evil a man, how can the acts be good? Make no such
allegations ; his acts be not honorable.” His opponent was
not so easily daunted. “ An’t please your Grace,” he replied,
‘“ although he did evil, yet in his time were many good acts,
made not by him only, but by the consent of the body of the
whole realm, which is the Parliament.” Finding that this
alternative was no better received than the former, the Cardinal
consented to withdraw if, leaving it to every man to come
before him, and “ grant privily what he would.” As no man
could be compelled to appear, and there was no punishment
on his refusal, the whole project fell to the ground.

As the Londoners had escaped so easily, it was not to be
expected that the poorer towns and shires of England would
fail to take emcouragement from their example. Further
pressure became clearly impossible. In-Lavenham, Sudbury,
and other towns, insurrection was imminent, and menaces
against the Cardinal's life were not uncommon. The mal-
contents increased so rapidly that they overawed the more
compliant. The less refractory were afraid of being hewn in
pieces if they showed the least disposition to comply with the
demands of the commissioners.! Their numbers increased
daily. Not only the shires of Suffolk and Essex, but the town
and university of Cambridge, had combined, to the number
of 20,000, to offer resistance ;2 whilst other counties, ‘‘ looking
out for a stir (rising),” were ready to follow the same bad
example. In Lincolnshire the news of this resistance spread
like wild-fire. An insurrection of the peasantry, similar to
that which was then desolating Germany, seemed inevitable,
when by the middle of the month of May the whole design
was abandoned, and nothing remained except to punish the
ringleaders of these unlawful assemblies.

Yet the people generally had not ventured even on this

! See IV. 1819, 1321, * IV. 1823,
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amount of resistance without great reluctance; and it is hard
to say how much of their discontent was due to the bad
management of the commissioners themselves. Some were
evidently reluctant agents; others again were severe and
haughty. In Kent Sir Thomas Boleyn was roughly handled.!
In Suffolk, where the Duke had contrived to win over the rich
clothiers, the working population, consisting of spinners,
weavers, and other artizans, rose in a body, rung the alarm
bell, and menaced the commissioners with death. In the
neighbouring county, where the Duke of Norfolk had at first
been successful, the commons assembled in a menacing
attitude. On his sending to learn their intentions, ¢ they only
returned for answer they would live and die in the King's
cause.”” When the Duke made his appearance there was a
general hubbub of confused voices. ‘Then he asked who was
their captain, and bade that he should speak. Then a well-
aged man, of fifty years and above, asked licence of the Duke
to speak, which was granted with good will. ‘My Lord,” said
this man, whose name was John Grene, ¢ Sith you ask who is
our captain, forsooth, his name is Poverty; for he and his
cousin Necessity hath brought us to this doing; for all these
persons, and many more, which I would were not here, live
not of ourselves ; but all we live by the substantial occupiers
of this county, and yet they give us so little wages for our
workmanship that scarcely we be able to live; and thus in
penury we pass the time, we, our wives, and children ; and if
they, by whom we live, be brought in that case that they of
their little cannot help us to earn our living, then must we
perish and die miserably. I speak this, my Lord : the cloth-
makers have put all these people, and a far greater number,
from work. The husbandmen have put away their servants,
and given up household; they say the King asketh so much
that they be not able to do as they have done before this time,
and then of necessity must we die wretchedly.” The Duke
was sorry to hear their complaint, and well he knew that it
was true. Then he said, ‘Neighbours’ (the Duke, be it
remembered, was premier duke of England, and the victor at
Flodden), * sever yourselves asunder. Let every man depart
to his home, and choose four that shall answer for the
remnant; and on my honor’ (he spoke as a peer) ‘I will
send to the King and make humble intercession for your
pardon; which I trust to obtain, so that you will depart.’
! Hall, 699.
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Then all answered they would, and so they departed home.”!
The story, which there is no reason to discredit, is curious, as
showing the poetical and melancholy temperament of the East
Anglian, as compared with the sturdier and more prosaic
element of the Southern Saxon.

¢ After this,” says Hall, * the two Dukes came to London,
and brought with them the chief captains of the rebellion,
which were put in the Fleet; and then the King came to
Westminster to the Cardinal’s place; where upon this matter
he assembled a great council, and openly said that his mind
was never to ask anything of his commons which might sound
to his dishonor, or to the breach of his laws; wherefore he
would know of whom it was long that the commissioners were
so straight to demand the sixth part of every man’s substance.
The Cardinal excused himself, and said that when it was
moved in Council how to make the King rich, the King's
Council, and especially the Judges, said he might demand any
sum by commission; and that by the assent of the whole
Council it was done; and took God to witness that he never
maligned or desired the hindrance of the commons, but, like a
true councillor, desired to enrich the King; and the spiritual
men said that it standeth with God’s law, for Joseph caused
the king of Egypt to take the fifth part of every man’s goods;
but because every man layeth the burthen from him, I am content
to take it on me, and to endure the fame and noise of the people,
Jor my good will toward the King, and comfort of you my Lords
and other the King’s councillors ; but the eternal God knoweth
all.” ?

Though these remarkable words seem to have dropped
almost inadvertently from the Chronicler's pen, and have
attracted no attention, they exhibit an important trait in
Wolsey’s character, which should not be overlooked. That the
Cardinal meant it to be inferred that this proposal for an
“ amicable grant” had not originated with himself is clear.
And of this there can be little doubt ; for, certainly, it formed
no part of his policy. He had no wish for a war with France;
for, to counteract the Emperor's designs, he was at that
moment secretly and cautiously feeling his way to an alliance
with that kingdom. But on this, as on other occasions, he
was willing to assume the responsibility of measures inaugu-
rated by others, whether by the King himself or his Council,
disregarding the popular odium which they were more fearful

! Hall, 700. * Hall’s Chron., p. 700.
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of incurring. He had that sense of ministerial obligation, now
happily grown into an axiom, that no member of a cabinet has
a right to save his own reputation at the expense of his
colleagues. His acts are their acts, their acts are his.

The King withdrew the commission, and sent letters of
pardon into every shire where the commissioners had en-
countered opposition. But he never forgot this rebuff—the
first he had experienced since the commencement of his reign
—especially from the spiritual men, who had distinguished
themselves by their hostility to the loan, and had set an
example of independence to the laity. It rankled in his mind
long after, and betrayed itself on more than one occasion.
“ Now, here is an end,” to use Hall’s words,! ‘‘ of this com-
mission, but not an end of inward grudge and hatred that the
commons bore to the Cardinal, and to all gentlemen which
vehemently set forth that commission and demand.”

! Hall’s Chron., p. 702.
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CHAPTER XXIII.
THE TREATY OF MADRID.

Tre Cardinal was now at liberty to pursue his own policy
without interruption. Probably he regarded the ill success of
the ‘ amicable grant ” rather as an advantage than otherwise ;
for it stopped the mouths of those members of the Council who
were anxious for war, and it crushed all their hopes of
annexing France. If any portion of the King’s rights, or, as
they were then called, of his ancient hereditary dominions in
that kingdom, were to be recovered, that might be possible to
policy which was not possible to force. More might be wrung
from the friendship and necessities than from the enmity of
Francis. For that friendship he might be willing to part with
one or more of his provinces in order to keep the rest, and
avoid the necessity of ceding Burgundy on which the Emperor
had set his heart. Charles was now busily and fartively
employed in advancing his own projects. He had no intention
of continuing the war, even if he had possessed the means.
His offer of a joint invasion was nothing more than a feint
intended to terrify the French, and compel Louise, now
invested with the regency, to listen more readily to his pro-
posals. Lady Margaret, the Emperor’s aunt, understood his
policy perfectly. She sent commissioners into England,
instructed to keep the King and the Cardinal amused, partly
to gain time, partly to prevent any negociations with France,
or interference on the part of England with the bargain the
Emperor was hoping to make in his own behalf. Exhorting
Henry to arm, maintaining as much as possible the King’s
friendship, entering with apparent zeal into all his plans,—
they were strictly commanded to conclude nothing.! How
well they fulfilled their instructions—how closely they were
pressed by the Cardinal, who immediately divined their inten-

! See IV. 1267; and the Emperor to De Praet, March 26, in Gayangos'
Span. Cal. Also p. 111, ibid.
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tions, may be seen in their correspondence published in the
Spanish Calendar of Don Pascual Gayangos.!

As the Emperor's hopes of accommodation with his
prisoner rose or fell, he temporized accordingly. He had
committed the direction of these negociations with England to
his aunt in the Netherlands, reserving to himself the right of
accepting or rejecting any arrangements she might make, as
best comported with his interests. Evidently he had promised
himself an easy victory. Francis a prisoner in his hands,
England lulled in secure repose by the charm of his diplomacy,
none but a feeble woman left to manage negociations and a
troubled kingdom, what was there to limit or hinder his
ambition ?

No one could question the intense affection of Louise for
her son, or her willingness to make any sacrifice to procure
his liberation. France was plunged into great disorder. The
nobles were disunited. The people, worn out with heavy
imposts, and exposed to the misery of a bad harvest, were
wholly disheartened.? Yet, more resolute than her son, more
inflexible than her people, nothing could induce Louise to
comply with the Emperor’s exorbitant demands. I cannot
see how any peace can be negociated here” (at Lyons), writes
Beaurain, who presented her the Emperor’s letters, ‘ for they
are braver than ever.” *‘As yet,” he adds, ‘‘the French
show no intention of offering anything except their King’s
ransom, which is not our chief object.” He urges, therefore,
that though Lady Margaret had received instructions from the
Emperor to come to no decision, she should now cultivate
more eagerly the friendship of England, and urge them to
invade. The sooner the better.?® The Emperor was dis-
appointed when he least expected it. His language changed
with the situation; and Fitzwilliam, in his intercourse with
Margaret, found that she spake ““more firmly” (resolutely)

1 It is clear that the commissioners
themselves suspected that Wolsey
saw through their design. Not only
did he give them to understand that
England had received favourable
offers for a league with the Pope, but
in course of his conversation with
them he repeated the phrase more
than once, * Messieursles Commissasires,
pensez y bien,” which puzzled them
exceedingly. At the conclusion of a
conference held on the 31st of March,
he insisted that Madame should punish

De Praet for an example to others,
subjoining, “I will speak to the King,
who will, perhaps, not allow him to
leave the country without putting
bim here on his trial,” which words
threw them into the greatest com-
fusion. Such a step would have been
little short of a defiance of the Em-
peror.—See Gayangos’ Span. Cal.,
p- 112.

2 See IV. 1364.

3 April 10, IV. 1266. Compare
No. 1290.
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than she had done for a long time in favour of a joint invasion.
‘“He was unable to guess the reason, still less to reconcile her
uncertain and contradictory assertions. ” !

Meanwhile, Wolsey had not scrupled to tell the Imperial
Commissioners to their faces that he had guessed their inten-
tions. The undisguised frankness of his remarks served better
to deceive them than the most subtle artifice. He knew well,
he said, that the object of their negociations was merely to gain
time, and obtain more favourable terms from their royal
prisoner.? With the most off-hand candour he made no diffi-
culty in telling them, I know full well that we shall never
get any assistance from you ; but we shall do our best, either
by an alliance with the Turk (the Emperor’s worst enemy),
or by making peace with the French, and giving the princess
Mary to the Dauphin, or by otherwise declaring against the
Emperor.”3 He added, half in banter, half in earnest, that if
his master once joined the league in Italy, it would be an easy
matter to eject the Imperialists out of the Peninsula. To men
accustomed to hear the Emperor and his power spoken of with
bated breath, such audacity appeared incredible. To their
unfeigned chagrin and astonishment, he was in possession of
all their secrets. Through some unknown channel—probably
from Joachim himself,* who had been dismissed from England
on the 21st of March—he had learned more exactly than the
commissioners themselves the state of the negociations between
Charles and his prisoner. 'When he asked them what the
Emperor was doing, and they answered, ‘ Nothing,” “ I know
better,” replied he boldly, and then to their discomfiture
repeated to them in detail the chief points of Beaurain’s
instructions for negociating a marriage with Francis, and
another for the Emperor.® Prepared at all points, it was
impossible to take him at disadvantage. Whilst the Cardinal

was deluding them with the belief that he was eagerly bent on
war, and flattered them in their persuasion that they had
succeeded in diverting his attention from their real designs, he
was himself turning upon them their own devices. Already
he had opened negociations with the French King's mother.
Early in June the irrepressible John Joachim once more made
his appearance in London.®

! IV. p. 683. spondence with Larke, may be inferred
* See Gayangos, p. 181, April 20. from his letter in IV. p. 539,

See also IV. p. 134. $ Gayangos, p. 164,
3 Tbid., p. 134. ¢ His credence from Louise is

¢ That Joachim kept up a corre- dated June 7. See IV. 1889. How
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Such an apparition was far from welcome to the Emperor’s

commissioners. It boded no good to the Emperor’s interests.
‘“ The day before yesterday ” (22nd of June), writes La Sauch
to the Emperor, * was the anniversary of Jean Jockin’s arrival
in London. That only shows how time passes, expecially in
journeys ; and one may guess who is the cause of all this”
(Wolsey). This wily, cautious, noiseless intriguer had always
been the béte moire of the Imperialists. More than once he
had spoiled their game at the moment they imagined them-
selves sure of success. Again and again had Charles protested
against his presence in England, and charged his ambassadors
to insist on his dismissal. He was only dismissed to reappear
agein at the first opportunity that offered of urging® the
French King’s interest. His confidential communications
vith Louise augured ill for the Emperor’s projects. What
was worse, Charles could make no proposals to Francis, nor
sacrifice the interests of his English ally, without an uneasy
suspicion that his secrets were betrayed. He and Madame
Margaret, his aunt, had used their utmost skill to keep Henry
in the dark as to the Emperor’s intentions in regard to his
prisoner ; and now there was not only the danger that all
those intentions would be made known to England, but they
would be set in a light as little favourable as possible to the
Emperor’s credit.

On the day when Joachim’s arrival became known, La
8auch, the chief of the Imperial commissioners, accosted
Brian Tuke, the Cardinal’s confidential secretary, first, how-
ever, waiting to see if Tuke would introduce the subject.
“Well, what news of the sieur Jean Joakin ? What has he
to say for himself?”” La Sauch inquired with affected in-
diference. ““True, I forgot,” answered Tuke, “to inform
you of his arrival; but I will tell you all I know. Joakin
called on the Legate, and delivered his message from the
Queen Regent of France. When he had finished, the Legate
asked him, ¢ Have you anything more to say?’ *No,’ replied
Joakin. ¢ Well, then,’ said the Legate,  you may return to-
morrow the same way as you came. I have no more to say
to you. Go.” ‘But, added Tuke, as if warning his in-
long secret negociations had been strongly urged the French court to

going on with the Regent before that make terms with England without
tate cannot be determined. Doubt- delay. To lull the Emperor's sus-

i emwome considerable time. Imme- picions, it was given out that the
Gately after the battle of Pavia, Datary had entirely withdrawn from
Ghiberto, the Papal datary, had politics. See No. 1467.

VoL, 1L, )
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terrogator not to trust tod implicitly to this assurance,  people
who come on such missions don't generally disclose at their
first audience the whole of their charge, and so I cannot say
whether he will leave the next day, or whether he will not.’”?
Diplomatists of the 16:h century understood perfectly well
the worth of such oracular responses. “ I firmly believe,”
says the disconsslate ambassador, writing shortly after to his
master, Charles V., “ that the King and the Cardinal will
make peace with the common enemy (the French), without
securing for themselves a large or a little slice (pieche ni
piechette,, rather than prosecute a war requiring so great an
expenditure, and for which they are not prepared. Money
they have none; and as to getting it from the people, the
expedient has been tried, and has not succeeded.”® His
mortification was pardonable; but when he attributed the
backwardness of England to the want of money, he seems to
have forgotten that less than a fortnight before he and his
fellow-commissioners- had preferred the modest request that
Henry should lend their master 600,000 ducats—200,000 at
once, and 400,000 more in four months.® He was right in his
supposition that England would make peace with “the
common enemy,”’—whether to so little advantage as he
anticipated, remains to be seen.

The commission to Joachim and the Chancellor of Alengon
(Brinon) to treat for peace with Henry VIII. is dated the 9th
of June.* But it is clear that negociations must already have
taken place as to the terms upon which the treaty should
proceed.® The King—and clearly the King quite as much as
Wolsey now desired this alliance, out of some displeasure he
had conceived for the Emperor®—had at first demanded
Boulogne as the price of his friendship. The demand was
met with an absolute refusal, and he consented to waive that

! Gayangos, p. 208.

3 Ibid., p. 212.

* Ibid., p. 192.

¢ 1V. 1398.

* Thus the Datary writes to the
Bishop of Baycux: “I beseech you
do what. I wrote to you the other day.
More and more I sce how necessary
it is to uso diligonce. We have since
rooeived advices from England of the
14th ult. (June), which show their
minds over thore, and cspecinlly that
of the Curdinal of York, to be, I do
not sny inclined to, but ardent for an

arrangement with France. Write,
therefore, and tell the French to oon-
clude the league, and not endeavour,
on account of the good inclinations of
England, to stretch their own advan-
ﬁgsc;s too far.” July 8, 1V. 1474 and
¢ See Clerk’s letter to Wolsey, IV.
1493. Wolsey also stated to Brinon
and Joachim that ‘“the King had
found the Spaniards the most un-
grateful nation in their prosperity,
and was anxious to do what was
agreeable to France.” BSee p. 686.
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claim in consideration of a large sum of money.! Though we
have no details of the negociations, they must have advanced
with a rapidity as great as their secresy; for Sanga, the
Pope’s confidant, had, before the end of June, informed the
Bishop of Bayeux that the agreement with France was already
on the point of conclusion, although, in order the better to
dissemble the matter, Wolsey pretended that the negociations
had been interrupted.? Unconscious of what was going on,
the Imperial commissioners remained still in England, flatter-
ing themselves, and flattering Wolsey,  that everything would
come right in time ; ’®—listening to his pathetic remonstrances
that he should ever be accused of speaking ill of the Emperor ;
believing, or professing to believe, that the Cardinal was
deeply affected by his inability to regain his good-will and
affection.* On the 7th of July Wolsey went so far as to write
to the Emperor, expressing his deep affliction and regret that
the malicious reports of his enemies had supplanted him in
the Emperor’s favour ; concluding with an assurance that he
loved the Emperor, and was more ready to serve him than
any other prince in Christendom, the King, his master, only
excepted.®

1t was not until the 8rd of July that Henry communicated
the news to his ambassadors in the Imperial court.® Joachim,
he said, had brought propositions of peace from France; and
as the Emperor had confessed his inability to continue the
war, the King was inclined to accept them. In furtherance
of an object so desirable, he was willing to mitigate his
demands, and content himself with such lands and sums of
money as could be obtained from the French King by the
Emperor’s mediation. Charles listened to these communica-
tions with apparent calmness, contenting himself with ob-
serving that Joachim’s intentions were delusive, and suggesting
that it would be better to send them for further consideration
to the Impena.l court. As he had fully resolved to abandon
his marriage contract with Mary, and believed that so long as
he held Francis in captivity all arrangements would be at his
own disposal, he had no wish to complicate matters. Even if

! Ven. Cal, p. 454. year. It wasalsoarranged that Mary
* IV. 1622. The terms of the should be married to the Dauphin.—
m.ty may be seen at p. 684. The Ven. Cal, p. 4568.
most important conditions, on which 3 Gayangos, p. 222.

‘Wolsey would listen to no abatement, ¢ Ibid., p. 221.
were & sum of two millions of gold s Tbid., p. 227.
crowns in lieu of territory, 500,000 cr. ¢ 1V. 1657.

in ready money, and 100,000 cr. a
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he had, such was the state of his finances, and the unsettled
condition of Italy, that he could only bow to necessity. A
million of gold crowns with his future empress, Isabella of
Portugal, would more effectually extricate him from his
difficulties than to engage in useless struggles with England,
and equally useless remonstrances. But the possession of
the French King’s person was more a specious than a real
advantage. It armed against him all the powers of Italy. It
awakened the suspicions of England. It revived in their full
vigour the mutual rivalries of his generals, which had been
suspended for a time before the walls of Pavia. He had
promised his sister Eleanor, ex-queen of Portugal, to Bourbon,
well aware, even if she had been willing to consent, that his
subjects would never have tolerated her union with an exile
and a Frenchman, or have seen him advanced over the heads
of the native Spanish nobility. Ostensibly he had demanded
that Bourbon should be restored to his estates and his
honours. He had even gone so far as to talk of erecting
Provence and Languedoc into an independent principality for
Bourbon. But in proportion as he pressed the claims of
others, he invalidated his own; and so resolute had Francis
and his mother shown themselves from the first in resisting
any attempt at the dismemberment of France, that his only
hope of wringing the cession of Burgundy from the necessities
of his prisoner, was to abandon the claims of others, and eon-
fine himself exclusively to his own. Henceforth this became
the sole object of his thoughts. But this new conjunction of
France and England, which, in common with his ministers,
he attributed to the machinations of Wolsey, was a sore
obstacle to his designs. The alliance between the two Crowns,
already completed before it was communicated to the Emperor
—formally signed, sealed, and delivered on the 80th of August®
—was blazoned immediately over Europe. Every state that
had been wavering or hostile before, was confirmed in its
hostility to Charles. The French King and his mother, never
inclined to yield to the exorbitant demands of the Emperor,
were now more than ever confirmed in their intentions to
resist. A circumstance, however, occurred at this time fo
shake their resolution.

Two obstacles stood in the way of the new alliance. One
was the impossibility of obtaining any ratification from Francis,
who had now been carried to Spain, and to whom all acoess

1 IV. 1617.
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was denied ; the other was the difficulty of procuring a sufficient
guarantee for the fulfilment of any conditions that might be
agreed upon. It waseven doubtful how far Louise could legally
negociate whilst her son was in captivity; or how far any
peace could be binding whilst Francis was in the Emperor’s
power.! It had been proposed that certain towns should
become security for due fulfilment of the terms.? The pro-
posal was unpopular. Paris had not yet spoken, but in the
other Parliaments throughout the kingdom violent altercations
arose. * The said Parliaments,” says an unknown corre-
spondent,® ¢ expected the Three Estates of the realm to have
been assembled; which the Regent has hindered as much as
she could ; for if they had met she would have been deposed ;
for all wise men think that as & woman cannot inherit the
crown, neither ought she to rule . . . She has imposed
1,200,000 livres of additional taxes.” He adds, as a curious
illustration of the state of the times, ‘ Eight or ten days ago,
three men, clothed in black robes, and with green chaperons
over their shoulders, and horns slung from their necks, like
postmen, passed through the streets of Paris by different
routes, and met in the court of the palace. Sounding their
horns they cried aloud three times, ¢ The King of Fools 18
dead. His dolt (sotte) of a mother is mourning for him. Wise
men (les saiges) don’t dare mention it; fools only make it known.’
Jhen, scattering papers among the crowd containing these
words, they disappeared by different routes.”

The imprisonment of Francis, to any nation of less
elasticity and less recuperative energy than the French, would
have occasioned inextricable confusion and perplexity. The
prevalence of communistic notions, intimately connected with
the progress of the Reformation, was beginning to be every-
where felt and feared.* In various parts of Germany the
maintainers of these tenets had been able to hold their own
sgainst all opposition. In Flanders they were kept in check
by the vigorous measures of the Lady Margaret. How soon

! See 1V. p. 700.

t 1V. 1531.

3 1V.1635. Bee also 1365, 1759,
and 1830.

¢ In the 24 articles which *the
people of Almain desire to have
reformed,” and to * obtain which
180,000 men have already risen,”
among other articles identical with
those of the Lutheran Reformation,

are the following :—‘ That all persons
may dwell where they please, without
paying toll to the lord: That no one
be allowed to engross corn, or canse
dearth for his own profit : That the
rich help the poor, without taking any
lucre or gain from them: That such
a8 be unable to gain their living, be
supplied with what they need.” IV.
1560.
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they might have appeared in England, had the King persisted
in the ‘‘amicable grant,” and turned the commons against
the gentry, it is impossible to decide. But it would be wrong
to suppose that they were unknown here, or regarded with
little interest. In France, the absence of the King was a
signal for all the elements of discontent to rise to the surface,
or at least for the communes to strike a blow for independence.
If these attempts did not succeed, it was owing to the loyalty
of the French nobility, who rallied loyally round Louise, not-
withstanding their hatred of the Chancellor Du Prat, and
sacrificed their resentment and their ambition to their patriot-
ism. The impossibility of holding any communication with
the captive monarch, the uncertainty as to his health and the
Emperor’s intentions would have paralyzed less vigorous
counsels. On his capture at Pavia Francis was taken under
a strong escort to the fort of Pizzighettone. To ordinary
observers he had not abated a jot of his good spirits, joking
with his guard, and rallying those about him.! But a writer,
evidently friendly to the unfortunate monarch, gives a different
and more veracious account of his real feelings. He contrived
to gain admittance to the King, and even accompany him to
the chapel of the fortress, notwithstanding the jealousy of his
captors. The King wore an ash-coloured dress, trimmed with
marten skins of little value (it was the month of March),
which he had not changed since he was taken prisoner. He
stood up at the Gospel, pensively rubbing his head with his
right hand. After mass the writer managed to speak with
him privately, when the captive monarch inquired eagerly
after Albany and others. ‘I told the King,” he continues,
““that all was lost; at which he was much moved, saying
nothing else was to be expected. I added the words, ¢ I will
smite the shepherd, and the sheep shall be scattered.” Nothing
more was said. After breakfast I asked him if he had any
message for the Pope. He answered, ¢ Non altro; raccoman-
datemi a N. S. La fortuna,'—and, turning away abruptly to
the wall,” took no further notice of what was passing.?

On the 17th of May the Viceroy carried off his prisoner to
Genoa® It was at first intended to take him to Naples, but
on the 8th of June the Viceroy changed his plan, and resolved
to proceed at once into Spain; much to the dissatisfaction

! See IV. p. 533. * IV. 1219.
* IV. 1889, 1367.
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of Bourbon.! Between Bourbon and the Viceroy there never
had been any real cordiality. There never could be. Besides
the differences of nationality, the Spaniard regarded with
jealousy the favours which, as he supposed, the Emperor
lavished on the French exile ;—favours to be augmented still
more by a marriage with the Emperor’s sister. It was pro-
bably this feeling that had induced the Viceroy, before the
battle of Pavia, to recommend to Charles the advantages of
peace,—possibly also to exaggerate the difficulties of main-
taining the campaign. The great victory at Pavia—the merit
of which was mainly attributed to Bourbon—had not con-
tributed to diminish Lannoy’s jealousy of a foreign rival,
whom he was resolved, if possible, to disappoint or supplant.
All these causes concurred in making the Viceroy more favour-
able to Francis, and more lenient in the treatment of his
prisoner. It is probable, also, that the Viceroy was the first
to put the notion into the King’s head of becoming a suitor
for the hand of the Emperor’s sister ; so facilitating the terms
of his own release, and punishing the man who had been the
thief author of his misfortunes. Bourbon’s offences, come
what might, Francis had resolved never to pardon. Even before
his arrival in Spain, it is certain that Lannoy had forwarded
a love-letter from his prisoner to the widowed Queen of
Portugal,—an extraordinary act of audacity, which Charles
thought needful to rebuke, but never to punish. There is no
ground for the popular notion that Francis was treated with
unnecessary severity. Even the Emperor must have been
aware that he had to hope from the accommodating temper
of his prisoner more liberal ferms in proportion to the mildness
of his captivity. :

Starting from Villa Franca ? on the 11th of June, the fleet
with the royal prisoner on board reached Palamos, in Catalonia,
about the 17th of the same month.? By the 22nd the convoy
bad already arrived at Barcelona,* which appears to have been
reached two or three days before. Here the King suffered
from a slight attack of fever. At Barcelona—for the main
fleet was now dismissed—he embarked on a galley for Tarra-
gona. At Tarragona 500 of the Spaniards broke out into. a
mutiny against the Viceroy ; and Francis, looking out of the
window of the castle where he was confined, to discover the

! Bee his letter, IV. 1405, and 3 8ee IV. p. 636.
1439, * Captiv., p. 221,
! Ven. Cal. sub. dat.
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reason of the mnoise, narrowly escaped from the shot of a
harquebus, which passed within a hand’s breadth over his
head.! Here or in the immediate neighbourhood he remained
until the 26th, and then sailed to Valencia. He was still at
Valencia on the 28th. Wherever he touched he was received
with a kind of ovation, as if he had been a conqueror rather
than a prisoner. The municipality turned out to do him
honour ; the populace flocked about him, not only touched
by his misfortunes and the celebrity of his name, but per-
suaded of his prerogative to cure ‘‘the king's evil.” *“In
Barcelona, in Valencia, and other places of Spain where the
King has arrived,” write the French ambassadors,? *“ so vast
is the number of the sick and the scrofulous who have been
presented to the King for the touch, with great expectation of
being cured, that never even in France were such crowds
seen.” Every one was exuberant in his praises. The
graciousness of his manners raised up friends for him where-
ever he passed; and prayers were offered for his delivery.
With all his vices he was the most popular monarch in
Christendom, and possessed an inexplicable fascination of
manner which even his enemies could not resist. In the very
heart of Spain—in Madrid itself—the effect was the same.
““ The king of France,” says the Venetian, Navagero,® “ is at
Madrid, and is expected to remain there until affairs are
concluded. He makes himself so popular, and is so courteous,
gracious, and generous, that words cannot exceed it. The
Spaniards, who are not accustomed to such treatment, love
and adore him,—more, perhaps, than some people (meaning
the Emperor) would wish. Nothing else is talked of. Were
he brought to Spain again, he would come in a different
fashion, for he has so moved the hearts of all men, that what
is said about him by the Spaniards is only too extravagant.”
So great was the throng at Valencia that he was obliged
to retire to some distance in the neighbourhood.* ¢ The
French king,” writes Tunstal on the 8th of July,® “is now
in the castle of Cabanillios,® in Valencia, there to tarry three

! Ven. Cal, July 4. Captiv., had a conference with the Emperor's

p. 236. Council, in which they asked bhis
* Captiv., p. 263. Cf. p. 221. advice, whether it would not be better
3 Aug. 30: Ven. Cal., p. 475. to move the French king from Valencia
¢ Captiv., p. 236. to Castile, as being more inland, and
s IV. p. 662. because the castle of Chativa in

¢ This seems to be the same place  Valencia is not honorable for him,
as Chativa (Xativa); for he writes, being used only for malefactors and
the next day, that the day before he traitors.” IV.p. 663.
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or four days, unto he had taken a purgation, because he was
grieved by travel by sea.” Here he was visited by De Selve,
the president of Paris, on Wednesday, the 15th of July,! and
left that neighbourhood on the 20th.? On the 5th of August
he was at Santorias; and Monday after, the 7th, at Jean de
Lotera, on the road from Valencia to Madrid. He was ex-
pected in the latter place on the 12th,® having arrived already
at Guadalaxara, ‘“ a place belonging to the duke del Infantado,
one of the principal grandees of Spain.” The Duke invited
him to a sumptuous banquet, and had games performed in his
honour.* On the 14th he had reached Madrid, accompanied
on his road by the Infantado and others of the Spanish
nobility.®

Already in the first week of July, Francis had despatched
Montmorenci to the Emperor to express the desire he had of
kissing his Imperial hands, and the entire confidence reposed
by the King in the Emperor’s goodness and magnanimity.
He requested at the same time a safe-conduct for his sister,
Madame d’Alengon, to conduct the negociations in person.®
Though the last request was granted without any difficulty,
Marguerite’s safe-conduct was not signed until the 25th of
August.” 8uch a favourable opportunity of making credit out
of a very small capital was not to be lost; and as no danger
wvas to be apprehended, the tenor of these overtures was
immediately communicated by Charles to the English am-
bassadors. They were informed at their interview with the
Emperor that Francis had proposed, among other things, for
the hand of Eleanor (nothing of the kind appears in Mont-
morenci’s instructions), but his proposal had been uncere-
moniously rejected, as she had been promised already to
Bourbon. “ We told him,” says Tunstal, *“ that such a match
vas worth not only one captivity, but twice to be taken
prisoner, a8 Francis would gain more by it than if he had been
at liberty.” Of the safe-conduct for the Duchess of Alengon
they heard with ill-concealed alarm. She was a widow who
had just lost her husband—a French widow, besides, of great

'IV. p. 668. [Bee his letter, his prison admirably,and in all places

Captiv., 255. through which he passes is so well
* Captiv., 263, greeted by reason of his affability and
! Ven. Cal., 470. courtesy, that he is well-nigh adored
‘ Ibid. “The king of France,” in this country.” Ven. Cal., p. 470.
nys Navagero, writing the 12th of 8 See IV.1569. Captiv., 305.
August,  is to arrive at Madrid to-day, ¢ Captiv., p. 241.

and will remain there. . . . He bears 7 See IV. 1683—4.
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personal attractions and more than ordinary abilities. Like
her mother, Louise, she was devotedly attached to her brother,
for whose liberation she was prepared to make any sacrifice.
For a lady negociator to be mixed up in grave political trans-
actions, appeared to our serious countrymen a perilous and
portentous proceeding—they knew nothing of the progress of
negociations in England. It could be no less than a dire plot
“to wowe (woo) the Emperor for herself, and the Queen
Dowager for her brother.”! When, therefore, the plain
question was put to them, *“ Shall the Emperor grant or deny
the request ?  the point appeared too knotty for immediate
resolution. They demanded time for deliberation. Next
morning they gave in their answer—that the Duchess would
only hinder the Emperor’s profit, and comfort her brother in
his obstinacy. ¢ Besides being young and a widow, she
comes, as Ovid says of women going to see a play, to see and
to be seen, that perhaps the Emperor may like her; and also
to woo the queen-dowager of Portugal for her brother, which
no one else dares do without the Emperor’s knowledge. Then,
as they are both young widows, she shall find good commodity
in cackling with her to advance her brother’s matter; and if
she finds her inclined thereto, they will help each other.” %

As the Emperor had already made up his mind, he turned
a deaf ear to their remonstrances, regardless of the warnings of
Ovid. Though delays are proverbially dangerous, he had
hopes that by procrastination, or at least by prolonging the
captivity of Francis, he should eventually gain his end. Pro-
crastination was his habit ; and he had found it useful on
more than one occasion. He had fixed his heart on the abso-
lute surrender of Burgundy, and to this Francis would never
yield an unconditional consent. Charles knew the effect of
stringent durance in a gloomy tower upon a spirit however
lively ; or he thought he knew it. He was aware of the grief
of Louise, and her profound affection for her son; and he was
too well acquainted with what was passing in France not to be
conscious that the King’s presence would shortly be required
to stay the disaffection and disorders gaining a formidable
head by his absence. On the 21st of August, Navagero writes,®
“The Emperor is determined not to have peace without the
cession of Burgundy.” As this was not to be had, still less

! IV. p. 663. at Toledo, all the time, with the

? Ibid. Emperor.
* Ven. Cal., p. 478. Navagero was
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after the peace of England with France, there was nothing to
be done, except to wait for the coming of the Duchess.!
Margaret had started already from Aigues Mortes for
Valencia, but before she could reach Madrid Francis had
nearly slipped away from the hands of those who hated and of
those who loved him, and left them to play out the play by
themselves. In his written communications with Francis the
Emperor had shown himself friendly and courteous. On more
than one occasion he had expressed the satisfaction he felt at
the King’s approaching visit to Madrid, hoping, as he said,
that such a step would lead to a perfect understanding between
them, and end in a speedy release. He had even written to
his brother, the Archduke, to say that he and the King were
on most friendly terms.? But the moment that Francis set
foot in Madrid, he dropped all communications, and resolutely
refused to see him. “‘The King,” writes Navagero on the 80th
of August, ‘ bears his imprisonment quietly, but is much dis-
appointed. He expected, immediately on arriving in Spain,
to have an interview with the Emperor, and arrange his affairs
easily. Therefore he requested to be brought here ; but, so far
as can be seen hitherto, the Emperor does not choose to visit
him until the affairs are concluded.”® A month had passed
away, and Charles showed no signs of relenting. Hitherto
Francis had enjoyed excellent health. Now disappointment,
and the stricter confinement to which he was subjected at
Madrid, preyed on his spirits. On the 11th of September he
was struck down by a fever attended with ague. The disease
rapidly gained ground, and his life was despaired of. ‘During
the last few days,” writes the Venetian envoy, Navagero, to
the Signory,” 4 ¢ the king of France became much worse, so
that the Viceroy and physicians in attendance sent an express
{o the Emperor, stating that they did not expect him to live
more than a few hours, and if he wished to see the King alive
he must come immediately. The Emperor had already quitted
Begovia, and received the intelligence some six leagues from
Madrid, to which place he hastened immediately. On his
arrival he found the King dozing, and, not choosing to have
him roused, waited until he woke. He then entered the
chamber, and was announced to the King. As the Emperor

VIV, pp 697, 741. ¢ Sept. 21, Ven. Cal, p. 481.

2 IV, Navagero says he heard these par-

? Ven Cal., p- 476. See also IV. ticulars from those who were present
p 700. at the interview.
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approached the bed, Francis endeavoured to raise himself up
as well as he could; and, embracing his Imperial visitor, said
in French, ‘ Emperor, my lord, here am I, thy servant and
thy slave.’” The Emperor replied, ¢ Not 80 ; you are my good
friend and my brother, and I hope you will continue to be so0.”
He then begged Francis to be cheerful, and to think of nothing
but his recovery, adding that on the arrival of the duchess of
Alengon peace would be made; for he required nothing more
than what was equitable, and he supposed that the King on
his part would not fail to do what was right, and would there-
fore soon regain his liberty. To this Francis replied, It was
for the Emperor to command, as he had nothing to do but
obey.” With these words the Emperor took his leave.

“That night the King seemed to improve greatly. On the
morrow (19th September) the Emperor visited him again, using
fair and loving words, and telling Francis he was returning to
Toledo. The King made answer that he had already confessed
and communicated, and did not know what would become of
him; though he rather expected to die; at any rate, he
recommended himself to his Majesty, saying that if he lived
he would be the Emperor’s good servant, and if he died he
hoped the Emperor would not take more from his children
than was right, but protect them from harm. Comforting the
King as well as he could, the Emperor quitted the apartment,
and as he was walking about the castle, the duchess of Alengon
arrived. Advancing to meet her, he found her in tears,
ascending the stairs. He embraced and kissed her, and after
a few words conducted her to the King’s chamber. He then
mounted his horse, and went to a place two leagues from
Madrid, and on the morrow he returned to Toledo.”

On the 24th Navagero wrote again, ““ The King of France
is much worse, and news of his death is hourly expected. The
whole court is in consternation, as this event would disconcert
all projects. The Emperor, whose soul is not to be depressed
or elevated by bad or good fortune, exclaims, ¢ Dominus dedit,
Dominus abstulit, and he says he is more sorry for the King
than for anything else. On the 22nd news came that the
patient was a little better. Yesterday morning (23rd) several
posts brought word that he was at the point of death; subse-
quently, in the evening, a messenger arrived, saying the
physicians had still hopes, as they had discovered an abscess
in the King's head; and though the disorder was very dan-
gerous, it was less discouraging than seeing him lie in the last
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extremity. This morning the news is confirmed; but fresh
couriers arrive hourly, some reporting one thing, some
another.” !

During this terrible interval no one ventured to com-
municate to Louise the news of her son’s malady. When she
heard of it at last from her daughter, though the worst
symptoms were past, she gave way to a passion of grief, and,
shutting herself up in her apartments, turned a deaf ear to
all consolation. Refusing food and repose, she spent six long
days of anxious suspense in the alternations of hope and
despair, for during all that time no intelligence reached her
from Madrid.®* When at last the news of her son’s con-
valescence was confirmed she wrote to Marguerite, ¢ Daughter,
this is only to assure you of my resurrection ; for of my death
and passion I leave this messenger to tell you.” She adds, in
a postscript, I write not to the King at this time, that I may
not fatigue him, but I wish you had the ability to.make my
recommendations to him as strongly as in my heart I feel
them.”® By the 1st of October the King was so much better
that Marguerite was enabled to start the next day for Toledo ;
like a saint of old to rescue ‘‘from lymbo and from dark-

ness ’# her brother and her sovereign.®

? Tbid.,

¢ A phrase of Louise, ibid., 838.

* In his letter to the Parliament
of Paris, the president, De Belve,
gives so minute and graphic a descrip-
tion of the King’s illness and recovery,
that I cannot forbear placing the
more important passages of it before
my readers. The physicians, he says,
had given the King over, and he lay
without the least sign of animation,
neither speaking to, no:i seeing or
bearing, any person. ‘It is eight
days lineey( t. 26) that Madame
the duochess (d'Alengon) assembled
theladiesand gentlemenin attendance,
to offer up their prayers to God. All
recesived their Creator; and after-
wards mass was said in the King’s
chamber. At the elevation of the
Holy Sacrament, monsignor the arch.
bishop of Embrun exhorted the King
to look at the Holy Sacrament. On
this the King, who till then had lain
without gight or hearing, lifted up his
hands ; and, mase done, Madame the
Duchess presented the Holy Sacra-
ment for hisadoration. Incontinently

the King said, ‘It is my God, who
will heal me, body and soul; let me
receive Him.” On somebody saying
that he could not swallow the Host,
he replied, ‘Let it be done.” Then
Madame the Duchess broke off a part
of the Host, which he received with
the greatest compunoction and devotion,
not able to refrain from bursting into
tears. My said lady the Duchess
received the rest. From that hour
he continued to amend ; and the fever,
which had continued without inter-
mission three and twenty days (15 ?),
left him. Thank God, he is quite
clear of it; and nature performs all
its nataral operations, —‘tout a
Pevacuation par haut et par bas.” . . .
Some days before he became insensible
he had received the Holy Sacrament
at different times, throwing himself
out of his bed on his knees, covered
only with his shirt, asking pardon of
God, and repeating the Psalm, Ego
dizi in dimidio dierum meorum ; pro-
nouncing with great devotion the
words, Domine, vim patior, responde pro
me,” From Toledo, Oct. 1, 1525.
Captiv., p. 381.
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She was received by Charles with more than wusual
graciousness. He was delighted to see her. Expressing his
satisfaction at her brother’s recovery, and the hopes he
entertained of his friendship, he conducted her to her lodgings.
After dinner, by the advice of the Viceroy, she paid the
Emperor a visit. He desired that their conference should be
strictly private; that no one should be admitted into the
chamber, and one lady only should keep the door. “I will
let you know the result this evening,” she says in a letter to
her brother, from which these details are borrowed, ¢ but I
beg, Monseigneur, that in the presence of Larcon (Alarcon
his guard) you will put on a sad and enfeebled look, for your
debility will help my despateh.”! Conferences of this nature,
which would certainly have confirmed Tunstal in his sus-
picions of her intentions had he but known of them, took
place from day to day, sometimes in her own lodgings, some-
times in the lodgings of the Emperor. Two months passed
away in fruitless negociations. Modify the terms as she
would, the Emperor would not recede an inch from his
original demand. He would be content with nothing less
than the cession of Burgundy; and to this Francis would not
consent, except on certain conditions. Despairing of success,
Marguerite determined to leave. ‘‘She has asked for her
passport,” writes Perrenot de Granvelle to Margaret of Savoy,?
‘“and intends to return. If she persists, all hope of peace
vanishes.”® She left Toledo a few days after, and reached
Barcelona on the 16th of December.* It appears by her own
account, written to the Chancellor of Alengon, that she was
detained in Roussillon by a fall from her horse, and received
a hurt above the kmee. She complains bitterly of the
Spaniards as the greatest dissemblers in the world, taxing
them with making fair promises they never intended to
observe. The statement, sometimes denied, that Charles
wished to take advantage of the expiration of the safe-conduct
and detain her, is fully confirmed by her own letters. Not-
withstanding the apparent courtesy of the Emperor she was
forbidden to remain in her brother’s company with three of

1 Captiv., p. 342.

* Nov. 19: IV. 1775, 1780.

3 Francis, it seems, had various
relapses, real or pretended. On the
6th of October he was stated to be
worse (Ven. Cal, p. 491). On the
11th the Duchess returned to Madrid,
to visit the King, who was said to be

ill, as Tunstal reports, p. 800. On the
19th and 27th he was still very weak
(p. 766; Captiv., 387); and so on, until
the 17th of November (p. 786). His
health was not fully established until
the end of January, 1626.—Captiv.,
488.
¢ Gayangos, p. 588.
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her women ; and when she was compelled to return she was
refused an extension of her passport, that a pretence might be
found for detaining her in Spain until the truce with France
had expired. These practices compelled her to make such
diligence that she was a month on horseback, from six in the
morning until night. She had left the King in good spirits,
though all except herself had despaired of his life.!
Meanwhile the Cardinal had not failed to maintain
amicable correspondence with the Emperor, though seeking
by every possible means to counteract his designs. He re-
doubled his professions of friendship and respect. To La
Sauch, the Imperial agent, he continued to bemoan his ill
fortune that, after working so hard for the Emperor’s interests,
his services had never been duly appreciated. Owing to his
efforts the bonds of amity between the two nations had been
8o closely knitted that their friendship was indissoluble, and
yet his only reward had been to incur the Emperor’s dis-
pleasure through the report of foolish and malicious tongues.
He complained that his well-known affection for the Emperor
had not been considered as a sufficient atonement for any
offence of which he might have been unconsciously guilty.
As for the Lady Margaret, the Emperor’s aunt, there was no
lady in the world, not even the Princess Mary herself, whom
he was more willing to serve, so much did he respect her
virtues, her good sense, her prudent and honourable behaviour.?
These and similar expressions he repeated on various occa-
gions, with more or less earnestness, as the treaty with France
drew towards its conclusion, and Joachim had once more
sppeared in England. La Sauch was completely deceived.
He had persuaded himself that the uppermost feeling in the
(Cardinal’s mind was his dread of the Emperor’s displeasure.
He tells Charles that, whatever may be the source of the
Cardinal’s discontent, there can be no question that he is
marvellously affected by it. ‘I have heard him frequently
lament, with sorrow in his countenance, that, notwithstanding
the signal services rendered by him to the Emperor and their
common cause, he has never been able to gain the Emperor’s
confidence, and persuade him of his good will and unalterable
aflection.”® The arrival of John Joachim was forgotten in
these constant bemoanings of the Cardinal. *‘ Perceiving I
! Jan. 18 : p. 836. in Gayangos.

! La Sauch’s letter to Margaret, * Gayangos, p. 221.
Jue 30, and to the Emperor, July 4,
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was sent for,” says La Sauch, “ to hear from the Cardinal’s
own mouth a repetition of his grievances, I asked him whether
I might write home, and announce Joachim’s return to Eng-
land "—Wolsey had never alluded to it—‘“Oh! by all means,”
was the ready reply, ‘ we ourselves are now writing to inform
the Emperor of his arrival.”?

To wmaintain this delusion the better, or perhaps for the
sake of greater precaution—for who could tell, as events were
then moving at home and abroad, what might be the end 2—
Wolsey wrote to the Emperor on the 7th of July, deprecating
the malicious reports which had been circulated to his dis-
credit. He expressed the deepest affliction and regret that
the love he bore to the Emperor, and the constant assiduity
he had shown in promoting the Emperor's interests, had not
been sufficient to shield him from the malice of his enemies.
He loved the Emperor, he said, more than any prince in
Christendom, the King his master only excepted; and he
trusted to his generosity and clemency—virtues for which he
was renowned—to accept these professions, and not imagine
he had abandoned the sentiments of profound respect and
affection he had always entertained for the Emperor’s person,?
through passion or interested motives. Charles replied on
the 12th of August, ‘ Monsieur le Cardinal, if I have delayed
writing to you until now, it has been owing to the strange and
unaccountable proceedings of the King, my good father and
brother, towards me. I cannot, however, persuade myself
that your intentions are otherwise than upright, knowing the
care and solicitude you have always shown in our mutual
affairs.” He proceeds to urge the Cardinal to use his efforts
in maintaining their friendship ; ‘in doing which I shall have
occasion to know and appreciate your good intentions, just as
you will also judge by the signature affixed that mine are
equally good and true. Your good friend, Charles.” 3

This was the style he had always used towards Wolsey in
the height of their friendship, and he still continued to use it,
whatever may have been his real sentiments, for Charles was
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! Gayangos, p. 213.

? Ibid., p. 227.

3 Ibid., p. 286. This shows how
completely unfounded is the state-
ment of Guicciardini, so often re-
iterated, that whereas before the
battle of Pavia the Emperor did
“never send unto him any letters
but such a8 were written in his own

hand, and subscribed Your som and
cousin, Charles; after the victory be
began to cause letters to be writtea
unto bim, wherein was nothing of his
own hand but the subscription, uo
more full of titles of so great reverence
and submission, but only with his
own name,Charles.”—Fenton's Transl,
p. 662,



15325.] THE EMPEROR AND ENGLAND. 81

far too cool and too cautious to sacrifice his interests to any
needless display of resentment. Whatever might be the
feelings of both, their animosity was veiled beneath the mask
of the most punctilious politeness. Charles well knew that
Wolsey was his ablest and his most formidable opponent. He
feared not merely the Cardinal’s influence with his master,
but that unerring sagacity which pierced through every
disguise, and was not to be blinded by promises or baffled by
flattery. And the Cardinal knew well, on his part, that
Charles was the greatest obstacle to that policy he was then
attempting to establish, of balancing the two great powers of
Europe against each other. Both were fully resolved to
distrust and, if possible, counteract each other; both had
interests to secure and protect, before they ventured to com-
mit themselves to open hostilities. The Emperor was deeply
in debt to the King.! The large dowry he was to receive with
Isabella of Portugal seemed to offer an unexpected opportunity
for pressing him to make good his obligations, or at least for
recovering from him some portion of the debt, which he could
1o longer refuse on his accustomed plea of poverty.? He could
1o longer decently reply, as he had replied to Tunstal on a
former occasion, ‘“ Ofttimes bruit runneth that men be richer
than they be: howbeit the bruit that runneth upon me is
true; for I am bruited to be poor, and am poor indeed.”®
That opportunity would be lost if war were openly declared,
or overt alliance made at once with his enemies. It would
interrupt all further communication, and justify him in some
measure in repudiating his obligations. It is not my purpose
here to detail his various devices for evading payment. They
may be seen in Lee’s letters.* The temporal head of Christen-
dom, out at elbows, subjected to the inconveniences of a
common debtor, and slipping behind the door to elude his
ereditor,® might be a sight to excite pity, but was certainly not
8 sight to inspire respect; least of all in those who had lent
him the money, on his solemn promise four years before ¢ to
make repayment at the days prefixed,” and to ‘“sell his
patrimony sooner than delay payment.” But even when

!“The Emperor was bound to 1629, where other particulars of the
MY England, on June 22, 1522, Emperor'sinfraction of hisagreements
150000 cr.: two years have clapsed, are given.
wd nothing has been paid. He was * See IV. p. 741.

to pay yearly for the indemnity 3 IV. p. 662.
or. : three years have elapsed, * Bee specially IV. pp. 919, 938.
@l uothing has been paid” IV. ' IV. p. 919.
YOL. 11, [¢)
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every chance of recovering the debt had become hopeless,
other circumstances arose at this time which made it im-
politic in Henry—not a little irritated by this ignoble
mancsuvring—still more in Wolsey, to give needless offence
to the Emperor. Not only, therefore, in this year, but more
than once afterwards, he hesitated not to profess his entire
devotion to the Emperor’s service.?

To the Emperor, on the other hand, it was more agreeable
to reciprocate compliments, which cost him nothing, than
make good his pecuniary engagements with England. After
all that had passed, he could still say * he loved and honored
Wolsey as his father ; "—in July and August of 1525, because
he had not yet heard of the treaty between France and Eng-
land, and trusted by a conciliatory policy to keep the latter
from interfering with his own secret arrangements;—in
January and April, 1526, because when these arrangements
were concluded, he was afraid lest Francis, relying on the
support of England, should be induced to break them. For,
whatever liberties Charles might think fit to take with his own
engagements, he had no thought of extending the same
privilege to others. The return of the Duchess of Alengon
without her brother had thrown Louise into despair. The
prospect of her son, confined to hopeless captivity, or destined,
perhaps, to suffer a return of that disease from which he had
been so strangely and mysteriously delivered—preyed inces-
santly upon her imagination. Whatever the cost, he must be
delivered. It had now become intolerable, in her estimation,
that the surrender of a single French province should be
allowed to weigh in the scale against the life of one who was

the darling of Christendom and the salvation of his peoplet :

The increasing troubles of the kingdom, the inclination on the
part of the disaffected to employ the absence of the King as an
opportunity for inaugurating their own schemes, seemed to
justify the change in her determination; and she begged of
her son to accept the Emperor’s conditions. The report of
the arrangement got abroad as early as the 24th of December.
It was denied by Louise to the English ambassador,* was still
reported on the 4th of January, even at Rome;® and the
particulars of it had already transpired. But it was not until

! Ven. Cal., 521. 5 IV. p. 828. It was communi
? Jan. 21, 1626 : IV. p. 852. cated, no doubt, by the Papal Nuncio
3 Captiv., p. 415. in Spain, who was a strong Imperialist.

¢ IV. p. 817, 820.

—emlimeae — s .
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the 19th of December that Francis, overcome by her impor-
tunities, or sick of languishing in hopeless captivity, empowered
his ambassadors to accept the treaty of Madrid, which was
signed on the 18th of January, 1526.!

It appears from the information furnished by the English
ambassadors, that the final negociations for the treaty had
commenced shortly after the 2nd of December. On the part
of the Spaniards they were chiefly conducted by Don Hugo de
Moncada and the Viceroy, and by De Tarbes for the French.
In five or six days * the practice of peace began to be fervent,
in secret manner,” the ministers on both sides saying it was
sure to take place, considering the Emperor’'s necessity and
the French King's desire of liberty. The arrangements were

i already completed before the 20th of December,? though “ to
make a face,” & rumour was spread on the 2nd of January
that “ some difficulties had been raised.” There were reasons
on both sides why such an arrangement, which involved the
cession of Burgundy by the French, and the hand of Eleanor
by the Spaniard, should not be disclosed without some show
of difficulty and reluctance. Francis had registered a solemn
vow that nothing should induce him to part with an inch of
French territory. The honour of the Emperor was equally
pledged to keep his promise to Bourbon. To save appearances,
his ministers even pretended to risk his displeasure by remon-
strating ¢‘ that he had allured Bourbon out of France only by
hope of that marriage.” The consent of the parties most con-
cerned in the arrangement never troubled the thoughts of
either Sovereign ; and in this chaffering of crowned heads the
inhabitants were no more consulted whether Burgundy should
belong to France or the Empire, than they have been consulted
on similar occasions. As for Bourbon, who some time before
had left Italy for Spain to claim the Emperor’s sister—he did
not understand Charles so well as Wolsey understood him—
When the articles of the treaty had passed the Council, great

! That Louise was fully acquainted
With the arrangement is clear from

1 See the full powers given by
Francis to the Archbishop of Embrun,

lotter to Montmorenci of the 16th
December, published in Captiv.,
431. At that date the Duchess
not joined her. It is hard to
ist the impression that when
ite pretended to those about
that she was compelled to leave
vrid re snfocta, she was aware of
» whole intrigue, and possibly a
ime agent in it.

Jean de Selve, and Bryon, Louise’s
ambassadors with the Emperor, to
surrender Burgundy, etc., a8 demanded
by Charles, as the King could in no
other way obtain his liberty. They
are dated Dec. 19, Captiv. p. 441.
Francis undertakes to fulfil these
obligations within six weeks after his
restoration, and give his two sons as
seourity.
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recompence was offered him, first by the Imperial ministers,
afterwards by the Emperor himself; ‘ which overture,” says
Tunstal, * we hear, made him much to muse, feeling himself
frustrate of his chief hope. But hearing the Emperor’s neces-
sities explained to him, he said at last, with his tongue, he was
content ;—whether he was 8o in his heart or not.”?

The Emperor’s treatment of his royal prisoner had never
been generous. Even after the treaty was signed, Francis
was as strictly guarded as before. If he accompanied the
Emperor on a party of pleasure, or was taken by him on a
visit to his future queen, Eleanor, a numerous body of horse
and foot reminded him that he was still suspected and his
movements controlled by his Imperial brother-in-law.® As he
approached the frontier under the conduct of the Vieeroy,
these precautions were redoubled. At St. Sebastian he was
not permitted to leave his chamber.? As his guards drew near
to Fontarabia notice was given on the 26th of February that
no one, on any pretence whatever, should linger in the neigh-
bourhood where the deliverance was to take place. The
Emperor had kept the King company to Tierras, where they !
were joined by his sister, on the 20th. On the 26th they pro- |
ceeded in the same carriage to Iliesca.* Here the Emperor
and King of France took leave of her, the King pursuing his
route to Fontarabia. Two boats met for a moment in the mid-
stream of the Bidassoa. As the King stepped from his boat
into the one appointed to carry him to the opposite shore, the
Dauphin and the Duke of Orleans stepped at the same time
from theirs—he for France, they for Spain.® ‘ When the day
came of his delivery,” says Hall—who seems to have received

! IV. p. 853.

* “They had oftentimes alone in
secret very long discourses. They
went together in one coach to a castle
half a day’s journey from thence,
where was queen Eleanor, whom the
King contracted. And yet, notwith-
standing all these great signs of peace
and amity, he was no less straitly
guarded than before, without having
any more liberty; so that at one and
the same time he was embraced as a
brother, and guarded as a prisoner.”
Guicciardini, p. 676.

? Yet it was at St. Sebastian that
he wrote a letter to Charles, stating
that he hoped in a few days, on gain-
ing his deliverance, to confirm the
treaty between them, and asking that

Eleanor might be sent after him
La Captiv., 517.

¢ See p. 893. Captiv., p. 518.

8 Taylor saw the two children jush &
before they were delivered. :
dining with Louise, who was bringisg 3
them to the frontier, he was takea 0
see “the Dolphin and his brother .
Henry; the which both did embrss -
me, and asked me of the welfare ssd
prosperity of the King’s hij wd:
your Grace (Wolsey), and desired m#
that in my writings I shounld lowly
commmend them to the King's highoest
and your Grace. Verily, they b
two goodly ohildren. The gﬂ'_-
godson (Henry) is the quicker spiried ~3
and bolder, as seemeth by his b+ =
haviour.” IV. p. 896.
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his account from an eyewitness—*‘he was discretely moved
that he should not speak to his children, for fear that lamen-
tation and sorrow might in such wise rise, that hurt might
ensue of it. . . . There was between the borders of France
and Spain a lake of no great deepness, in the midst whereof
was laid a great empty boat at an anchor, and at every (each)
shore was another boat ; and when the French king was come
to the bank he entered a boat on the Spanish side, and six
Spaniards with him ; and likewise on the French part, the
two princes, sons to the French king, entered the other boat,
and six Frenchmen with them, and so both the boats came to
the boat lying in the midst. The French king entered at the
one end, and his children at the other, and passed through the
great boat ; and even in the midst of the boat they met, and
he with his hands blessed them, without speaking of any word
but sadly regarded them ; and so he entered into the boat with
the Frenchmen, and his children into the boat with the
Spaniards.”' They were handed over to the Viceroy, and by
him delivered to the Constable of Castile.?

Charles, always on the alert, had given strict injunctions

to De Praet, his ambassador

' IV. p. 711. This is also the
account given by the English ambas-
sador, Taylor; except that Taylor
says, that the King embraced his
sons. See IV.869. Theriver referred
to is the Bidassoa, between Font-
arabia and Andaye. Francis dined
the same day at St. Jean de Lns, and
urrived at Bayonne at three in the
afternoon. Bee De Selve’s letter, in
Captiv., 519. By anotheraccount we
learn that the Viceroy and the Con-
sable of Castile attended in the
King’s boat, and Lautrec oconduoted
the French princes. The delivery
took on Saturday, the 17th of

on which day the King dined

at 8t. Jean de Lusz, and immediately
afterwards rode to Bayonne. See
Captiv., 521, 522. The Spaniards
Rpwttbatwhen the boat neared the
shore, Francis leaped into the water
up to his knees, mounted a horse with-
out stopping, and rode off to St. Jean
de Lus. Och. de Ysasaga to Charles,
in Gayangos, p. 615. The same corre-
spondent states that upon hearing the
report of the King’s delivery, he
for Bayonne, and met the
oo the road, between one and
in the afwmoon. He was riding

35’{

with Louise, to make diligent

post, both sides of the road from St.
Jean de Luz being lined with people
from the neighbouring towns. Behind
him came two companies of infantry,
with colours flying, then the archers
of the guard, 400 in number. Henri
d’Albret rode by his side, conversing
with him all the way. He left
Bayonne on Tuesday, the 20th, for
Bordeaux ; to be as far as possible, it
was thought, from the Spanish frontier;
for when he leaped from the boat he
gave no signs of waiting for the ex-
change and other ceremonies to be
performed according to the treaty,
but rode off as fast as he could. . . .
Till the very day of the Dauphin’s
and his brother’s departure, it was
confidently affirmed that the Dauphin
alone would go to Spain, accompanied
by twelve French nobles. But it
would appear that as some of them
hesitated, and others were not inclined
to go, the King said, in a passion,
“Let my two sons go at once;” and
they were accordingly sent to the
frontier. Ibid. The Spanish animus
and exaggeration are very noticeable
in this account.
3 Captiv., p. 518.
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inquiry respecting the hostages. To prevent deception, he
was ordered to watch narrowly the features of the two young
princes, with whose physiognomy the Viceroy was not ae-
quainted. The moment that Francis touched the French
s80il ! De Praet was to demand of him the ratification of the
treaty for the cession of Burgundy, to the command of which
the Grand Master of Spain?® had been appointed already. As
Francis landed on the opposite bank, the ambassador ap-
proached to fulfil his instructions. He was waved off by the
King, who was impatient to be gone, dreading the chance of
recapture ;—not without reason, if it be true what the Grand
Master told Taylor, ¢ that the Emperor had sent a man in
all speed to stop the French king at Fowntraby, who arrived
in less than three hours after the King had passed the water.” *
De Praet did not fail to renew his application a few days after.
On the 8rd of April, at Montmarchant, in company with
Penalosa, he again urged upon Francis to confirm his e:
ments. The King demanded their credentials; if they had
any authority they should come on the morrow, and his
Council would give them their answer. * 8ir,” said De Praet,
taken somewhat aback at this suggestion, ‘‘these things
concern your own deed, and require no counsel. Ye have
promised to perform them as soon as ye come into your
realm.” The King replied that * he had learned this lesson
in Spain of the Emperor, for there was never an article in
the treaty of peace but he had with his Council well examined,
discussed, and determined to his most profit, where he (the
King) had nother counsel, nor was in liberty to dispute it.
Wherefore now he would as well use his own counsel in the
confirmation of the same, as the Emperor did in the making.” ¢
The news of the King’s liberation, and his arrangement
with the Emperor, were received with no little consternation.
It seemed as if the highest aspirations of the Emperor’s
ambition were now on the point of being realized. He was
not merely relieved of his most formidable enemy, whose
opposition was neutralized by the treaty of Madrid, but he
was in effect monarch of all Italy; in other words, he was
sole monarch of Christendom, with the Pope for his vassal.
The Italian states had reasor to dread his resentment. They
were now actively banded against him, waiting only for the
King of England to join them as Protector and Conservator of

! IV. p. 893. Captiv., p. 518. S IV.p.949. |
* IV. p. 891. ¢ Taylor to Wolsey, April 4.
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the League. But whilst the Cardinal was anxious to further
the designs of the Confederates, and encouraged them to the
best of his power, he had no wish, after his recent experience,
to commit this country to war, with an exhausted exchequer—
still less to a war for the independence of Italy, from which
England could derive no immediate advantage.! There were
other though less ostensible reasons which induced him to
prevent the Pope from uniting himself with the Emperor—
reasons which I shall have to notice hereafter. It was enough
for his present purpose if, without commencing open hostilities,
he could restrain the Emperor’s ambition; above all things,
prevent him from making a personal descent into Italy. It
equally suited the interests of Charles to maintain in appear-
ance his amity with England. It was his best means for
neutralizing the efforts of the League, and avoiding a danger
that now threatened him from a very different quarter. This
was the aggression of the Turks.

His sister Mary was married to Lewis, the unfortunate
King of Hungary. Intelligence had reached him, as early as
February, that the Turk was making great preparations to
cross the Danube and attack Buda.? In March the reports,
at first little regarded, spread with augmented celerity, leaving
no room for doubt. The Turk had built bridges at Nicopolis ;
had loaded 100 camels with chains for that purpose; had
oollected a numerous fleet; had issued a proclamation *that
none of the country people should sell victuals.” Whilst he
thus pushed on his arrangements for invasion with the greatest
rapidity, Lewis lost time by his feebleness and indecision. It
was proposed that one-half of the Hungarians should be sent
b0 the frontier, and the other half assembled in a diet, armed
tnd furnished with provisions. But Lewis, ill supplied with
money, fearing a conspiracy, and distrusted by his subjects—
the chronic disorder of elective monarchies—could not be
persuaded to move from Buda. He told the papal Nuncio, to
vhom we owe these particulars, that he was more afraid of

. ' “This is as mach,” says Wolsey,

® the King can do at present, till
be can find opportunity to accept the
nid protection. It would not be
Mesomable that he shounld leave one
W and enter another, jeopardizing
the goods of his subjects in the Em-
Peror’s country, and the three millions
oved him by the Emperor. It would
b a0 inestimable loss to make such
8 declaration of war, without some

device for getting hold of such goods
and debts, and without some honest
justification preceding, as well towards
Almighty God, as to the King’s sub-
jects and all the world ; so as, if his
Grace should break with the Emperor
hereafter, it may appear that the same
8 not done but upon just ground and
cause reasonable.” Wolsey to Taylor,
May 4, IV. p. 962.
3 IV. pp. 888, 909.
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the Turks of Hungary than of the Turks of Turkey; and he
received for answer that negligence and procrastination were
worse Turks than either. Insubordination, in the court and
out of it, hindered his attempts for presenting a united front
to the enemy. His Queen opposed the project of a diet; or
insisted, if it must be held, on being present at its delibera-
tions. Both of these claims were impracticable. Counts and
bans abandoned their posts. The soldiers murmured for want
of pay. The princes wasted time in mutual recriminations,
or accused the King of not listening to their advice. He
retorted that he had followed their advice only too faithfully
already, and lost all. *‘ The King,” says the Nuncio, ““is dis-
liked universally. There is no preparation, no order; and,
what is worse, many have no wish to defend themselves.”?!
Paul Tomori, the brave Archbishop of Colocza,? who alone of
all the Hungarian nobles was animated with disinterested zeal
in behalf of his country, had proceeded to the defence of Peter
Varadin, when the attack of the Turk was expected. Strange
as it may appear, Lewis and his court, confiding implicitly in
this man’s sagacity, courage, and fidelity, wasted the time in
false security, squandering the little treasure that remained
in feasting and dissipation, providing neither arms nor am-
munition against the ememy. He had been persuaded, in
common with the rest, that the report of the approach of the
Turks was a groundless alarm ; and any interruption in their
vast preparations was instantly seized upon as a sufficient
excuse for abandoning all necessary precautions. The King
had left the Archbishop to defend the border fortresses,
especially that of Peter Varadin, the most important, with
only a handful of soldiers. The letter addressed by him to
the King on the 5th of July, a few weeks before the fatal
battle of Mohatz, details in vivid language the incredible
neglect and apathy with which the Hungarians awaited the
approach of their active and enterprising enemy. He tells
the King that the report sent by the Ban of Jaycza of the
retreat of the Turks was unfounded ; that three days since
they had entered Belgrade, and had pitched their tents on the

! IV. 925,

* The Archbishop, according to
Palma, had formerly been a soldier,
and, although renowned for his
bravery and military skill, had, in
disgust with the world, retired into a
Franciscan oconvent. Lewis made
him Archbishop of Colocza; and as

no Hungarian nobleman could be
found who was willing to undertake
the perilous and fatiguing duty of pro-
teoting the frontier from the Turks,
the Archbishop had been selected for
that post.—See Palma, Rerum Hung,
Not., ii. 577.
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bank of the Save, numbering more than 8,000. If his Majesty,
he says, has any one who understands the ground, he will
comprehend how large !a tract of land is occupied by the
encampment of the Janissaries. The Turk, he adds, is work-
ing with great ardour, and is only waiting for his guns to
push forward. It was too late to follow his Majesty’s instruc-
tions, and prevent the enemy from crossing the Save, for the
Archbishop was not in a condition fo resist his advance, or
obstruct the passage of the Save or the Danube. The month
was drawing to a close; no assistance had come, and the
forces under his command were ready to disperse. He has
no money, and even if the goods of the Church were placed at
his disposal, there was no one to coin them or take them in
pledge. The sailors, he continues, have nothing to eat; they
have received no wages, and without speedy relief he will not
be able to remain at his post. Part of the forces had left the
camp to assist in gathering wood, and reaping the harvest,
whilst the shepherds had left their flocks to tend the vine-
yards. The Rascians had abandoned the harbour in a body
for want of proper instructions; and as the King had sum-
moned all forces to the diet the Archbishop had no reserves at
his command. The march of the Turk thus left free and
unimpeded was not marked by any disorder. Steadily and
surely he advanced to his purpose. He thinks nothing, says
the unfortunate Archbishop, of taking this castle (Peter
Varadin) as & morning snack, and will break his fast upon
it, unless your Majesty by timely provision make it too hard
for his digestion.! The papal Nuncio (Del Burgo), who was
not liked by the Hungarians, is equally candid, but more
terse. He saw clearly the result. ‘‘No order,” he says, *“is
taken here, and everything is desperate. This year so much
only of Hungary will remain as the Turk may choose to spare.
I is possible he may content himself for the present with so
much of it as lies between the Save and the Drave, but next
spring he will occupy the rest. The case is hopeless. There
i8 nothing here ready for war: no captains, no money, no
Plans, no obedience, no ships, no provisions. The army has
ot yet assembled (July 10); and when it does, it will do
Rothing ; for it is disorderly and without pay. It will remain
ten or fifteen days, and then disperse in search of food.”
He wrote again on the 6th of August: ‘The bishop of
Bosnia arrived here from the archbishop of Colocza, and
1 IV. p. 1088. 1 IV. p. 1085.
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stated that on Sunday, 15th July, the Turks attacked the
castle (of Peter Varadin) and a ford at the same time, about
the first hour of the day. The besieged killed, as they say,
more than 1,000 Janissaries. Those stationed at the ford
with no more than 60 small vessels, called Nazade, sunk a
great Turkish ship, and slew many of the enemy. . . . The
battle was maintained on both sides till night-fall. During
the night the Archbishop resolved to abandon the ford of
Varadin, and retreat to another, two miles distant, finding it
impossible with his few ships to resist the Turkish fleet, con-
sisting of 100 ships, 23 galleys, and other vessels. On Monday
following the Turks drew off from the ford, allowing the
Hungarians to water at the Danube. On Tuesday the attack
was renewed, the Turks supposing they could easily succeed
in capturing the fort on account of the lowness of the walls,
but after fighting all day they were driven off and many of
the Janissaries slain. On Wednesday they began to batter it
on four sides, night and day. . . . The Archbishop thinks
he can hold out for eight or ten days, and asks the King for
10,000 men with whom he will attack the Turkish army,
retake the ford, and succor the besieged. . . . We are in much
fear for Peter Varadin, as the King cannot relieve it, for he
has neither ships nor infantry. Everything between the Save
and the Drave must be reckoned as lost. Lewis will make a,
stand at the Drave, and perhaps protect the ford ; but this
will not be easy, considering his plans and his poverty.”! On
the 8rd of August the Turks again attacked Peter Varadin,
and were repulsed with great slaughter. As their corpses
filled the ditches, the besieged could not approach them for
the stench. After the castle had been blown up by a mine,
the garrison continued to fight in the courtyard, until the
blood of Turks and Hungarians reached to their knees. Of
the 1,000 brave defenders in the castle ninety saved their
lives by mounting the belfry of the church, which alone
remained uninjured of all the buildings. As they continued
to defend themselves with the greatest intrepidity, the Turk
allowed them to retire unhurt, but cut off the heads of the
wounded, and flung them into the Danube. The loss of Peter
Varadin was followed by that of the neighbouring fortresses,
and the whole of Hungary was now laid open to the enemy,
without further opposition.

Meanwhile, after assembling what forces he could at Tolna,

1 IV. p. 1068, et seq.
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Lewis advanced towards the Turks in the direction of Mohatz.
Trusting to the fidelity of the Ban of Croatia and the Bishop
of Zagrab, it was his intention, in the event of defeat, to retire
upon Illyria. His troops at the most amounted to no more
than between 20,000 or 80,000 ;! the Turks, to 800,000 men,
of whom 70,000 were trained soldiers. Even at this late hour
Lewis might have escaped the danger, had he been willing to
wait for the reinforcements of Dalmatians, Bohemians, and
others who were hastening to his assistance.? But, spurred
on to his fate by the taunts of his nobles and the insubordina-
tion of his troops, he gave battle to the Turk on the 29th of
August. The advantage at first rested with the Hungarians ;
but drawn by their impetuosity into an ambush, and exposed
on both sides to the fire of the Turkish artillery, they were
thrown into confusion, and the rout became general. As the
King in his flight was crossing a swamp of no great depth, his
horse fell under him, in its attempt to mount the opposite
bank ; and Lewis, pressed down by the weight of his armour,
was smothered in the mud. The Hungarian infantry was
slain to & man. Many bishops and most of the nobility
perished.® Though the Turk had not come to spoil, he carried
off 8,000 boats laden with plunder, chiefly bells of brass, and
iron goods. Among the prisoners were 5,000 Hungarians,
and 80 ships filled with Jews.*

If the misfortunes of men and nations are to be scanned
with philosophic impartiality, it cannot be questioned that the
terrible defeat sustained by the Hungarians was due entirely
to their own misconduct. It was the necessary consequence
of that demoralization and disorganization which, spreading
from nobles and sovereign to the people, had sapped the
foundations of empire, and left them an easy prey to their

1 A Torkish letter states that
Lewis marched from Buda with 150,000
horse and foot, and 800 guns. But
this is a mere Oriental exaggeration.
Bee IV. 2464.

2 The Nuncio states that the
Hungarians, hearing that a8 Transyl-
vanian force of 15,000 horse was
ooming to their assistance, and also
the Emperor's brother (Ferdinand)
with 2,000 horse and 6,000 foot,
trusting too much to theirownstrength,
wished to gain all the glory to
themselves. He states further that
in the battle almost all the Hungarian
foot, consisting mainly of Germans,

Bohemians, and Moravians, deserted.
Of the cavalry 15,000 or 20,000 were
illed, and about 20,000 or 25,000
en put to death by the Turks after
the victory. See IV.p.1117. Heis
not a favourable witness; yet such
were the intrigues of the Hungarian
nobility, and such the temptations of
elective monarchy, that there is strong
reason for believing that treachery to
the last had no small part in this un-
happy defeat. See IV. p. 1127.
8 See IV. p. 1114, especially Nos.
2608, 2564, 2688, 2589, and 2601.
¢ IV. p. 1146.
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enemies—enemies they had learned to neglect and despise.
A rapacious aristocracy, concerned only in advancing their
own interests, and regardless of the honour of their country;
a people insubordinate and restless ; a sovereign abandoned to
ease and pleasure, retiring from the fatigue of public duties
to solace himself with idleness and amusements ;—these were
the true enemies of Hungary. If it had not fallen at Mohatz,
it must still have fallen from its own innate weakness and
corruption. So far the victory of the Turks was a blessing
rather than a curse. It was a sharp and severe remedy for
evils nothing else would have cured, and for vices nothing less
bitter than adversity could eradicate. But this was not the
spirit in which Christendom regarded an event which sent
into all hearts a thrill of anguish, horror, and remorse.
Christians only beheld in that defeat, as in the loss of Rhodes,
the victory of God’s enemies, & victory to which they them-
selves had contributed by their own sins and selfish dissen-
sions. They saw in it the defeat of the true soldiers of the
Cross by the hands of the Infidels. The hand of God was
against them. The ancient spirit of Christendom and the
last remains of Christian chivalry were dying out. Popes and
kings wept; old men sighed heavily, for the glory was depart-
ing from Israel.! The Moors had risen in Spain ; the Germans
and the Spaniards were plundering the patrimony of Sf.
Peter ; the followers of Luther were carrying fire and devas-
tation throughout Germany, destroying images, burning
churches, putting bishops and nobles to, the sword. Princes
engrossed with their own selfish plans of aggrandizement,
were no longer concerned in maintaining the Faith. Every-
where the horizon was clouded ; the old world was setting in
blood, the new world was rising in disorder and confusion.
And as the shadows are darkest before dawn, uncouth and
weird-like, so the new dawn that followed was in some respects

! Henry VIIL wrote to the Pope  Clerk to Wolsey, p. 1128. “It ism

that he could not help shedding tears
when he heard of the fate of Hungary.
IV. p.1145. “Onreceipt of the news
from Hungary, the Pope convoked all
the cardinals and ambassadors, and
was with us more than four hours,
beseeching us, with tears, to exhort
our princes to make a truce.” Ibid.,
p- 1119. “Tidings have come of
Hungary—God forbid they should be
true !—that the Turk had stricken
battle, and taken the King prisoner.”

chance, now and then, to talk wi
many an inflicted and sorrowful good
Christian, who call upon me to exhort
the King and yon, as they in whom is
now the only help and stay of
Christendom. . . . They join the
danger of the Turk with the cruel and
insatiable ambition of the Spaniards,
from whose fatal and bewitched
successes they look for no better than
they have found in times past.” Same
to Wolsey, p. 1158.
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more dark, more grotesque and superstitious, than the night
which preceded it.

It may seem remarkable that a nation like the Spaniards,
priding itself more than any other on its punctilious sense of
honour, and its devotion to the Catholic Faith, should, more
than any other, have shown an implacable animosity against
the Pope, and been guilty of the most detestable treachery.
Bat the long and disastrous wars in Italy had been attended
with the most demoralizing effects to all parties engaged in
them. The sufferings of the Italian peasantry from the
Imperial soldiers, and the misery of the population in general,
surpass description. The whole country was given up to
plunder. Life and property were equally insecure from reck-
less marauders, whose insolence and licentiousness their own
officers were neither able nor willing to restrain. The in-
sufficient sums sent by the Emperor for his army in Italy
were diverted from their proper destination by the peculation
of those to whom the money was entrusted. Badly and
irregularly paid, when paid at all, officers and common soldiers
threw off the restraints of discipline. For the losses they
sustained by the irregularity or diversion of their pay they
more than repaid themselves by plunder and exaction. Both
were alike indifferent whether their object was attained by
force or by fraud. From real or pretended disaffection o the
Emperor, the Marquis of Pescara, who had distinguished
himself by his activity and his valour at the siege of Pavia,
bad contrived to insinuate himself into the confidence of
Morone, the secretary of the Duke of Milan, and then, to
enhance his favour with the Emperor, betrayed his dupe.
Don Hugo de Moncada, who succeeded Pescara, was guilty of
& more abominable treachery, which must be noticed at
greater length. Hitherto the affairs of the Holy League had
proceeded unprosperously. The Duke of Urbino, the com-

mander of its armies, either from incompetence, or, as some
thought, from unwillingness to increase the power and in-
fluence of the Pope, failed to prosecute the war with vigour,
or attack the enemy at manifest advantage. None of the
confederates were hearty in the common cause ; not one had
joined it with any other purpose than the hope of advancing
his own interests, or wringing the best terms for himself out
of the desperation or necessities of the Emperor. There was
in consequence no unity of plan, and no heartiness of co-
operation. The Venetians, on whom the burthen chiefly fell
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of providing money and troops, were hampered by those
maxims of frugality which always prevent small states under
republican government from providing adequate supplies in
great emergencies. Doubting, distracted, intimidated by
turns, uncertain alike of the intentions of his French ally and
of his Imperial enemy, the Pope followed divided counsels,
and by his real or apparent vacillation undermined all con-
fidence and all enthusiasm for his cause. Francis 1., who
had professed to espouse the cause of the League with ardour,
on his release from captivity, was now satisfied to use it solely
as an instrument for bringing the Emperor to better terms,
and obtaining more easily the liberation of his children. It
was enough for his purpose if he could keep the League on
foot by fair promises he never intended to fulfil, and regulate
his support of it as best suited his diplomatic relations with
the Emperor.! When, however, Charles refused all accom-
modation, and insisted on the precise fulfilment of the treaty
of Madrid, no other course was open to Francis except to join
heartily with the Pope and the Venetians. But he wasted the
time in hunting and amusements, abstained from all business,
was unwilling or unable to prosecute the war with vigour,
or furnish the necessary supplies of men and money. From
the first Henry had declined to join the confederates, reserving
for himself the opportunity when he should openly espouse its
cause, and set the Emperor at defiance. He still ostensibly
professed to believe that he should obtain some portion at
least of the sums he had lent to Charles in the days of his
necessity.? Whether Wolsey was compelled to shape his
present policy from circumstances over which he had no
control, and from causes other than political—whether he
thought that if the Pope became too strong he would also
become more independent and less pliable, must be left to
conjecture. As will be seen presently, he had strong reasons
for not needlessly aggravating the Emperor. He had reasons
equally strong for preventing his reconciliation with the Pope.

Hampered by many difficulties, uncertain of the future,
willing, if possible, to retrace his steps, dreading the rough

! Gayangos’ Span. Cal., iii. pp. adding, that before his King made
681, 685. the Emperor his enemy, he must

* When the Venetian agent urged  wait for the reply of his ambassadors
the King's entry into the League at at the Imperial court. Spinelli to

once, Wolsey fenced off his request the Signory, Aug. 17: Ven. Cal.,
by the line in Horace— p. 596.

‘Est modusin rebus, sunt certidenique
fines,”
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temper of Don Hugo de Moncada and his troops, the Pope had
resolved to secure himself, as far as possible, from immediate
danger, by making terms with the Colonnese, the chief
adherents of the Imperial faction. He consented to pardon
Cardinal Colonna and his confederates on their pledging
themselves not to make war on the Estates of the Church.t
To this arrangement Don Hugo de Moncada had been a
party, and in the faith of it the Pope had laid down his arms
and dismissed his forces. What remains to be told shall be
told in the words of the Spaniard himself, communicated to
Alonzo Sanches, the Imperial ambassador at Venice. ¢ See-
ing,” he says, ‘“the condition of the Emperor’s affairs in
ltaly, the difficulty of procuring the money required for the
troops, and the fear that when reinforcements came it would
be too late, especially if the French make a descent upon
Raly, I (Moncada) have come to a resolution, with the
Cardinal Pompeio Colonna and the rest of the Colonnese, to
help and assist the Imperial cause on our own responsibility.”
“For this purpose,” he adds, ‘“‘a truce has been concluded
between the Pope and the Colonnese, that the Pope having laid
dwn his arms, may be taken thereby unawares. For his
Holiness, considering himself safe in that quarter (from the
Colonnese), knowing also that the governors of Naples have no
wish to make war upon him, and imagining therefore that no
serious invasion of the Roman territory is to be apprehended,
congiders himself so far secure that he has kept only 200 foot
and 100 horse at Rome.” The better to carry on this deceit,
wldiers were enlisted by Ascanio Colonna, under the pretence
of marching to Sienna. ¢ But although the councillors of
Naples believe—and we have told them so—that these forces
are destined for Sienna . . . . our intention is to attack Rome;
ud we have accordingly 800 horse and 2,000 foot paid by
Naples, 2,000 recently levied in the Abruzzi, and 1,000 under
tardinal Colonna.” ?

The plot met with eminent success. On the night of the
3th of September, Moncada arrived with his allies and
(ardinal Colonna before the walls of Rome, and seizing three

_ of the gates, entered at break of day by St. John of the
. Lateran, The Spaniard continued his advance unperceived

! ! Gayangos’ Span. Cal., p. 850. discreetly silent on the most dis-
! Ibid., p. 898. See also another creditable part of this transaction;
ierof Moncada on the same subject nor is the omission supplied by his
RIV.p. 1111. Father Sarpi, in his commentator, Courayer.
of the Council of Trent, is
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to the church of 8t. Cosmo and St. Damian. The inhabitants
scarcely awake, were taken unprepared. As infantry an¢
cavalry defiled along the streets, the people looked on withoul
any attempt to oppose them. Wholly indifferent to what was
passing, artizans left their shops to gaze upon the troops as
they pressed forward towards the bridge of San Sisto, and
made their way to the Janiculum. At this point Pompeic
Colonna sent a trumpeter to different quarters of the eity, t
proclaim that no person had the least occasion for apprehen-
sion, as the only motive of the invaders for taking arms was tc
deliver the Roman people from the tyranny of the Pope.!
“No one stirred,” says Sir Gregory Casale, who was
present, ¢ except some few friends; and the good Colonnese,
with 600 horse and 6,000 foot, of which there were not 2,000
that were not of the rabble, marched through Rome, with only
a slight resistance at the gate of San Spirito.”? ¢ About
dinner-time,” says another eyewitness, ‘‘all the inhabitants
remaining quiet, the Colonnese passed the Sistine bridge, and
made for the old town ; then breaking down the bridge of San
Spirito, which leads to the old suburb of St. Peter’s, they
marched straight forward, when the Pope fled to 8t. Angelo.”®
The Pope called in vain for succour, but no succour came:
neither people nor cardinals stirred to his relief.* Hopeless
of aid, he resolved, after the example of his predecessor Boni-
face, to face death in his chair, arrayed in his pontifical vest-
ments. Scarcely had he been persuaded by the cardinals to
abandon his resolution, and withdraw about five o’clock into
the castle of St. Angelo, when Don Hugo arrived with his
soldiers and the rabble. They sacked the Pope’s palace and
the neighbouring houses of the cardinals, the ambassadors, and
the nobility, without distinction. The church of St. Peter was
rifled of its ornaments, and the host profaned. *‘Never,” says
Casale, ‘“was so much cruelty and sacrilege seen.”® §t.
Angelo was not prepared for a siege. As it had no store of
ammunition or provisions beyond three days’ supply, no
alternative remained except for the Pope to make terms with
his conqueror. But Moncada had already secured his object.
He was well aware that Charles had no desire to reduce the

! Buonaparte, p. 190, in the Col. write,” says Lee, “that the soldiers

of Buchon. put the copes upon their backs, and
2 IV. p. 1120. mitres on their heads, which savoured
3 IV. p. 1132. more of paynims than of good Christian
¢ IV. p. 1120. men.” p. 1158.

5 1V. p. 1120 and p.1182. ¢‘Some
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Pope to extremities.! His object was sufficiently gained, if
the Pope, who was of a weak and timid nature, feared but did
not feel the force of the Emperor’s resentment. Therefore he
readily consented to an interview, much to the disgust of
Cardinal Colonna, who entertained more fierce and ambitious
designs. Moncada entered the Castle with a modest suite,
made the profoundest obeisance to the Pope, restored to his
hands the silver crucifix and pontifical mitre which had been
slen by the soldiers, apologized for their rudeness and
licence, and with all the suave dignity of a Spanish nobleman,
and the filial submissiveness of a good Catholic, besought
His Holiness to renounce his opposition to the Emperor, from
whose piety, justice, and moderation nothing else was to be
erpected than the peace of Christendom and the security of
the Holy See. *“ His victorious arms,” quoth the Spaniard,
“neither God nor man can resist with impunity.” ?

Though wholly in the power of his enemy, the Pope could
il eonceal his resentment. But the Don was too good a
plitician to notice his discontent too narrowly. A sort of
treaty was arranged on the 21st, by which it was agreed that
hostilities should be suspended for four months ; that the Pope
thould withdraw his army to the other side of the Po, pardon
the Colonnas, and give hostages that Moncada should retire
with hig forces to Naples.® The Pope could talk of nothing
but the infamy to which he had been subjected by the
Colonnese.* They, on their part, Italian-like, showed no
greater moderation, but in a spirit of bravado publicly and
+ oglentatiously carried their plunder to their own quarters,
~ through the most frequented thoroughfares. After the truce
wasconcluded, ‘‘ the army retreated at 24 o’clock to the quarters
of the Colonna, returning with a great booty, mules and hand-
wme horses, such as they found in the Apostolic stables.
Those in the town were in great consternation, expecting every

14The Don wished only to
frighten the Pope, but the Colonnas
to take him and plonder the Church
even against the Don’s wishes.”
Casale to Vannes, IV. p. 1190.

1 % Pouvoient attaquer impune-
ment les hommes, et Dien méme.”
Buonaparte, p. 190. The writer was a
native of San Marino, and his account
of the siege is so strongly confirmed
by contemporary documents, that,
outrageous as is this language, I can-
ot doubt it was really uttered.

VOL. 1L

Guicciardini, who was at Rome at
the time, says little of this interview;
probably he had not gained admission
into the Castle at the time. In all
other respects his account and that of
Buonaparte correspond, except that the
latter has preserved a number of
minute particulars omitted by Guicoiar-
dini, which show that he was an eyc-
witness.

2 Bee IV. p. 1116.

¢ IV.p. 1118
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minute to be plundered ; but the next day, being the feast of
St. Matthew (September 21), the enemy evacuated the town.
The Pope is still at St. Angelo. No one slept a wink that
night in a town of more than 800,000 inhabitants.”! Accord-
ing to Buonaparte, Moncada on his return to Naples had the
grace to insist on his soldiers restoring to the churches the
consecrated vessels and ornaments they had stolen.®

What share the Emperor had in this affair it would be
invidious to determine exactly ; what share he was to pretend
to have may be gathered from the letter of his secretary,
Perez, then at Rome, who had writter to him already on the
subject.® ‘“As Don Hugo de Moncada,” says Perez, *has
already written, informing your Majesty of his arrival at Rome,
and what has been done there, I need not dwell any farther on
this subject than to say, that but for the sacking of St. Peter’s
and of the Papal palace, His Holiness might not have been
induced to come to terms for a thousand years. The truth is,
the Pope has felt this blow more than anything else, and he
utters such lamentations and wailings that it moves one’s pity
to hear him. So also do the people and the Cardinals of his
party, who have lost a good deal by the sack. It is, however,
to be hoped that with the holy peace, which is likely to be the
consequence of Don Hugo's successful enterprize, the damage
done will soon be repaired, and things will resume their
former course ; for certainly your Majesty has had no hand in it.
It would be advisable for your Majesty to write a letter to the
Pope in your own hand, expressing regret for what has
occurred, and assuring the Pope of your filial respect and
affection.”*

Loud was the indignation of those who hated or feared
the Emperor at this act of profanation. Francis, who did
nothing but hunt and avoid business, expressed his displeasure
at this * cruel and ungodly demeanor,” offering to hazard his

1 Letter from Rome, Oct. 6, IV.
p. 1182,

? p. 191,

8 See Gayangos’ Span. Cal., p. 886,
and the letter of Sanchez, ibid., pp.
899, 931. A passage, however, in a
letter of Perez to the Emperor, appears
to place the Emperor’s complicity in
this fraud beyond dispute. He says,
“The Pope has somehow got posses-
gion of a letter which Dou Hugo is
said to have written to Vespasian
Colonna, requesting him to attack

Rome in force; as such was the Eme
peror’s pleasure. The Pope carries
the letter about in his pocket, shows
it frequently, and says he intends to
make it the principal ground of com-
plaint when next he sees the Emperoe.”
Oct. 22. Gayangos, p. 974.

¢ Ibid, p. 930. Compare aleo
pP- 943. Moncada excused himeelf,
on the plea that he could mnot re-
strain the violence of the soldiers.
See IV. 2585.
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person in defence of his Holiness.! Henry instructed his
ambassadors with the Emperor to intimate his astonishment
at an act, than which, *“ if reports were true, nothing more
detestable was ever done by the Vandals, Goths, or other
barbarians.” * The Emperor himself, with well-feigned dis-
pleasure, was compelled to join in the general outery, and
write to the College of Cardinals, expressing in the strongest
terms his regret and sorrow at what had occurred.® Following
the suggestion of Perez, he instructed his secretary to say how
great was his displeasure on  hearing of the attempt made by
the undisciplined bands under Don Hugo; for although it was
quite evident that the disastrous doings at Rome were unpremedi-
tated, and against the will of Don Hugo and the Colonnese, yet
he would have given anything that so flagrant an outrage had
not been perpetrated by troops under the command of one of
his own captains.”* To Lee, the English ambassador, he
expressed his satisfaction that his brother of England had
acquitted him of all complicity in that ‘‘ disagreeable occur-
rence.”® The most solid proof of Henry’s indignation was
manifested in the shape of a present to the Pope of 25,000
ducats sent by Russell; at the same time he was strictly
enjoined by Wolsey not to hold out to his Holiness any expec-
tation of further assistance.® The displeasure of Francis
evaporated, as usual, in fair promises. He had no wish to
commit himself irretrievably with the Emperor, whilst the
sincerity of the Emperor’s regrets was shown in his resolution
to make the best of the present opportunity, by crushing the
league, humbling the power of the Pope, and seizing the
monarchy of Italy. The conjuncture seemed to him more
than usually favourable, whilst the French King, deluded with
the hope of recovering his children upon more easy terms,’

1 1V. p. 1187.
11V p. 1156.
m’ March 9 : Gayangos’ Span. Cal.,

* March 16 : Tbid., p. 1004.

* Ibid,, 1023.

* IV. pp. 1187, 1164.

! Clerk, who knew him well, not-
vithstanding the specious disguises of
kim and his mother, wrote to Wolsey
@ the 12th of December, clearly ex-
puing his designs. * Although,” he
mys, “ the French king pretends he

he doubtless intends to treat for
peace. 2ndly. However obstinate the
powers of Italy may be about Milan,
they also are expecting peace; for if
the French king is contented to
restore Bourbon, marry Eleanora, pny
the ransom for his children, and the
Emperor does not insist on having
Burgundy, being anxious for peace,
from fear of the Turk, they are in
good train for it. If Francis pardons
Bourbon, why should not the Emperor
pardon the Duke of Milan? 3rdly.

i8 sending into Spain only to demand
Nadume Eloancen (he 4o Clerk e
hed done 50 in hope of being refused),

Francis evidently expects the restitu-
tion of his children, and consequently
peace; for the payment required for
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and Henry, for some unaccountable reason, abandoned the
league to its own fate, leaving the Pope and the Venetians,
now greatly weakened, to continue the war without assistance
from England. Accordingly he at once set on foot an army
of 6,000 Spaniards, and equipped a fleet of 80 sail, whilst
he wrote to his brother Ferdinand to send to Italy 8,000
Germans, under the command of George Freundsberg,

notorious for his cruelty and hatred of the Church.?

the former is nothing in comparison
with what it would cost to recover
them by war. To relieve himself,
therefore, he will offer a large sum to
the Emperor. 4thly. To carry his
point, he insists on certain conditions
with the Ttalians, which are not likely
to be arranged. I have told their
orators here that they must consider
the Frenchmen’s nature, and how
little inclined they would be to a
new war, and unlikely to stick with
them ; but, for ought that I can say,
they remain still in their good opinion
(are willing to be deceived). I pray
God they be not deceived. I assare
your Grace it is greatly to be feared ;

for he that will marry a mule, as
Francis professed he would do, rather
than make war for his children, and
forego so much of his rights, and
forbear so much of his own pleasure
rather than be deferred of his intemt
in that behalf, surely it is to be
thought that he will not stick to
borrow slights of his neighbours”
p.hli():. ElIle further expresses his
belief that the King had greater regard
for Eleanor than he wished the
English to know.

! Gayangos' Span. Cal., 953, 967,
1026. He orossed the Po on the 27tk
of November. Ibid., p. 1086.

[P,



( 101 )

CHAPTER XXIV.
AFFAIRS AT HOME.

TeE year 1526 was drawing rapidly to a close. Amidst the
tarmoil and commotion of crowns and nations, Wolsey had
contrived to keep England free from all embroilment in
continental politics. With the Emperor, who hated him, he
continued ostensibly on amicable terms. Though carefully
abstaining from dragging England into the League, he main-
tained an intimate correspondence with the Pope and the
Halian powers. The French King still professed to regard
Wolsey as the main instrument of his deliverance, and to be
implicitly guided by his counsels. At this time Henry was
beginning to take much less interest in politics, and spent the
¥hole summer in hunting.! In the earlier part of the year he
kept continually moving from place to place, attended by
s small retinue only, for fear of the plague. ‘‘ Everything is
lef,” says the Venetian ambassador, * to cardinal Wolsey,
vho keeps & great court, and has comedies and tragedies
performed.”®  After the settlement of the disturbances caused
by the amicable loan, the King had withdrawn in a great
lgree from public business. Now and then we catch a
gimpse of him ; but chiefly in confirmation of Hall’s remark.
“On my arrival here,” says Clerk, ‘ yesternight, the King was
fth & hunting, and came not home till nine of the clock.” 8
% again Fitzwilliam : “ I received a packet of letters addressed
b the King, which I took to his Majesty immediately; but as
be was going out to have a shot at a stag, he asked me to
kep them till the evening.”* So again still later: ¢ The
King is merry and in good health. . . . The officers of the earl
of Northumberland, to whom this place (Arundel in Sussex)
belongs, presented the King with 6 oxen and 40 wethers, and
! Hall, 712. From the middle of $ May 31: IV. p. 983.

May to the 18th of October. ¢ July 28: IV. p. 1049.
*Jan. 3: Ven. Cal, p. 517.
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he had good game for his recreation.”! He still continued to
treat Katharine with the same respect as ever ; although he
had abandoned all hopes of children by her—a fact so
notorious that even in July, 1525, Tunstal and others then in
the Imperial court did not scruple to write even fo the King
himself, that they had told the Emperor that ‘“my lady
Princess was your only child at this time, in whom your
Highness put the hope of propagation of any posterity of your
Lady, seeing the Queen’s grace hath been long without
children ; and albeit God may send her more children, yet
she was past that age in which women most commonly are .
wont to be fruitful and have children.”? This impression was
generally and publicly confirmed by the creation of his natural
son, or, a8 Wolsey calls him, the King’s ‘‘ entirely beloved
son, the lord Henry Fitzroy,”’® then a child of six years, as
Duke of Richmond, on the 15th of June, 1525.4 The extra-
ordinary pomp and splendour of the ceremony, in which the
great lords of State took part, with the Cardinal at their
head, were no less remarkable than the title itself, which had
been borne by the King’s own father before he ascended the
throne as Henry VII. So young and fair & child, the prime
agent in such a scene, could not fail to awaken many strange
speculations. He was conducted from the long gallery in the
palace at Bridewell, destined soon after to be the scene of a
very different ceremony, into the King's chamber, where the
King stood under a cloth of estate, accompanied by my lord
Cardinal, and the lords spiritual and temporal. As the child
kneeled to the King in his baby fashion, his Majesty ordered
him to rise. Then, taking the patent from Garter, he
delivered it to Sir Thomas More to read aloud. On coming
to the words gladii cincturam the child lord dropped on his
knees, ‘‘and the King put the girdle about his neck, the
sword hanging bendwise across his breast.” ® These dignities
were augmented the next month by his creation as Lord High
Admiral of England.® To maintain his new titles numerous
grants of land passed the seal, as a token of the King's
‘“gincere and lasting affection.”” The appointment of his

! Aug. 8: IV. p. 1058. computed as follows :—8,600L a year
* Ven. Cal, p. 662. from tho revenues of his land, and
3 Wolsey to Henry, IV. p. 603. 1,000 marks received from the Abbot
¢ IV. p. 639. of St. Mary’s, York—equal in modern
* Tbid. computation to 40,000l. or 50,000L &
¢ July 16: IV. p. 673. year, no bad provision for a child o

7 The income of the Duke was six or seven.
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household, certainly ample in itself, seemed still more ample
when contrasted with the meaner provision for Henry’s
legitimate daughter Mary, who was three years older. By
this act the Duke of Richmond took precedence of all the
nobility, even of the Princess herself. The fact could scarcely
be regarded by Katharine with calmness or indifference,
submissive as she had always shown herself to the King's
wishes. ‘It seems,” says the Venetian ambassador, ‘‘ that
the Queen resents the earldom and dukedom conferred on the
King’s natural son, and remains dissatisfied, at the instigation,
it is said, of three of her Spanish ladies, her chief counsellors ;
so the King has dismissed them the Court—a strong measure
—but the Queen was obliged to submit and have patience.” !
She had need of patience. A lonely woman, from the first, in
a strange land, she remained & lonely woman still. Her
sympathies were not with the English nobles, by whom she
was surrounded, nor theirs with her. Sickly, prematurely
old, afflicted with the repeated loss of her children, destined
never to give birth to a son and heir, when a son and heir was
so much desired and expected, she had but one surviving
child, the Princess Mary, on whom all her affections were
centred, the last green branch of a withered tree doomed to
hopeless and helpless decay. None but those who have
experienced similar griefs, and successive bereavements of all
their expectations, can realize the trembling tenacity of
maternal love with which she clung to this frail prop of her
affections. Hitherto mother and daughter had never been
parted. A fair child with a profusion of flaxen ringlets, as
slight in person as her mother’s hopes, Mary had grown up
the admiration of all beholders. Like all the Tudors, she was
an accomplished musician ; and, like them, at ten years of
age could converse fluently in French, Italian, Spanish, and
Latin. Now mother and child were to be separated. By the
political arrangements of the time, Mary, as Princess of
Wales, was to hold her little court at Ludlow; as the Duke of
Richmond was to represent viceroyalty in the North, associated
vith the ancient names of York and Lancaster. The dark
shadows were falling thick and fast on Katharine's life; for
even her nephew seemed to have forgotten her. At the close
of the year she wrote to the Emperor, tenderly complaining
of his neglect. ‘‘ For upwards of two years,” she says, ‘I
bave had no letters from Spain. And yet I am sure I deserve
! June 29: Ven. Cal., p. 465.
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not this treatment, for such are my affection and readiness
for your service, that I deserve a better reward.”! As this and
all her letters were carried by ambassadors sent from this
country, it was not to be expected that she should intrust her
more intimate thoughts to such a channel.

Of the birth and parentage of this Henry Fitzroy Duke of
Richmond, who thus suddenly blazed up into notoriety, a few
particulars may aptly find a place here. He was the son of
Elizabeth Blount, and was born in 1519. Aeccording to Hall,?
‘“ the King in his fresh youth was in the chains of love with a
fair damsel called Elizabeth Blount, daughter to Sir John
Blount, knight ; which damsel, in singing, dancing, and in all
goodly pastimes, exceeded all other; by which goodly pastimes
she won the King's heart, and she again showed him such
favor that by him she bore a goodly man-child, of beauty like
to the father and mother.” Thus Hall, touching this con-
nection and the parentage of the King’s mistress with a light
hand. Darcy, in the bitter and malignant articles drawn up
by him, as the basis of Wolsey’s impeachment, is much less
complimentary. He makes this one of the charges against the
Cardinal : “We have begun to encourage the young gentle-
women of the realm to be our concubines by the well marrying
of Besse Blount; whom we would yet, by sleight, have
married much better than she is; and for that purpose
changed her name.”® The fact appears to be that Elizabeth
Blount was one of the ladies in waiting on the Queen. As
such, an entry is found in the King’s Book of Payments,
under May, 1518, of 100s. paid to her * for a year’s wages;”*
and as John Blount’s name occurs in conjunction with hers
as King's spear, at 3s. 4d. a day, it is probable that this is the
Sir John Blount mentioned by the Chronicler.® Her name
occurs again as taking part with Mistress (that is, Miss)
Carew in the revels at Court held on Christmas Day, 1514;
and among ‘‘the persons in the mummery” were the King
and the Duke of Suffolk, Sir Thomas Boleyn and his son
George.® The intimacy between the King and this lady must
evidently have begun at an early date, as Suffolk, in a letter
to the King, written in October the same year, desires the
King will remember him to Mistress Blount and Mistress

! Nov. 26 : Gayangos, p. 1018. ® In the Act of Parliament (a.B
t Hall’s Chron., p. 703. 1523) he is styled simply John Blount,’
3 IV. p. 2668. Esq.

q
¢ See II. p. 1461. ¢ 8ee II. p. 1601.
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Carew ;! words which would seem to imply a familiarity
between them; otherwise the Duke would scarcely have
selected these ladies from the rest of the Court for such a
message, or have ventured to take such a liberty with the
King. After the birth of her son, Elizabeth Blount married
Sir Gilbert Talboys, apparently in the year 1522; at all
events, they were married before 1528, as appears by the Act
of Parliament of that year. Sir Gilbert was the son of Sir
George and Lady Elizabeth Talboys, of Goltho, in Lincoln-
shire, and was apparently at the time in Wolsey’s service.
His father, Sir George, who had distinguished himself in the
early wars of Henry VIII., became insane, and was com-
mitted, as a lunatie, in 1517,2 to the Cardinal’s custody; a
charge in which he was associated with Sir Thomas Tyrwhitt,
8ir Robert Dymoke, John and Thomas Hennege, with whom
Sir George and his wife were intimately connected by blood.
By an Act of Parliament, 14 Henry VIII. ch. 84, in considera-
tion that both the son and the father had received by this
marriage ‘‘not alonely great sums of money, but also many
benefits,” certain manors were assured to the young Lady
Elizabeth for life, in the counties of Lincoln and of York. In
the autumn of 1524, her husband was created Sir Gilbert,?
and became sheriff of Lincolnshire the next year. But these
settlements, as might be expected, occasioned a good deal of ill
feeling between the mother and the son.* With this, however,
we are not concerned.

At what period the child was taken from his mother,
whether before or at his creation as Duke of Richmond, there
are no means of ascertaining. He had for his instructors
Richard Croke, the famous Greek scholar, and John Palsgrave,
suthor of the first French grammar in the English tongue.®
In & letter to the child’s mother, then married to Sir Gilbert,
Palsgrave speaks in most enthusiastic terms of the young
Duke’s ““ especial gifts of grace ;” and hopes they will not be
perverted by evil-disposed persons, referring to those whom
the King had placed about his person, and who do not seem
to have been much concerned in furthering his education.
“Madam,” he says, “to be plain with you, on my conscience,
my lord of Richmond is of as good & nature, as much inclined

' Lp 91l ¢ 1V. 1912, 2377.
* I1. p. 959, and IV. 23877, 8 « Lesclaircissement de la Lange
! Between August and November.  Frangoise.”

Bee IV. p. 367.
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to all manner virtuous and honorable inclinations, as any
babes living. Now is my room undoubted great about him ;
for the King’s grace said unto me, in the presence of Master
Parr and Master Page "—two of the Duke’s Counecil—**I
deliver,’ quoth he, ‘unto you three my worldly jewel; you
twain to have the guiding of his body, and thou, Palsgrave, to
bring him up in virtue and learning.’”’!

The affection thus entertained by the King for the Duke
was never diminished, not even when he had fallen under the
spell of Anne Boleyn, and for a time seemed to have lost all
thoughts and feelings except for her. Foreign ambassadors
are unanimous in their praises of the Duke’s accomplishments
and the graces of his person. It was not, therefore, without
reason that Katharine may have regarded the King’s partiality
to the Duke with some twinges of uneasiness, especially as
rumours unfavourable to herself were already beginning to
prevail ; and there were at least those about her, even if she
herself were free from every taint of jealousy, who would not
fail to contrast the splendid arrangements made for the Duke,
his household, education, and influence, as compared with the
more meagre provision for Henry's legitimate successor, the
Princess Mary.

The dread of the Turks, the perilous ambition of Charles V.,
the desecration of the Holy See, diminished nothing of the
splendour and gaiety of the new year in England. ¢‘Last
evening,” says the Venetian secretary, ‘I was present at a
very sumptuous supper given by cardinal Wolsey. Among
the guests were the Papal, French, and Venetian ambassadors,
and the chief nobility of the English court. I considered
myself out of place by the side of a very beautiful damsel,
each of the guests having one to his share. During the
supper the King arrived, with a gallant company of mas-
queraders, and after presenting himself to the Cardinal, threw
a main at dice; and then unmasked, as did all his com-
panions; whereupon he withdrew to sup in one of the
Cardinal’s chambers, the rest of the guests continuing their
repast, with such a variety of the choicest viands and wines
as to be marvellous. Supper being ended, they proceeded to
the first hall, with which you are well acquainted, and where
a very well designed stage had been prepared, on which the
Cardinal’s gentlemen recited the Latin comedy of Plautus,
called the Menschmi. At its conclusion all the actors, one

} IV. 5807.
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after the other, presented themselves to the King, and on their
knees recited to him Latin verses in his praise, some more,
and some less. When he had heard them all, the King betook
himself with the rest of the guests to the hall where supper
had been served, where the tables were spread with all sorts
of the choicest confections.
‘¢ After this marvellous collation a stage was displayed, on
which sat Venus, at whose feet were six damsels, forming so
graceful a group for her footstool, as if she and they had really
come down in person from Heaven.! Whilst every one was
attentively gazing on this beautiful sight, a flourish of trumpets
was heard, and a car appeared, drawn by three naked boys,
on which sate a Cupid, dragging after him, bound by a silver
rope, six old men clad in shepherds’ weeds, the material being
cloth of silver and white satin. Cupid presented them to his
mother, with a most elegant oration in Latin, complaining
that they had been most cruelly wounded; whereupon Venus
compassionately replied in language equally choice, and made
the six nymphs, the sweethearts of the old men, to descend,
commanding them to afford their lovers all solace and pastime,
and requite them for past pangs. Each of the nymphs was
then taken in hand by her suitor, and they performed a very
beautifal dance to the sound of the trumpet. On its termina-
tion, the King and his minions commenced another with the
ladies then present; and with this entertainment the night

BEJOICINGS AT COURT.

ended, for the day was already breaking.”?

! It would be interesting to know
who personified Venus on this occa-
sion. Was it Anne Boleyn ?

? Spinelli, Jan. 4, Ven. Cal., No. 4.
This seems to have been a classical
event in Wolsey’s history, and pro-
duced a deep impression on the minds
of his contemporaries. It is men-
tioned by Hall, though much more
briely than is usual with him on such
occasions.  (Hist. p.719.) It is clear
also that it is this entertainment,
though interspersed with other remi-
iscences, that forms the groundwork
01' Cavendish’s dramatic narrative, so
minately adopted by Shakspeare. I
extract the passage that my readers
Ay more easily compare it with the
suthentic account preserved by Spi-
le!ll After speaking of the banquets
givn by the Cardinal to the King,
where there wanted no damsels meet
for the dance, or music with excellent
voices both of men and ohildren,

Cavendish thus proceeds:—“1 have
seen the King suddenly come in
thither in a mask, with a dozen of
other maskers, all in garments like
shepherds, made of fine cloth of gold,
and fine crimson satin paned, and
caps of the same, with visors of good
proportion of visnomy; their hairs
and beards either of fine gold wires,
or else of silver, and some being of
black silk; having sixteen torch-
bearers, besides their drums, and
other persons attending upon them,
with visors, and clothed all in satin,
of the same colours. And at his
ooming, and before he came into the
hall, ye shall understand that he
came by water to the water-gate,
without any noise ; where against his
coming were laid charged many
chambers, and at his landing they
were all shot off, which made such a
rumble in the air that it was like
thunder. It made all the noblemen,
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gentlewomen, and ladies to muse what
it should mean, coming so suddenly,
they sitting quietly at a solemn
banquet; under this sort. First, ye
shall perceive that the tables were set
in the chamber of presence, banquet.
wise covered, my lord Cardinal sitting
under the cloth of estate, and there
baving his service all alone ; and then
was there set a lady and a nobleman,
or a gentleman and gentlewoman,
throughout all the tables in the
chamber on the one side, which were
made and joined as it were but one
table. All which order and device
was done and advised by the lord
Sands, lord chamberlain to the King,
and also by Sir Henry Gaildford,
comptroller to the King. Then
immediately after this great shot of
guns, the Cardinal desired the Lord
Chamberlain and Comptroller to look
what this sudden shot should mean,
a8 though he knew nothing of the
matter. They, thereupon looking out
of the windows into Thames, returned
again, and showed him that it seemed
to them there shounld be some noble-
men and strangers arrived at his
bridge, as ambassadors from some
foreign prince. With that, quoth the
Cardinal, ¢ I shall desire you, because
yo can speak French, to take the
pains to go down into the hall to en-
counterand to receive them, according
to their estates, and to conduct them
into this chamber, where they shall
see us, and all these noble personages
sitting merrily at our banquet, desiring
them to sit down with us, and to take
part of our fare and pastime.’ Then
[they] went incontinent down into
the ball, where they received them
with twenty new torches, and con-
veyed them up into the chamber,
with such a number of drums and
fifes as I have seldom seen together
at one time in any masque. At their
arrival into the chamber, two and two
together, they went directly before
the Cardinal, where he sat, saluting
him very reverently: to whom the
Lord Chamberlain for them said,
¢ 8ir, forasmuch as they be strangers,
and oan speak no English, they have
desired me to declare unto your
Grace thus: they, having understand-
ing of this your trinmphant banquet,
where was assembled such a number
of excellent fair dames, could do no
less, under the supportation of your
good Grace, but to repair hither to
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view as well their incom le
beauty, as for to accompany at
mumchance, and then after to dance
with them, and so to have of their
acquaintance. And, Sir, they further-
more require of your Graoe licence to
acoomplish the cause of their repair.’
To whom the Cardinal answered, that
he was very well contented they
should so do. Then the maskers
went first, and saluted all the dames
as they sat, and then returned to the
most worthiest, and there opened a
cup full of gold, with crowns and
other pieces of coin, to whom they set
divers pieces to cast at. Thus in this
manner perusing all the ladies and
gentlewomen, to some they lost and
of some they won. And thus dore
they returned unto the Cardinal, with
great reverence, pouring down all the
crowns in a cup, which was about
two hundred crowns. ¢ At all,’ quoth
the Cardinal; and so cast the dioe,
and won them all at a cast; whereat
was great joy made. Then quoth the
Cardinal to my Lord Chamberlain, ‘I
pray you,’ quoth he, ¢ show them that
it seemeth me that there should be
among them some nobleman, whom I
suppose to be much more worthy of
honour to sit and oocupy this room
and place than I; to whom I should
most gladly, if I knew him, surrender
my place, according to my duty.
Then spake my Lord Chamberlain
unto them in French, declaring my
lord Cardinal's mind; and they,
rounding him again in the ear, my
Lord Chamberlain said to my lord
Cardinal, *S8ir, they confess,’ quoth
he, ¢ that among them there is such a
noble personage, whom, if your Grace
can appoint him from the other, he is
contented to disclose himself, and to
accept your place most worthily.
With that the Cardinal, taking a
good advisement among them, at the
last, quoth he, ‘Me seemeth the
gentleman with the black beard
should be even he.” And with that
he rose out of his chair, and offered
the same to the gentleman in the
black beard, with his cap in his hand.
The person to whom he offered then
his chair was Sir Edward Neville, a
comely knight, of a goodly persomage,
that much more resembled the King's
person in that mask than any other.
The King, hearing and perceiving the
Cardinal so deceived in his estimation
and choice, could not forbear laugh-
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ing ; but plucked down his visor, and
Master Neville’s also, and dashed out
with such a pleasant countenancd and
cheer, that all noble estates there
assembled, seeing the King to be
there amongst them, rejoiced very
much. The Cardinal eftsoons desired
his Highness to take the place of
estate, to whom the King answered,
that he would go first and shift his
apparel ; and so departed, and went
straight into my Lord’s bedchamber,
where was a great fire made and pre-
pared for him; and there new
apparelled him with rich and pringely
garments. And in the time of the
King’s absence, the dishes of the ban-
quet were clean taken up, and the

tables spread again with new and
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perfumed cloths; every man sitting
still until the King and his maskers
came in among them again, every
man being newly apparelled. Then
the King took his seat under the
cloth of estate, commanding no man
to remove, but to sit still as they did
before. Then in came a new banquet
before the King’s majesty, and to all
the rest through the tables, wherein,
I suppose, were served two hundred
dishes, or above, of wondrous costly
meats and devices, subtilly devised.
Thus passed they forth the whole
night with banqueting, dancing, and
other trinmphant devices, to the great
comfort of the King, and pleasant
regard of the mnobility there as-
sembled.”
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CHAPTER XXV.
THE SACK OF ROME.

Warst the English court was thus spending the season in
pleasure and amusements, Charles prepared to renew the war
in Italy with all its attendant horrors, rapacity, cruelty, and
deceit, such as had scarcely disgraced war even in Heathen
times. The idea of providing adequate pay and provisions for
his armies in Italy never entered his thoughts. War was to
be fed by war. The licentiousness of a brutal and demoralized
soldiery, long accustomed to violence and rapine, was allowed
to display itself, unchecked by its mercenary officers, in every
form of excess which could disgrace humanity. In the
" political schemes of the sovereigns of Europe no one thought
of the sufferings of the population, whose fields were trampled
down, whose houses were rifled, whose wives and daughters
were violated, without compunction, by Spaniards and
Germans, the former of whom were mainly recruited from
Maroons or renegade Moors, and the latter from the robber
fastnesses of Germany. On the pretext of demanding their
pay, they refused to stir except when they pleased, or rather
where the expectations of plunder led them. On the march
they fell out of the ranks, and dispersed themselves in all
directions for fuel and provisions, regardless alike of friend or
of foe. In the great cities, as in Milan, the common soldiers
washed their feet in rose-water, drank the choicest wines,
plundered the churches, and laid under contribution, for their
maintenance, all who were not rich or fortunate enough to flee
and find an asylum elsewhere. ‘At Florence,” says a con-
temporary, ¢ they robbed the temples, slew the religious, made
use of the holy oil and chrism to smear their shoes, cut the
crucifix into a thousand pieces, and threw it into the fire. In
Borgo Donnino, where stood an image of St. Anthony, they
plundered the church in which the people had stored their goods
for security, tied a halter round the image, as if it were alive,
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and hauled it up and down like a malefactor. Milan, under
the protection of the Emperor, is empty of all its more
respectable inhabitants.” ! It was in this city that the soldiers
threatened Bourbon to sack the town if their wages were not
duly paid. Here also Bourbon put the principal inhabitants
to the torture to procure the money. ‘ The Swabians and
Spaniards,” says Russell, ¢ commit horrible atrocities. They
have burned houses to the value of two hundred millions of
ducats, with all the churches, images, and priests that fell into
their hand. They compelled priests and monks to violate the
nuns . . . They did not spare the boys, and carried off the
girls; and whenever they found the host in the church they
threw it into the river, or the vilest places they could find. . . .
Woe to us, woe to the Emperor, if these Germans and
Spaniards ever get the upper hand.”®
It might have been supposed that such hordes of lank and
hungry wolves could more than once have been taken at
advantage, and have been easily dispersed by the League ; but
the arm of the confederates commanded by the Duke of
Urbino, an incompetent, irresolute and indolent general, did
nothing ; either, as it was then thought from the Duke’s
treachery, or really from his inability. This, however, may be
said in his excuse : that the vacillation of Clement paralyzed
the little energy of the leaguers. In a fit of resentment, he
had written a very bitter letter to the Emperor, excusing him-
self for the part he had taken, and attributing his hostility to
the Emperor’s determination to ruin Italy and devastate the
patrimony of the Church. Frightened at his own audacity, he
stlempted to recall the letter, and substitute one of a milder
tone in its place. But his repentance came too late. Before
the Nuncio who had charge of it could be made aware of this
change in the mind of the Sovereign Pontiff, he had delivered
the Pope’s missive, and roused to boiling pitch the anger of
Charles, who responded in the same tone. On the arrival of
the second letter his anger was mollified. He expressed his
desire to secure the peace of Christendom and the favourable
opinion of the Pope ; but though Charles seldom betrayed his
emotion by word or gesture, it was not in his nature to forgive
and to forget. Clement himself, a prey alternately to fear and
hope, vacillating between his wish for peace and his hatred of
Imperial arrogance, leaned first to one side, then to the other,
suspected alike by friends and foes. His allies considered it a
! IV. p. 1283. * IV. p. 1376.
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waste of men and treasure to support a cause which, as it
seemed to them, the Pope would be the first to betray ; whilst
his foes, playing upon his fears, augmented their demands in
proportion to his inability to refuse them. Torn by conflicting
passions, distracted by opposite counsels, the Pope could decide
neither on peace nor on war. Both were alike objectionable.
The Viceroy demanded, as the price of peace, Milan for
Bourbon ; full restitution of the Colonnese ; right of presenta-
tion of fiftcen sees in Naples; 200,000 ducats for the soldiers,
for the last, and 200,000 ducats more for the coming year.!
Outrageous as such demands may appear, the Pope was inclined
to accept them. The Germans were preparing to advance;
the Viceroy from Naples, Bourbon from Milan, were turning
their steps in the direction of Rome, and of Florence, the
patrimonial inheritance of the Pope. An ineffectual attack on
Frosinone, belonging to the Estates of the Church, a more
conciliatory letter from the Emperor, jealousy of Bourbon,
who had now started from Milan, induced the Viceroy to
moderate his demands; and a truce for eight days was
arranged, in order to communicate the terms to the Venetians.!
Meantime money and reinforcements had arrived from France
and England.® Russell on the part of England, the Venetians
for themselves, refused to be parties to the accommodation
with the Viceroy. The Pope, now in expectation of further
aid, was not sorry for an opportunity of changing his mind
once more. * The Pope,” says a contemporary, ‘ has received
immense consolation, in the midst of his distresses, from the
King and Wolsey. Three times 80,000 crowns would not have
encouraged him more than their kind words have done, bidding
him not to fear any danger, for whether a universal peace be
made, or the Emperor refuse it, they will still support him.
. « . The Pope is particularly pleased with Russell’s commis-
sion to the Viceroy (i.e. to make peace), and will be delighted
if he can obtain a suspension of hostilities without being
called upon to pay money.”* But though a new gleam of
prosperity had thus broken upon the League, terror, augmented
with impatience, proved a stronger motive than any other in
the breast of Clement VII. Two days after, his fears of the
Emperor prevailed over his better resolution. He was urgent
that Russell should go to the Viceroy for a suspension of arms,
at any hazard ; for his confederates if possible, for himself by

1 V. pp. 1234, 1257 3 IV, p. 1271,
* IV. p. 1276. 4 Feb. 10: VI. p. 1283.
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all means.! In vain it was represented to him that a little
patience and exertion on his part would end in the discomfiture
of his enemies; that the Spaniards and Germans could take
no towns for they were not in a condition to undertake a pro-
tracted siege, and if they attacked any, they must attack
Florence, where they could easily be broken. Such a thought
threw his Holiness into agonies of despair. Any attack upon
Florence by the Imperialists was a calamity too terrible to
be borne. “We told him,” says Sir Gregory Casale, ‘‘ to
remember what Guicciardini and others had written, that
Florence was wholly impregnable, especially now that it had
been fortified according to the plans of Peter of Navarre. He
could only wring his hands, and declare that if he were the
eause of bringing an enemy into Tuscany all his relations
would be banished. France gave him nothing but words.
He was too poor and too weak to support the burthen alone.”

Russell returned with Fieramosca from the Viceroy on the
21st, bringing proposals for an armistice between the Emperor,
France, and Venice,® on the most favourable terms. The
Viceroy no longer demanded money or security, or even
regtitution of the Colonnese; ‘‘and the Pope, thinking the
opportunity should not be lost, would have concluded negocia-
tions on the spot,” if Russell had not urged him to wait for
the answer of his confederates.® His fears and suspicions
arose at every symptom of delay—even at the necessary pre-
esations required for binding the Imperialists to their promise.
Florence was the chief cause of his alarm ; but he distrusted
the Duke of Urbino, and was convinced that neither the
French nor the Venetians had funds sufficient for maintaining
the war. Distrusting all, he resolved to act for himself, and
coming events, now advancing with terrible pace, precipitated
his resolution.

Finding it impossible to maintain himself any longer in
Milan, Bourbon had sent a message to Freundsberg, a com-
mander of German mercenaries, to join him with his forces
before the walls of Piacenza. On the 20th of February he
crossed the Trebbia, with an army composed of 12,000 German
foot, 4,000 Spaniards, 2,000 Italian volunteers, and 5,000
lances. On the 22nd he arrived at San Donnino, traversed
Beggio, passed the Secchia, reached Buonporto on the 5th of
March. At Finale he visited the Duke of Ferrara, to concert
measures for the campaign. On the 7th he lodged at San

' IV. pp. 1291, 1297, 1800, * IV. p. 1301 3 IV. p. 1304.
VOL. 11. I
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Giovanni, near the confines of Bologna, giving out that he
intended to pass on to Naples. On the 14th the troops
mutinied for pay, pillaged the Duke’s lodgings, and slew one
of his gentlemen. A heavy fall of snow and rain prevented
their advance for the present.

Meanwhile, the Pope, harassed beyond measure at the
approach of the Imperialists, afraid lest the Florentines should
throw off their allegiance, well aware of the intentions of the
soldiers under Bourbon to sack and pillage Rome, had arranged
on the 15th a truce of eight months with the Imperialists,'
and despatched Fieramosca to communicate the intelligence
to Bourbon. Confiding in the promises and pretences of the
Viceroy, Clement, with incredible temerity, disbanded his
forces, retaining only 200 light horse and 2,000 foot. On
Fieramosca’s appearance in Bourbon’s camp, he was roughly
handled by the soldiers, and his propositions rejected. Too
late,® Clement now endeavoured to retrace his steps, and
revoke the conditions he had made with the Viceroy, in whose
conduct it is hard to say whether duplicity or cowardice was
the prevailing element.® In the first instance, Bourbon had
intended to lay siege to Florence, as many of its citizens
were anxious to expel the Medici. But the appearance of the
Duke of Urbino on the 25th at once pacified the sedition, and
put the city into a posture of defence.* On the 27th Bourbon
turned his steps to Rome. His march was encumbered with
numerous obstacles. Snow and rain had fallen in great
abundance, rendering roads and rivers impassable, and the
transport of artillery impossible. It was necessary to lose no
time, in order to take the Romans unprepared, and anticipate
a counter movement on the part of the Duke-of Urbino, who,
with characteristic indecision, wasted the precious hours in
making preparations, and on the 5th of May, when Bourbon
was at Rome, had advanced no further than Perugia. Leaving
their artillery at Siena, and forsaking the high road, the
Spaniards and Germans, with incredible labour, threaded
their way by bridlepaths and mountainous defiles, making no
stay to collect provisions, of which they stood greatly in need.
In Rome all was confusion. The Pope, trusting entirely in
his perplexity to Renzo da Ceri, a soldier of more vanity than
experience, who had hurriedly levied recruits from the stable
boys of the Cardinals, and the shops of artificers, neglected to

1 Ven. Cal,, p. 38. $ IV. p. 1875,
* April 25. ¢ IV. pp. 1880, 1387.
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take the commonest precautions for retarding the advance of
Bourbon, or securing the safety of the city. No bridges were
cut, no adequate means adopted for strengthening the defences,
many of which had fallen into ruins.

Arriving at Rome on Saturday, the 4th of May,! Bourbon

posted his troops behind St. Peter’s, near the St. Pancras
gate ; and immediately sent a trumpet to the Pope, demanding
permission to enter the city and purchase provisions. Not-
withstanding all the hardship and privations to which his
army had been exposed during its march, instead of being
diminished, its numbers had been greatly increased by Italian
renegades. It had swept into its track the inhabitants of the
villages through which it passed, all of whom eagerly joined
its ranks, hoping to share in the plunder. Barbarians have
done much in the course of ages to injure Rome; but bar-
barians could have done little had they not been aided by
Italian hands and Italian treachery. Rome’s worst enemies
have proceeded from its own loins. By the advice of Italians,
Bourbon had been induced to besiege Florence, hoping to
reward his soldiers with its spoils. By the same advice, when
he found the Florentines resolved to defend themselves, he
had abandoned the siege, and advanced with his troops to
Bome. Italians guided his march, Italian heads plotted and
directed the attack. The Germans under Freundsberg had
left their country, shoeless and penniless. Ragged and half-
starved by their long privations, they had but one thought—
to satisfy their hunger and fill their pockets. The Spaniards,
licentious, sensual, and perfidious, long accustomed to the
idleness and dissipation of Milan, had been induced to evacuate
their quarters with the greatest reluctance, expecting to find
in Rome a richer and more luxurious capital than that which
they had left. But for these passions they had one palliation ;
Haly was not their country, nor was Rome their capital. Not
ks rapacious than the German, not less cruel and perfidious
than the Spaniard, the Italian plundered and sacked his
common country, and led its enmemies to the spoil he had
neither the courage nor the strength to have seized alone.

The morning of the 6th rose heavy with clouds and fogs,
hiding from the Romans the advance and manceuvres of their
ssailants. Their artillery, in which alone they had the
dvantage, proved useless. The guns from their forts
thundered idly in the air, more mischievous to themselves

! See IV. p. 1418,
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than to their enemy. Twice the assault was given, and twice
the assailants were repulsed. At the third onset, Bourbon
was seen, conspicuous in his white armour, holding a ladder
in his left hand, and with his right beckoning his soldiers to
follow. He had scarcely mounted the second round, when he
was struck with a harquebus from behind, and fell mortally
wounded.! Some say that he died immediately, and that a
cloak was thrown over his body by the Prince of Orange to
conceal his death from the soldiers ; others say that when he
found himself wounded, he was assisted to descend, carried
into a neighbouring chapel, and when * the Thurion gate * was
taken, conveyed into the church of San Sisto.? *‘ Before his
death he confessed, received his Creator, and desired fo be
taken to Milan, though some thought he meant Rome ; for he
died murmuring & Rome, @ Rome.” 8

More thick and murky fell the mist, hiding from each
other assailants and assailed. In the pause, Renzo, who
defended the walls with 4,000 men, cried out that Bourbon
and Orange were taken; but the Spaniards, with remewed
cries of Carne, carne! Sangre, sangre! Bourbon, Bourbon!
carried the ramparts with a desperate effort, and drove the
defenders before them, about two in the afternoon. As an
indication of the utter want of care and foresight on the part
of the Pope, & detachment of the enemy endeavoured to gain
admittance unperceived, by the bastion of San Spirito, near
the garden of Cardinal Ermellino, where the walls were low
and their continuity interrupted by a small house, which had
only been masked with clay.* Here a small body of Spaniards
contrived to gain an entry; and the besieged, seeing their
approach, and believing the city to be taken, fled in disorder.
Some were crushed in their flight, others jumped into the
Tiber ; soldiers and people were mingled together in one
headlong and indiscriminate rout. The Pope, who sat un-
moved in his chair at 8t. Peter’s, and only smiled at the fears
of the anxious throng by whom he was surrounded, now fled
in precipitation along the corridor which leads to the Castle
of St. Angelo. The approaches were obstructed by a vast
crowd of prelates, merchants, Jews and ladies, all fleeing for
safety in the same direction. As the Pope and the higher

! “ At the Thurion gate,” says Spirito, called the Torrions di 8.
the authority here followed. But no  Spirito.—Eb.
such locality is known. Lord Acton 2 TV. p. 1418.

suggested to the author that it * TIbid.
might be a tower at the gate of Santo ¢ Buonaparte, p. 202,
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ecclesiastics pressed in for admittance, the hopeless fugitives
of lower rank were driven back, and, compelled to make way,
were crushed to death, or forced over the bridge into the
Tiber. The rusty portcullis was lowered with difficulty, and
the hapless crowd without was abandoned to the rage of the
infuriated foe. No one, says an eyewitness, had resolution
enough, like Horatius Cocles, to oppose the enemy, or prudence
enough to set fire to the bridge, which would have embarrassed
the invaders, and exposed them to the fire of 8t. Angelo.
Small and ineffectual as were the means of defence left at the
disposal of the Sovereign Pontiff, they were rendered more
ineffectual still by the total absence of plan, co-operation,
leadership, individual bravery, or presence of mind. All fled
like sheep before wolves, or glided adroitly into the ranks of
their pursuers, turning their arms against their countrymen.
Seeing the walls left defenceless, the Spaniards shouted to
their comrades to advance, and the carnage became general.
No quarter was given, no sex and no age was spared.
Abandoning their arms, the Romans fled in vain for pro-
fection to their churches and their altars. Altars and churches
were little regarded by demoralized Spaniards, and by Germans
more brutal than Goths or Vandals.
Abandoning the siege of St. Angelo as hopeless, and leaving
s strong guard at its gates to prevent the escape of the Pope
and the Cardinals, the enemy now divided themselves into
companies and plundered the city. Resistance was in vain,
if any thought of resistance. The wretched inhabitants,
exposed to the passions of a brutal and infuriated soldiery,
could only offer their goods to be burnt or pillaged, happy if,
by the sacrifice of all that was precious or dear to them, they
tould save their lives. Not unfrequently, when they had
sicrificed all, they were put to death in cold blood, in a fit of
drunken passion, or to gratify a savage jest. If fathers and
mothers wept at the murder of their children, or the violation
of their daughters, their emotions were interpreted as an
insult o the victors; if they hid their emotions under a forced
tranquillity they were exposed to still greater cruelties for
their assumed indifference. Convents and churches were no
more spared than private houses. The restraints that religion
might otherwise have imposed only stimulated the licentious-
ness of the invaders ; and the most obscene debaucheries were
mingled with acts of revolting blasphemy and indescribable
brutality.
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When the soldiers had, in some measure, slaked their
thirst for blood, they fell to rifling the churches. I would
be mere mockery to suppose that religion had any share in
these enormities, or that the Lutheran tenets of the Germans
transported them with iconoclastic zeal to shatter images,
and set fire to shrines and religious houses. Yet the evidence
is indisputable that Lutherans at the time looked upon these
scenes with more than pious resignation, and imagined that
Luther was honoured by an impious travestie of holy things
enacted by a disorderly horde of robbers. No sooner did they
enter a church than they swept away copes, chalices, images,
and ornaments—all, in short, that was really valuable, or
thought to be. Relics were cast to the ground with an air
of contempt ; images of saints were plucked from their niches,
broken up, or thrown into the fire. Pictures and frescoes
were mutilated in sport. Some breaking into the sacristies,
put on the vestments, and mounting the altar officiated in
derision, substituting for prayers the most horrible blasphemies.
Others paraded the streets in the robes and ornaments of
bishops and cardinals. One group of Lutheran infantry, in
their drunken orgies, laid hold of the Cardinal Ara Celi, and
carried him on a bier throughout the streets of Rome, singing
the office for the dead. Stopping before one of the churches,
they pronounced over him a funeral oration, interlarded with
the most revolting obscenities. Then taking him to their
quarters, they compelled him to serve them with the choicest
wines in consecrated vessels. The higher the rank of their
prisoners, the greater their reputation for wealth, the more
refined and exquisite were the tortures prepared for them.
Some were suspended by their arms in the air; others, with
their feet shackled, were dangled over wells and deep pits of
water, with the threat of having the rope cut if they did not
declare where their treasures were hidden. Many sunk under
the blows they received, or were branded with fire in different
parts of their bodies, or their teeth torn out, or molten lead
poured into their mouths. In one instance, a prelate who had
been taken prisoner with a diamond ring on his finger, was
compelled to surrender it. As the soldier who was drawing it
off lost patience, his corporal, seeing his embarrassment, drew
his knife, cut off the prisoner’s finger, and presented it to his
comrade. Drawing off the ring, the soldier threw back the
finger in the face of the unhappy prisoner. It might have
seemed as if the old persecuting era of Nero and Domitian
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had returned,—only that in the worst days of these enemies
of the Christian faith no brutality, no licentiousness, had ever
reached the height to which these soldiers of the Holy Roman
Empire, and of him who was the hereditary patron of the
Church, now carried their excesses.

Fierce and brutal as were these German troopers, drawn
from the robber fastnesses of their own land, and accustomed
to all sorts of lawlessness and violence, it is not to be doubted
that they found guides and advisers in their renegade Italian
associates, and the vilest scum of the vilest population. Italian
servants betrayed their masters. Italian residents pointed
out to the enemies of their country the most costly palaces,
the secret retreats of the rich, the noble, and defenceless.
Italian ingenuity suggested the more refined methods of
cruelty, the more scandalous violations of oaths and promises.
No sight of blood, though the blood was Roman, no misery,
no despair, moved them to pity, still less to interpose and
noitigate the sufferings of the unhappy citizens. Not an
instance is mentioned of these Italians administering aid or
comfort to the dying and the wounded, who perished forgotten
and neglected alike by friends and foes.

In the horrors of the siege, men, women, and children cast
themselves down from the roofs of their houses, rather than
fall into the hands of their persecutors; others were pushed

; out of windows at the point of the lance. In one instance a
prisoner, unable any longer to endure the tortures to which
he was subjected, escaped from the hands of his tormentors
by dashing out his brains against the pavement; in another,
8 Florentine, who had paid down 1,000 crowns for his liberty,
after being put to the torture, was required to pay the same
in gold. Unable to raise the sum, he was again put to the
torture, and in his agony seizing a poignard from his tor-
mentor, plunged it into his breast, and thus slew himself.
Enormous as was the booty, it was soon squandered in
gambling, or disposed of for wholly inadequate sums to the
Jewish cormorants and vultures that hang on the skirts of
invading armies. Staggering along the streets in rich copes,
jewelled collar, and magnificent bracelets, these Germans,
who had entered Rome shoeless and in rags, would stake and
lose all on a throw of the dice, and, naked as before, start
afresh in search of plunder to retrieve their losses. Others
might be seen tramping about the city, like cardinals, followed
by a long train of lacquies, attended by their concubines in
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the embroidered robes, the mitres, and the chasubles they had
rifled from the sanctuaries. The waste, the profligacy, the
numerous unburied corpses, brought with them the usual
Nemesis of plague and famine. The terrors inspired by the
soldiers had effectually cut off all supply of provisions from
the country; and as the occupation of the city lasted many
weeks, the privations of the inhabitants, reduced to feed on
roots and herbs, became intolerable. Disease raged every-
where. The contagion spread from the populace to the
soldiers ; and the plague, less discriminating than the sword,
mowed down alike both the conquerors and the conquered.

To these details, preserved in the main by an eyewitness,
Jacopo Buonaparte, a gentleman of San Miniato, I add an
abridged account of the same siege, sent by an Imperial officer,
and an attendant on Bourbon, to the Emperor Charles V.

He writes! in Italian by the hand of another, being dis-
abled, as will be shown further on, and proceeds to say
that—

¢¢ After Bourbon had joined the Emperor’s army against Florence and
Siena, finding that Florence was well-fortified, and defended by the army
of the League, so that it would have been almost impossible to take it,
and victuals meanwhile would have run short, while, on the other hand,
Rome was defenceless, and by plundering it and putting the Pope to great
extremity we should gain all the rest, Bourbon determined to push on by
forced marches to Rome, before the army of the League should come to
its assistance. To do this the better all the artillery was left at Siena.
We accordingly pushed on at the rate of 20 or 24 miles a day, a speed
quite extraordinary for so great an army, oppressed by fatigue and hunger.
On Saturday the 4th, the army occupied I'Isola, seven miles from Rome.
Bourbon and all the principal persons were greatly surprised that the
Pope and Cardinals, seeing their danger, and being unarmed, sent no
ambassador or message. Several of your Majesty’s good subjects thought
that if the army came up to the walls, it was a question whether it could
take the city, having no artillery ; and this would be the destruction of
the army. But if it was taken, they foresaw it would have to be put to
the sack ; which would be injurious to your Majesty's service, because,
being enriched by plunder, the army would be dispersed, and the Spaniards
and Italians would withdraw to Naples ; on the other hand, if the troo
did not proceed, they would demand their pay, and this it was impossi
to give them. We, therefore, advised Bourbon to manage so that he
might be able to make some arrangement with the Pope, without the
entire destruction of Rome. Bourbon approved of this, and desired
some arrangement to enable him to pay the army ; nevertheless he said
he was not bound to take care of the interests of the enemy, or give him
time to provide for himself, alleging that the admiral of France forbore to
sack Milan when he had it in his power, and lost the opportunity of taking
it, because it was afterwards defended by Signor Prospero; and that in
another case, when Chiaramonte was before Bologna, and treating with
p}(:pe Julius, Fabricius Colonna entered the city, and the Pope repudiated
the treaty.

! 11 Bacco di Roma, 498. (Abridged.)
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‘“ Bourbon accordingly drew near, and on Sunday morning, the bth,
we 1 in the palace of St. Peter’s, near the monastery of St. Pancras.
Nevertheless, Bourbon wrote in the morning a letter to the Pope, urging
him to take some good appointment, and not drive matters to extremity.
At last it was proposed tgat I should go to the Pope ; but, not having a
safe-conduct, 1t was thought right that I should remain. The letter was
sent by a trumpet, but he was not allowed to pass, and whether it got to
the Pope’s hands or not, we do not know. %o answer came. Vge had
g:omised to wait till the 22nd hour of the day, after which it would

impossible to restrain the army. In the evening, accordingly, scaling
ladders were provided for the assault next morning at the Borgo, on the
side of the furnaces, where the wall was considered to be weakest. On
the morning of Monday, the 6th, the assault was given, and by mischance
Bourbon was hit by a f)x’a.rquebus in the lower part of the belly, near the
right thigh; of which wound he died immediately. Neovertheless the
event was concealed. The Borgo was taken that morning. The Pope
with the greater part of the Cardi and men of the Court, were in the
palace, but on hearing of their loss withdrew into the Castle St. Angelo.

‘¢ Having entered, our men sacked the whole Borgo, and killed almost
every one they found, making only a very few prisoners. There were not,
I believe, more than 3,000 of the enemy in Rome, and they hardly made
any defence. Unluckily for them a d&r{ fog prevailed all day, and people
could hardly see each other. The fight lastecf two hours. The Romans,
as we have heard, were fully persuaded by Renzo da Ceri that neither the
Borgo nor Rome could be stormed without artillery, and they waited for
succours from the army of the Letgue. In this state of affairs the Pope
being in the Castle of St. Angelo, those Romans who had taken arms, and
a few soldiers that remained, defending the bridges and the part called
the Transtiberine, the greater part of the army being in the Borgo, and
the captains and councillors of the army being joined together, an
ambassador of the king of Portugal came to us, showing that some Romans
near him had come by consent of the Pope to treat of an appointment.
He was answered that if the Pope could first put in the hands of the said
captains the Ponte Molle and the Transtiberine suburb, we were content
to treat. The ambassador did not return that day with any answer. The
Transtiberine was stormed and taken, and shortly afterwards the bridges
of Sisto and 8. Maria, by which the army made an entrance into Rome.
This was early in the evening of the 6th. Yet the Romans had been all
so confident of the power of the city to hold out that not a single person
had fled out of the city, or carried anything away. Thus persons of eve:
nation, age, sex, and degree were taken prisoners, and not one escaped.
All the monasteries were rifled, and the ladies who had taken refuge in
them carried off. Every person was compelled by torture to pay a ransom,
not according to his condition, but according to the will of the soldiers,
after being stripped of all his goods. The greater part were unable to

y, and remained in prison, subjected to ill treatment. The cardinals of

iena, Cesarino, and Enchivort remained in their houses, expecting to be
better treated, because they were Imperialists ; and cardinals Bancat
E;mmzio f], Trani, and Jacobazio, and a number of ladies and friends,
taken refuge with them, with their goods ; but finding that no more

. respect was paid to them than to the others, each of them was content to

compound for a great ransom. Nevertheless even this did not help them
vuch; for in three or four days these houses were entirely sacked ; and
with great difficulty some ladies and others took refuge in the house of
ardinal Colonna, who had lost every bit of furniture he had. There
remained only a mantle and a single shirt. Cardinals S. Sisto and Minerva,
vho had remained at home, are now in the hands of the soldiers, because,
being poor, they could not pay a ransom. The ornaments of all the
churches were pillaged, and the relics and other sacred things thrown into
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sinks and cesspools. Even the holy places were sacked. The church of
St. Peter and the Papal palace, from basement to the top were turned
into stables for horses. I am convinced your Majesty, as a most Christian
rince, will be grieved at all this havock and contempt of the city of
me ; but every one considers it has taken place by the just judgment
of God, because the court of Rome was so ill-rul Nevertheless the
ruin is too great, and it is felt that no remedy is possible without your
Majesty’s presence and authority.

“This army has neither head nor members, obedience, nor form of
any kind. Every one does what he pleases. The prince of Orange and
Giovanni d’Orbina do what they can, but it is of little use. The lance-
knights have behaved like very Lutherans, the others as among Christians.
The greater part of the army?ave enriched themselves by the sack, which
amounts to many millions of gold. It is believed that great part of the
Spaniards will retire with their booty to Naples.

¢ On Tuesday morning, the 7th, the second day of our entry, the Pope
wrote a letter to the captains, praying them to send me to his Holiness.
I accordingly went by their direction to the Castle of St. Angelo, where I
found his Holiness with 13 of his cardinals, in great grief, as might have
been expected. The Pope told me, weeping, in the presence of all the
Cardinals, that since fate had brought him to this, owing to his trusting
too much to the capitulation with the Viceroy, he no longer wished to
make any defence, but would place his person and those of the Cardinals
in the hands of your Majesty, and desired me to be mediator with the
captains for some good appointment. I gave his Holiness and the
Cardinals what consolation I could, saying they might well imagine it was
not the intention of the Emperor to maltreat t{e Pope or the Holy 8ee;
and that they were much to blame, as it had been in their power by some
%TOOd appointment to have prevented the army from coming so near.

evertheless, I undertook to do what was right, and went several times
backwards and forwards between the captains, the Pope, and the Cardinals;
so that in four days I had arranged a capitulation, which was generally
considered useful and honorable to your Kinjesty. I know not how your
Majesty will be geased with what followed, but that I leave to your
judgment. The Pope at first objected to the form of the obligation, but
at last consented. It is true there was some impediment on our part which
delayed the execution ; this was the ill behavior of the Germans, who
were in hopes that we should not leave Rome, or agree to any
ment, until they were paid all that was due to them, amounting, by their
reckoning, to 300,000 scudi; and as the Pope could only pay 100,000
scudi, selling all that he had in the Castle, goth of his own and of the
Church's ornaments, and goods of the Cardinals and others, no means
could be found to satisfy their demands. So I am in great fear lest, by
the brutality of the Germans and the fault of others, the whole fruit of
our enterprise will be lost, especially as the army of the League is not far
off ; not more, it is believed, than 20 or 25 miles ; and some of their men
have made an attempt to liberate the Pope. A few days later it was
arranged with the lanceknights that the amount paid by the Pope should
be given to them ; and the prince of Orange and other captains promised
that they should be paid in full, out of the first moneys recovered, as
surety for which Parma and Piacenza should be placed in their hands.
By these two conditions we hope to stave off their eagerness (rabbia) to
have the Pope and Cardinals in their hands, for which they make grest
importunity. In truth, this treaty is of such great importance that your
Majesty s servants seem to have undertaken every obligation with these
lanceknights to secure the lives of the Pope and the Cardinals. Some
difficulty remains about finding the 100,000 sc., but I hope to hit on some
expedient. Thus it is determined to put, to-morrow, 300 foot into the
Castle, for its safe custody, and gra.dualfy we shall see to the execution of
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the rest. In reward for my labours on the first day I treated with the
Pope, in going from the castle I was wounded in the right arm by the
ﬁ:td. of an harquebus from the Castle, so I cannot write with my own

‘“On the 19th May I returned to the Castle to conclude the treaty
with the Pope and Cardinals, to which they had added certain articles
about the deﬁmxre of the persons in the Castle. Vespasian Colonna and
the abbot of Najera were with me. As the Pope was unable to pay the
100,000 cr. in money, not having more than 80,000, we sought for mer-
chants, who promised to pay the 20,000 cr. on the security of the Pope
and the Cardinals. The Pope, as usual, attempted to procrastinate,
wishing to see what assistance could be obtained from the League. In
this he was supported by Carpi and the Datary, and Gregory Casale, the

ish ambassador. In consequence of this delay, it was determined
the same night to enclose the Castle with intrenchments, and that the
army should take the field. Great difficulty was found in bringing the
soldiers together, as they were busy with the booty, and would not turn
out, especially the lanceknights, who thought it was a trick to get them
out of their quarters. The trenches were so made that neither the Pope .
nor any one else could escape.

‘ Great confusion,” he continues, ‘‘ has prevailed in the army since
Bourbon’s death. If he had lived, Rome, perhaps, would not have been
sacked, and matters would have been in a better course ; but it is of no
use to talk of what cannot be remedied.

¢ Since Bourbon’s death there was no one to take his place. The
Viceroy is ux'g)opm:.r, and the duke of Ferrara is away. The %;i:ce of
Orange has thought of himself as captain general ; and everything had
been done in his name, not indeed as captain general, but as the chief
person in the army. He is a favorite with the Germans. We are

ing to hear from your Majesty how the city is to be governed, and

whether the Holy See is to be retained or not. Some are of opinion it

should not continue in Rome, lest the French king should make a

i in his kingdom, and deny obedience to the said See, and the

ing of England and all other Christian “Yrinces do the same. The

Imperialists advise that the Holy See should be kept so low that the
Emperor will be able to dispose of it at his pleasure.

ginee the Pope’s refusal to agree to the capitulation, the captains and
counsellors of the army had been occupied in surrounding St. Angelo with
trenches, and preparing to fight in case of any attempt to succour the
Pope. 8Seeing all hope of succour fruitless, the Pope has returned to the
negotiations, and his troops evacuated the Castle, of which Alarcon took
possession with 300 infantry.

‘¢ Last night some Spaniards mutinied against the Germans, being dis-
satisfied that the money paid by the Pope should be assigned to the pay-
ment of the Germans, and that the hostages should be placed in their
hands. The Viceromho is not well looked on by many, was afraid of
harm happening to him, and left Rome. The marquis del Vasto has gone
with him, Don Ugo and Alarcon have remained, and with the other
captains and counsellors have pacified the Germans. Every day similar
dangers and difficulties have ‘p;s)ened, and the lanceknights did not
refrain from sacking the houses of Spaniards and others.

¢ There is much famine and pestilence here, but it has not been
possible to leave, because of the length of the negotiations with the Pope,
and for want of money for the soldiers.

“ The prince of Omnie was wounded by an han}luebus ten days ago.
The shot entered under the eye, passed through the head and the palate,
and out under his ear. There is good hope of his recovery.

‘“Many think that if your Majesty could make a good peace with
France, it would be well for you to come to Italy, In fact, without your
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coming, all Italy will be destroyed, chiefly because this army thinks of
nothing but plunder and destruction, and there is no one to restrain it.
Most of the gomans are still prisoners, as the soldiers demand ransoms at
their pleasure, which the inhabitants cannot pay, having lost all. No
captain dares to speak of a remedy.

““The prince of Orange and these captains, considering that I worked
much at the accord by which Parma and Piacenza will come into your
Majesty’s hands, have granted me the government of these cities, with
power to appoint a substitute. I send a copy of the grant, and beg from
you a confirmation or new grant, as I wish to give it to my brother.

¢ Now Bourbon is dead, near whom your Majesty ordered me to live,
I wait further orders. Rome, 8 June 1627.”

One more extract from a private letter of Cardinal Como
to his secretary ! must close these horrible details :—

“ Rome was taken on the 6th. They began to sack the city the same
day. The sacking and taking of prisoners continued for 12 days, and it
would have la.st;:f longer still if tll)\ero had been anything to sack, or any
more prisoners to take. After the first three days, the prince of
who claimed to be chief on the death of Bourbon, issued a proclamation
against plundering and taking prisoners, but the soldiers no lo
acknowledged any superior, and behaved more cruelly than before. e
ga.l.uce of Pompeio Colonna, in which was the Chancery, was one of the

rst places riﬂI:zl; but Pompeio Colonna had not yet come thither, and
little booty was found in it. Next the palace of Campo di Fiore was
sacked, and those of all the Cardinals who were in the Castle with the
Pope. An attack was then made on the palace of the ambassador of
Portugal (Don Martino, nephew of the king of Portugal), who was reported
to have a large store of goods belonging to merchants. Two Spanish
captains volunteered to defend the palace for sufficient drink money. The
Portuguese ambassador, confiding in the shadow of his King whose
kinsman he was, said he would have no banner but that of the king of
Portugal. The merchants and gentlemen whose goods were in his house,
and who had fled to him for protection, prayed him, with tears, to comply
with the wishes of the captains ; but the ambassador said it was i
the honor of his sovereign. The captains went away, and brought
Spaniards and lanceknights, who entered the palace together ; and though
it was very strong, and well fortified with men and artillery, no defence
was made. The whole palace was sacked, and all that were within it were
made prisoners, both men and women. The ambassador was taken and
robbed, and, if he had not been delivered by the help of John de Urbino
(d’Orbina), would have been compelled to pay a heavy fine, besides the
money and goods he had lost, amounting to more than 13,000 ducats.
The total amount of property in the house was upwards of 500,000 ducats ;
for it was the strongest palace in Rome,—and all the Roman gentlemen
had deposited their money and jewels in it, the merchants their fine
goods, and the Jews their pledges.

¢ The soldiers then began to attack the other houses of the princes,
Romans, and merchants, every one of which was sacked, even to those of
the poor water-carriers (acquaroli). There remained the houses of the
cardinals Valle, Cesarino, the Fleming Enchivort, and Siena, to whom,
as they were Imperialists, a number of men and women had fled, with
their goods, for protection. These houses were spared for eight days.
The Spanish captains, pretending a wish for these houses to be s
offered to protect them for a certain sum. At first they demanded for
each of the cardinals’ palaces 100,000 ducats, making it a great favour to

! 11 Sacco di Roma, 471. (Abridged.)
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spare them on these terms. In the end, Cesarino was compelled to agree
for 45,000 ducats, La Valle for 35,000, Enchivort for 40,000, Siena for
35,000. These sums were all paid in two days. A day or two after the
captains who had received the composition money said that the lance-
knights wanted to come and sack, and that they could not prevent them.
The lanceknighta a.oeordingli attacked the palace of the carSmAI of Siena,
who thought himself safe by the good cheer he had offered, and the
friendly terms on which he stood with the Emperor. The fight raged in
his for more than four hours; it was entirely gutted, and the
cardinal himself was made prisoner, together with all that were within.
He was dragged through the streets without his biretta, with a sorrowful
visage, and many kicks and blows, and made to pay 50,000 ducats ; and
after he had paid them, he was tied to a stable, and his head would have
been cut off if he had not paid 50,000 ducats more. As he had no money
he was compelled to give a bill for the amount. The lanceknights then
said they would sack th:(ra.laces of Cesarino, Valle, and Enchivort ; who,
seeing what hadlmpﬁn to Siena, withdrew in disguise to the house of
Pompey Colonna. ey had scarcely left when these palaces were all
sacked, notwithstanding the composition money y paid. Many
ladies who were in the house of La Valle left to go to Pompey Colonna’s,
but before they could reach it about 200 were carried off, with the
greatest cries and lamentations.”

After a variety of similar cruelties and extortions practised
by the Spaniards and the lanceknights, the writer proceeds : —

‘¢ All the churches and monasteries, both of friars and nuns, were
sacked. Many friars were beheaded, even priests at the altar ; many old
nuns were beaten with sticks ; many young ones violated, robbed, and
made prisoners ; all the vestments, chalices, silver, were taken from the
charches. The tabernacles in which were contained the Corpus Domint
were broken, and the Host itself was thrown, now on the ground, now
into the fire, now trampled underfoot, now put in a fryingpan to roast,
now broken into a hundred pieces. All the silver reliquaries were
scattered about. The head of St. John Baptist at San Silvestro was
spoiled of its silver and thrown on the ground. It was picked up by a
g)or old nun. Many of the nuns saved themselves in the house of

ompey Colonna, where there were about 500 in one room ; and though
Pompey Colonna could help neither friend nor kinsman, no injury was
done in his house. All the Spaniards and Germans in Rome, both princes,
officials, and men of the Court, were plundered and taken prisoners by
the Spaniards themselves, and treated just as cruelly as the others.
Signor Pereres [Perez), secretary to the Emperor, was made prisoner, and
bad to pay a ransom of 2,000 ducats. In short, there is not a house in
Bome, oitier of i or others, not a church or monastery, either of
the Romans or of foreigners, great or small, which has not been sacked ;
even the houses of the water-carriers and porters. Cardinals, bishops,
friars, priests, old nuns, infants, dames, pages, and servants—the very
poorest—were tormented with unheard-of cruelties,—the son in the
Presence of his father, the babe in the sight of its mother. Fathers were
sparated from sons, husbands from wives, so that they knew nothi
about each other; menservants and maidservants tortured to revl:ﬁ
L treasures, and made prisoners, for the most part, two or three
times over ; first by the Italians, then by the Spaniards, and afterwards
by the lanceknights ; sometimes by the vexg men who had already exacted
afine, and, finding the person rich, demanded another. The houses were
sacked three times: first of their plate and fine goods ; then of their
other movables ; lastly, the villanous Colonnesi came, dying with hunger,
and sacked and ravaged what the other soldiers had not deigned to take.
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Laden with their booty they left Rome, taking away even nails and iron
bars, so that really scarcely anything whatever is left. All the apothecaries’
shops were plundered to no purpose, and the boxes and vases thrown
about, so that an ounce of me(ficine can hardly be purchased in Rome for
10 ducats. All the registers and documents of the Camera Apostolica
were sacked, torn to pieces, and partly burnt, so that not a piece of them
can be found entire. What a number of bulls were mutilated, their lead
torn off to make bullets for the harquebuses! They had begun to sack
the Pope’s beautiful private library, of which there is not the like in all
the world ; but Dentuulla,! of the prince of Orange, told them that the
Prince forbad them to do much in t}l)mt quarter, a3 he had his wardrobe
close by ; which we had some difficulty in making them believe.

¢ ie whole damage done in Rome is estimated by merchants at six
or eight millions of ducats at the least ; though the eng:’nav’ could only
have made a little more than one million’s worth of the g taken, and
another million out of the compositions and ransoms ; but after emb}:iying
all the coffers in Rome, they had 100,000 ducats in bills. They no
general. The prince of Orange was their chief in dignity, but they would
not obey him.

¢ The lanceknights cannot bear to hear the Viceroy spoken of ‘et li
vogliono male di morte.” Gio. d’Urbino is the first man of all the Spanish
officers that the Spaniards have obeyed. Many of the private soldiers
have made as much as 25,000, 30,000, or even 40,000 ducats each. Fancy
what the captains have made! The prince of Orange has not gai
a farthing. I do not believe it was from any scruple, but that he did not
know how.—Civita Vecchia, 24 May 1527.”

Thus was Rome besieged, taken, and sacked, not as in the
infancy of the Faith, by Goths and Huns, or by Turks and
Mahommedans, but in the mature age of Christianity, by her
own sons, who professed the same creed and worshipped at
the same altars as herself. The sacred and eternal city, once
mistress of the world, exercising a prouder lordship than
Pagan Rome had ever exercised over the faith and consciences
of mankind, was doomed once more to sit in the dust, and
mourn over the iniquities of her own children, by whom she
had been brought to desolation. The spoiling of her treasures,
the destruction of her works of art, the harvests of many
generations, the loss of books and records, never to be replaced,
were trifles in comparison with the extinction of those tradi-
tions of sanctity and inviolability which had descended to her,
as an inalienable inheritance, from age to age. Invested in
the imaginations of men with the fulness of Apostolic authority,
the central home where Christianity had gathered up its
strength, and arrayed itself in its most awful majesty, more
sacred than Jewry itself, now that Jewry was wholly abandoned
to the Infidels, she was no longer the queen and virgin of
earlier times. The awe she had once inspired was gone for
ever. Yet the world looked with horror and dismay on this

! Some error, apparently, in the transcript.
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spectacle of her ruins. Even those who had been instru-
mental to her destruction found it necessary to shift the blame
from themselves, and shunned the averted looks of those who
regarded them as profaners of holy things, and ministers of
Satan. The floodgates of the world had broken up, and the
day of vengeance was at hand. Rhodes and Hungary delivered
to the Turk, Rome trampled down by heretics, the Lutheran
defiling the sanctuary, the Infidel openly defying the Vicar of
the Most High, what remained except the reign of Antichrist,
which was fast coming on the earth? The ancient strong-
holds of the Faith had fallen and passed away; heresy and
corruption were now to triumph in its stead.
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CHAPTER XXVIL
THE FRENCH ALLIANCE.

For reasons which had now become more pressing than ever,
Wolsey had been anxious, during the last and at the com-
mencement of the present year, to prevent any closer con-
junction between Francis and the Emperor. But how fo
proceed securely was the question, for he had not yet been
able to fathom the exact significance of the treaty of Madrid,
and the precise nature of the negociations for the marriage of
the French King with the Emperor's sister. In this um-
certainty he adopted a temporizing policy, maintaining a good
understanding with Francis without committing himself to an
open rupture with Charles V. The wisdom of this resolve
was justified by the conduct of the two monarchs. Though
Francis professed the greatest friendship for England, and
entire submission to Wolsey’s advice, he had entered into
secret negociations with the Emperor for the delivery of his
children. So long as the war in Italy remained undecided,
and there was any chance that the operations of his army
might be unfortunate, or the Pope alienated by hope of rein-
forcements from France, the Emperor showed a more accom-
modating temper. To obtain peace he was willing to consent
to reasonable conditions ; and for that purpose, with the view
of amusing and deceiving both Courts, he had sent an ambas-
sador to England, ostensibly to entertain proposals agreeable
alike to all parties, secretly to protract negociations as long
as possible by various expedients, and prevent any conclusion
until the turn of affairs in Italy should leave it in his power
to dictate his own terms. During the course of this intrigue,
whatever offers were made by Wolsey to Francis were betrayed
by the latter to Charles, with a view of enhancing the import-
ance of his own alliance, and weakening the union of the
Emperor with England.

But whilst he professed to listen to the French King's
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proposals for the delivery of his children, and seemed ready
to moderate the articles of the treaty of Madrid, Charles was
secretly resolved to insist on the surrender of Burgundy. No
sooner, then, was his success in Italy apparent, than he threw
off the mask, and flatly refused to make any concessions.!

It was necessary for Wolsey to feel his way with caution.
Openly to advise Francis to repudiate Eleanor, and offer him,
in this state of things, a closer alliance with England, was
out of the question. When, in the first transports of his
delivery, Francis, a year before, was profuse in his gratitude
to Henry and the Cardinal for their good offices, Wolsey had
suggested to Taylor and Cheyne,? the ambassadors with the
French King, that they should enlarge on the obvious ad-
vantages of amity between the two Princes, ‘¢ after which
peace might be concluded at a friendly and personal inter-
view.” They were to add, as from himself, that ‘ he was of
opinion that a lady of more tender years and nature, and of
better education, beauty, and other virtues,” than Eleanor,
would be a more suitable match for the French King, ‘ wherein,
if at any time I may know his desire, I shall be a broker and
& mediator for him to the best of my power.”® The young
lady in question was the Princess Mary, then only ten years
old. Nothing apparently came of this proposal until five
months after, when Clerk, then ambassador at the French
court, was informed by Francis that he had received letters
ort of England from his ambassador, ‘‘that the king of
England, his entire beloved brother and best friend, would
have him now become and wax a good man.” ‘What he
thould mean thereby,” says Clerk, *“ we cannot tell.”* As
Francis and his mother were engaged at the time in attending
the funeral of the late Queen Claude, no further notice was
taken of this suggestion until the 14th of October, when, in
reply to & letter from Wolsey, Clerk said that he thought the
words of the King of France  sounded to such an intent, and
; 1 deemed verily that the practice had been somewhat set
forwards ; notwithstanding, because your Grace, at that time,
had not written unto me thereof . . . I thought it best that

. V8ee IV. p. 1388, and especially Christian Majesty first married the
Clerk’s letter of March 1, p. 1310. Princess, and restored to him Bou-
? May 4, 1526, IV. p. 962. logne, saying, ¢ This King will not
? On the 11th of September, Gas- spend money to make an enemy of

paro Bpinelli wrote to the Bignory to  his friend, and gain nothing.”” Brown's

sy that he had been informed by the  Ven. Cal, p. 607.

Cardinal that the King would not join ¢ Sept. 13, IV. p. 1108.

e Italian Jeague unless his Most

VoL. 11, K




130 THE REIGN OF HENRY VIIL (A.D.

I myself should not be too busy, ne with my Lady therein, ne
with none other of the Council ; but that it should suffice that
by other I did procure that those men have been put in
remembrance of their necessity of friends, and of that thing
that should so much make for their surety and weal, not
doubting but they should see and feel themselves a-cold, and,
80 doing, they would themself come running to blow the
coal.”?

The affair lingered unaccountably. The French King,
desirous of making the easiest terms he could with the
Emperor, avoided committing himself to any act which should
render such accommodation more difficult. Under one pre-
tence or another he kept out of the way of the English
ambassadors, and avoided the necessity of giving them an
answer. At length, on All Souls’ Day (2nd Nov. 1526), Clerk
succeeded in obtaining an interview. ‘I pressed him, then,
on two points,” he says in his account of their conversation,
‘““one was to stir him to the wars ”—meaning the war of the
confederates in Italy ;—*‘ another to prepare himself for this
most desired peace,” which the Emperor had apparently
consented should be arranged in England; * finally, that
he would let us know his resolution for the redemption of his
children. He was very sore at this; said he could not do
otherwise than he had done. I said it was needful to enlarge :
the sum (the ransom), and that the King would mediate for =
him better with the Emperor if Wolsey knew his resolution.
He made no satisfactory answer. I urged that he had good
cause to trust the King, for he was ready to give unto him,
in marriage, his daughter, the pearl of the world, and the
jewel that his Highness esteemed more than anything on
earth. He said, ‘ By the faith of a gentleman, not only no¥
of late, but also of a long season before his going into Italy
(meaning before the battle of Pavia), he had a mind to many;
his brother’s daughter of England.’” That is, a child of te
years old. ‘I said to him, ‘Sir, whereat stick you then?,
It stondeth only by you that the thing is not performed.
know well that she is offered unto you under such conditi
as in manner ye cannot wish them better. Besides thsb
said I, ¢ she is of that beauty and virtue ; "—and herewith
willino to speak somewhat largely in the laud and pnuse
my lady Princess, he said, ‘I pray you repeat to me none
all these matters; I know well enough her education, b

1 IV. p. 1188.
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form and fashion, her beauty and virtue, and what father and
mother she cometh of, and how expedient and necessary it
shall be for me and my realm that I marry her. And I
assure you for the same causes I have as great a mind to her
as ever I had to any woman; but I must do my things, as
near as I can, without displeasure of God and reproach of the
world.” And here he told us he had promised to marry
Madame Eleanora, but he thought the Emperor would refuse
her. “But,’ said Clerk, ‘suppose the Emperor do not? I
am of opinion that he will be very glad if you will have her.
For what should he do with her? Where can he bestow her
so well g8 upon you? Wherefore, Sir, I think verily, if ye
axe her according to the treaty (of Madrid) ye shall have her.’
He said, if the Emperor consented he would be advised before
he took her ; but he was sure the Emperor would refuse.”?!

It is not difficult to catch the drift of all these compli-
mentary excuses. The defeat of the Hungarians by the Turks
was not so calamitous to all the powers of Christendom as
might have been surmised. Those who professed to lament
it most, secretly consoled themselves with the persuasion
that it must moderate the ambitious designs of the Emperor.
In proportion as he was bound to avenge it, provide for the
safety of his sister, the widowed Queen of Hungary, and
support the pretensions of Ferdinand, the less would he be
able to attend to his own aggrandizement. Every one, except
the Emperor himself, had an interest in expressing his
horror of the event in the most exaggerated terms; and policy
concurred with pity in fomenting the popular odium against
the man who had shown so little concern for the misfortunes
of his sister. It was then partly the hope of finding the
Emperor more pliable, partly the expectation of inducing
Henry to moderate the conditions attached to the offer of
Mary’s hand—for he demanded no less than the surrender of
Boulogne—that induced the French King, in the presence
of Clerk, to insist so strictly upon his honour, and the neces-
sity of fulfilling the promise he had made to the Emperor.
That necessity had never occurred to him so vividly before.?

To cheapen the value of Mary’s hand by openly dissuading
his marriage with Eleanor was no part of Wolsey’s policy.

- He affected the character of a disinterested friend and adviser.
In averting a union that could not tend to the French King's
happiness, he was only consulting the King’s best interests.

' IV. p. 1167. * See letter of Morette to Francis, IV. p. 1168,
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If Francis desired a matrimonial alliance with England he
must sue for it himself, and be ready to show his sense of
the obligation by liberal offers. Secure in his island home,
undisturbed by the wars of Christendom, possessing * a jewel '
which an Emperor might envy—did envy in fact, and deplore
the hard necessity which compelled him to decline it—Wolsey's
master was not so straitly pushed that he should throw away
his daughter for nothing, or contract alliance with & King
who had nothing to offer in turn. Why should he, whose
wealth was sufficient for all purposes, whose prosperity was
undiminished, seek one for a son-in-law whose children were
hostages in a foreign land, and himself only one remove from
a prisoner? If Francis preferred the hand of Eleanor, the
domineering sister of a domineering Emperor, fo wealth, liberty,
alliance with England, and the recovery of his children upon
favourable conditions, that was his own concern. His friends
might deplore, but were not bound to prevent, such infatua-
tion. So when Clerk presented himself to Louise, ostensibly
to discuss indifferent subjects, really to fathom her and her
son’s intentions, the two wary diplomatists fenced and
manceuvred with one another, under the mask of the most
engaging sincerity. ‘ They proposed,” she told Clerk, “to
send a nobleman into Spain to demand Madame Eleanora*—
in reality to make propositions she had no mind that Clerk
should discover—‘‘if she is denied them they will protest
that the King claims liberty to marry whom he likes.” Buf
in this and in all other matters she affected to be guided
implicitly by England. Clerk suggested that under present
circumstances the Emperor might possibly not insist upon
Burgundy, but be satisfied if Francis paid the ransom, and
espoused his sister. ‘“In that case,” continued Clerk, ““intend =
you to accept the marriage?” Louise replied that her son’s
mind had long been set upon the daughter of England, “as
upon that thing that should be most profitable to both realms,
and also, considering her age and her virtues, most pleasanf
and delectable to hunself that Madame Eleanora being now
of the age of 80 years, and far other qualities, to take and -
buy her so dear, Clerk might be well assured that the KHIC
her son, if he might choose, should not gladly set his mind ==
that way, were she never so much the Emperor's sister.” -
She adroitly added, with a little spice of maliciousness, thst -"_'
Francis could never expect any help from Charles, seeing how -
he had treated his other sister (the Queen of Hungary), and

ARy TR
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how devoid he was of natural affection. Then, suddenly
turning the conversation, she demanded of Clerk what Henry
would have them do in this case to end these interminable
wars. ‘‘ Hereat,” says the ambassador, “to be plain with
your Grace, I somewhat staggered. For to repeat unto her
such reasons as should dissuade the marriage of Madame
Eleanor, I thought it no time, she had rehearsed them so
clearly already. But I urged for her consideration that
Madame Eleanora was now of that age that there should not
be found, peradventure, so much good nature and humility in
her a8 in my lady Princess, whom now in this age and after
this education she might bring, fashion, forge up, and make
of her what she would herself, assuring her that my said lady
Princess should be as loving, lowly, and humble unto her as
she should be to her own father and mother.” At these
words Louise lifted up her hands, and said, with tears in her
eyes, that Clerk spoke the truth ; adding that if the Princess
became her son’s wife, she would be as loving and humble
unto her as to her own son.!

The result was not very satisfactory. Urge what reasons
be would, it was clear that Francis was determined on the
recovery of his children at all hazards. It was equally clear
that the Emperor had solemnly declared ? that the children
should never be released without the comsummation of the
King’s marriage with his sister, and the surrender of Burgundy.
Louise, at & subsequent interview, urged that means might be
found for knitting the two kingdoms by a marriage between
the children. * The Dauphin,” she said, ‘‘should not be
meet, a8 England ought to have a ruler of its own.” She
proposed the Duke of Orleans, ‘‘ whose name was Henry, and
resembled the King’s highness in name, face, and all his gests
and manners.” Clerk received the proposition coldly. He
bad no instructions to that effect.?

Time wore on. The probabilities of Mary’s marriage
became more uncertain than ever. “The French king,”
writes Clerk on the 12th of December,® ¢ pretends he is
sending into Spain only to demand Madame Eleanora.
Doubtless he intends to treat for peace. If he restores
Bourbon, marries Eleanora, pays the ransom, and the
Emperor, in dread of the Turk, forbears his demand of
Burgundy, they are in good train for it. I have told the

' IV. p. 1174 3 Ibid.
* « Vovit et juravit,” ibid. ¢ IV. p. 1204.
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Italian ambassadors here’ (who were then urging upon
Francis the more energetic prosecution of the war in Italy),
“‘that they must consider the Frenchmen’s nature—how little
inclined they would be to a new war, and unlikely to stay
with them; but, for aught I can say, they remain still in
their good opinion.! I pray God they be not deceived. I
assure your Grace it is greatly to be feared. I was told by
the Legate that when Francis was in Spain he seemed to
have great pleasure in Madame Eleanora’s company” (who
had now cast off her widow’s weeds, and called herself the
French queen) ; ‘‘ and to this day Francis speaks now and then
very good and pleasant words of her. This is a sign that he
sets more by her than he would have us know.”

The report from Ghinucei,? then in France, was not more
hopeful. He told Wolsey that though he could not perceive
any signs of regard for Eleanora in Francis or his mother,
there was no probability of any marriage with Mary so long
as Francis entertained the least hope of an arrangement with
the Emperor. So resolved were they on the restoration of the
children, that all their actions were exclusively directed to
this end ; and as they thought there were no other means of
compassing it except by a Spanish marriage, Francis would
consent not to marry Eleanor only, but any woman, though
she were a hundred years old,—‘‘ even Cssar’s mule,” to use
their own phrase, if that were necessary. To disguise his
intentions from his confederates, to whose ill successes in Italy
Francis was wholly indifferent, was now their main concern.
If, therefore, Wolsey’s proposal was to take effect, it would be
necessary to modify the conditions of Mary’s marriage. 8o
all demands for the surrender of Boulogne were abandoned,
and Fitzwilliam was sent to offer the hand of the Princess on
easier terms.8

On arriving at Poissi the 19th of December he found the
King hunting as usual—his ordinary device for avoiding dis-
agreeable business. Returning on Saturday the 22nd, Francis
sent word to Fitzwilliam and Clerk that if they liked to vist .
him on Sunday he would wait dinner. On their admissio® -.
into his chamber, he observed to them that though he did not
consider himself bound by the treaty of Madrid, yet he wss -

! 1.¢. “of aid from France.” gress of negooiations there; but the

* Dec. 11, 1V. p. 1198, French, suspecting the design, bad -

? He had sent Ghinucci to Spain  detained Ghinucci at the French court
a fow days before to watch the pro- under various pretences.
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afraid that when he came to treat, the Emperor, sesing how
friendless he was, would insist upon his espousing Eleanor.
Hereupon Fitzwilliam remarked that he had been sent by the
King his master ‘to speak plainly the bottom of his heart
and mind.” Francis replied he would hear him gladly; for
‘“‘round, plain, and open language was a language that pleased
him best of all.” Then Fitzwilliam added that he had come
to offer the Princess Mary on easy terms; and if the proposi-
tion were accepted, Henry would join him and his confederates.
The proposal was received by the King ‘ with a glad and very
merry countenance,” and the ambassadors were at once re-
ferred to his mother.! Delighted to find that no further
demand was made for the cession of Boulogne, Louise proffered
her best efforts in advancing the match with her son, who had
long been anxious, she said, to marry the Princess ‘* for her
manifold virtues and other gay qualities.” “For all this,”
says Fitzwilliam, ‘“ we think it very hard to say what they
now think, and what they will do.” Unknown to them,
Francis was at that very moment deep in negociations with
the Emperor ; doomed to be deceived in his turn as he was
deceiving others. But to the Spanish court he held a very
different language in respect to this offer of my Lady Princess,
from that. which he used to the English ambassador, notwith-
standing his love *‘ of round, plain, and open language.”

At last matters fell into a better train. For, despairing
of finding the Emperor in & more accommodating humour,
Francis turned his thoughts to these matrimonial proposals of
England. The first month of the new year was spent in
armanging the preliminaries, and settling the bases on which
negociations should proceed. They consisted, as usual, in the
endeavour of each side to outwit the other. Francis was, or
at least appeared to be, more gracious and liberal than his
ministers ; more anxious to accept the demands of his ‘“ best
beloved fnend and brother.” It is probable that at the
moment he expressed no more than he felt; for he was not
accustomed to reserve, and his affairs with the Emperor were
beginning to look desperate. The aid of England was indis-
pensable ; still more, if he seriously intended to carry the war
into Spain, and compel the Emperor to surrender his children.
Nor was this intention so improbable as it might be thought.
He was certainly anxious that his alliance with Henry should
take the form of an offensive league ; and to avenge himself

1 IV. p. 1216.
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on the Emperor was one of his objects throughout the coming
year. But, in the words of Ghinucei, “I do not understand
these mysteries, and have resolved to dismiss them from my
thoughts, as I am not likely to fathom them.”?

After many tedious formalities, Grammont Bishop of
Tarbes, Francois Viscomte Turenne, and La Viste, the Pre-
sident of Paris, were sent into England at the latter end of
February, to arrange for a marriage in due form. A minute
account of their proceedings has been preserved in a diary
kept by Dodieu, the secretary of the embassy.?

I make the less excuse for entering into these details
because they present the Cardinal to my readers on his
stronger side, and in his appropriate element. It was not in
domestic affairs or local politics that the genius of Wolsey
displayed itself to the best advantage, but in diplomacy and
statesmanship. Unaided by fleets or armies, ill supported by
his master, and by colleagues of very moderate abilities, he
contrived by his individual energy to raise this country from
a third-rate State into the highest circle of European politics.
Englishmen have been so long accustomed to this supremacy,
are so sensitive to any diminution of their reputation and
influence abroad, that they cannot recognize the difficulty of
Wolsey's task, or the merits of the man who first conceived
and realized this conception of his country’s greatness. Gasp-
ing and enfeebled from the wounds of the civil wars, content
to purchase internal tranquillity at the price of obscurity;
menaced by Scotland on one side, by Ireland on the other;
without fleets or armies, or a foot of colonial ground ;—it
required all the proud originality of genius to overlook the
material disproportion of England, and contend for the palm
with the greatest and most ancient kingdoms of the world!
It was not merely, as foreign statesmen said of the Cardinal,
that he would have moved heaven and earth sooner than any
man should be thought greater than his master; but he
brought to his master’s feet, popes, kings, and emperors,

1 1V. p. 1266. it was drawn, in spite of iteelf, to-
* See a full abstract of it, IV. wards the very ocentre of Cathdlic
p. 1397. thought and a common Christendom.

# No nation has cver yet become Looking on its geographical positios,

great, which from local position or
other causes has been kept apart from
the general current of human in-
terests. It was not the only advantage
this country derived from its connce.
tion with Rome, that by its conversion
to Christianity by Roman missionaries,

at the extrcme verge of the West,
separated from the rest of the world,
who could have anticipated that it
would ever have risen out of its insular
exclusiveness, and mingled its history
with the history of the West?
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when popes and emperors were powerful entities, and king-
ship something more than a shadow. There are indica-
tions enough in state papers to show that this was no
common feeling among the English statesmen of his days,
whatever it may be now, when English representatives at
home or abroad speak with an influence wholly independent
of their individual worth and ability. Unused to foreign
politics, unequal to cope with the subtle and dexterous diplo-
matists of the Continent, imperfect linguists, and shy from
their insular isolation, Englishmen in those days felt them-
selves little fitted to maintain that proud and independent
position which has since become habitual and familiar. It
was the genius of Wolsey that led the way; as it was his
genius that determined the foreign policy, not only of this but
of subsequent reigns; and though in this conference he stood
alone, it will be seen that he was more than a match for the
most accomplished diplomatists that Francis could select.

The commissioners reached Dover at one o’clock on the
26th of February, and were received at their landing by the
notorious John Joachim. They were admitted to their first
sudience with the Cardinal at Westminster on the 8rd of
March. De Tarbes, in a formal Latin speech, thanked his
Grace for the services he had rendered in promoting the
marriage and advancing the King’s deliverance. Then, re-
tiring with Wolsey into his closet, he repeated his thanks in
French, announcing that he had brought powers to conclude
the marriage and to treat for a universal peace, but it was his
master’s wish that they should make their first application to
the Cardinal, and be ruled by his advice. After a few brief
Pprotestations of his unalterable affection for the French King,
Wolsey, waiving all compliments, plunged at once into business.
He admonished the ambassadors that no proffer had been
made of Mary’s hand, nor had any one been empowered to
make one. She must be asked for, and not offered. For his
part he had desired, and still desired, the restitution of the
two Princes, and for that reason he had suggested an offensive
lague in consideration of the marriage ; but before either
proposition could be entertained, he intended to establish a
treaty for perpetual peace between the two nations, that there
might be no further contention between them. Unprepared
for this announcement, the ambassadors urged that the present
tlliance between the two sovereigns was sufficient. But, deaf
to all argament, Wolsey insisted that the Princess could no
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be given to a man of whose perpetual friendship they were not
fully assured. On this point he remained firm, and would
listen to none of their overtures. It was in vain that they
urged they had no instructions. ¢ How could that be ?” he
retaliated instantaneously, ‘ seeing that Brinon and Robertet
have been commissioned by the King your master to hear the
proposals for perpetual peace, and, by Madame’s advice, he
has consented to our demand for Ardes, Boulogne, a tribute
of salt, and a pension of 50,000 crowns.” Whether this was
true or not, he spoke with such consummate assurance that
they did not even dare to question his assertion. The marriage,
he insisted, was of the utmost importance to Francis. It was
the only way for extricating him out of his difficulties ; but
the indispensable preliminaries, without which it would be
useless to proceed, were a perpetual peace, an annual tribute
of salt, and a pension for his master of 50,000 crowns. In
vain they remonstrated that this was buying marriage too
dear; that the honour of France could not suffer it to become
tributary to any nation. Wolsey affected to treat their
objections as frivolous. He was as much concerned as them-
selves to maintain the honour of their master, and had kept
it steadily in view in drawing up these arrangements. It was
no use to dissemble; he was certain they had received the
necessary instructions. Then, taking the Bishop of Tarbes
aside, he expatiated on the trouble he had undergome in
obtaining his master’s consent to these terms, and the opposi-
tion he had encountered—alluding to the Duke of Norfolk,
and probably to the Queen. These discussions took place on
the Sunday.

A second audience was appointed for Shrove Tuesday.
On that day Wolsey began with informing the commissioners
that he had apprized the King of their coming; that his
Majesty was much pleased at the intelligence, and had asked
for the conditions of the peace, but was greatly surprised on
being informed that they had brought none. He reiterated
his former arguments. He urged that it was useless sending
ambassadors unless his demands were granted. As for the
pension, it was a mere bagatelle. He would rather pay it out
of his own pocket than sacrifice the alliance for such a trifle.
If they refused, they were only deceiving him ; and, under the
pretext of negociating with his master, Francis was in reality
attempting to conceal his intention of concluding the matech
with Madame Eleanor. ‘ Be it so,” he continued, with
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exasperating coolness; ‘“let him only be candid, and I will
willingly assist him to bring it about.” Never was there a
more peremptory negociator. Firm as a rock, he would make
no concessions.

On Thursday they were presented to the King in his
arriere salle at Greenwich. They found him surrounded by
the Dukes of Norfolk and Suffolk, Sir Thomas More, Lord
Rochford, and Fitzwilliam, and other great officers of State.
On presenting their credentials to the King, he expressed the
great obligations he felt to his brother of France for conde-
scending to take his little daughter, who did not deserve such
an honour. He had long entertained great affection for their
master, such as one gentleman might feel for another, and, if
his state allowed it, would not be without his company for a
single day. ¢‘Their alliance,” he said, ‘‘was firm so that
there was no need to strengthen it by any additional treaty ;
still, he was astonished to find that nothing was said in their

credence of a perpetual peace.” They excused themselves as
vell as they could, urging that peace was so well established
already between the two Kings for their lives, that it was not
likely to be broken by their successors. Then he desired to
kmow the exact state of their master's engagements with
Madame Eleanor; for he could not think of bestowing his
heiress on & man, about whose capacity to marry any doubts
might exist. They replied that this doubt was already re-
moved by their appearance on this occasion; that their master
would never do anything contrary to his honour and con-
science, and he would think it strange if this difficulty were
raised afresh, when he had given his word that he was free.
01.1 this Henry stepped aside, and, after consulting his
. inisters, told them that if Francis had been a simple gentle-
1 an he would readily have offered him his daughter’s hand,
but his councillors advised him not to risk the chance of their
being afterwards separated—(strange language, considering
from whose lips it came !)—and his capacity of contracting
marringe must be placed beyond all dispute. Then, taking
Turenne aside, he remarked that such great matters as these
could not be arranged without difficulties. A truth of which
be was soon after to make painful experience in his own
person.
The commissioners met again by appointment at Wolsey’s
house, on Friday the 8th. The discussion still turned on the
French King’s engagement to Eleanor. This was followed by

i
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another audience, of no moment, on the 9th. On Monday
11th, De Tarbes and Turenne received an invitation through
Lord Rochford to visit the King at Greenwich. After dinner
Henry sent for them to the Queen’s chamber, where they
talked much of his prosperity, and the friendship of the two
monarchs. When Katharine inquired whether they did not
intend to treat for a universal peace,! De Tarbes replied that
such a peace must be preceded by the object of their visit;
not venturing to state it explicitly, as he was still uncertain
whether it had been communicated to the Queen. The King
said to her, smiling, that they were referring to the marriage
of her daughter, the Princess. On this they requested her
approval of the mateh. She consented, but characteristically
added that the interests of two princes ought not to obstruct
the welfare of Christendom. When she insinuated that this
alliance might shake the good understanding existing between
the King and Ler nephew, they added, somewhat abruptly,
that as the two Kings would thus become powerful they might
dictate their own terms to the Emperor. The inverview
ended by the King showing them his furniture and his riches.
He talked much of the great things he had done for France,
and how much he had exhorted the Emperor to treat his
captive with generosity.

Whilst De Tarbes and Turenne were thus engaged with
the King, the others were closeted with Wolsey at Westminster.
He insisted, as before, on a new treaty of perpetual peace, the
salt, and the pension. Observing, in the course of his argu-
ment, that no treaty could be ratified without the consent of
the Estates of England, and that their consent would not be
given without some corresponding advantage, and the least
he could think of were the salt and the pension, La Viste
inquired of their manner of proceeding, and their powers.
Wolsey replied, that the Estates were summoned by the King,
and deliberated on matters proposed by him, the result of
which was always in accordance with the King’s wishes; and
their decisions, he said, were inviolable. La Viste remarked
that there was no necessity in France; for there the King is
the soul of the law, and can do whatever he chooses for the
good of his kingdom, and when any decree is registered in the
Court of Parliament it is rigidly enforced. They were then
invited to dine with the Cardinal on Friday, the 15th. On
that day D’Ouarty arrived from Francis with fresh instruec-

} That is, including her nephew the Emperor.
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tions, empowering them to offer 15,000 cr. worth of salt every
year, at the current price, but demanding in return the
delivery of the Princess within a month after the ratification
of the treaty. They found Wolsey in his gallery. As they
begged him to withdraw his demands, and advise his master
to do the same, he listened to their remonstrances with signifi-
- cant gestures of displeasure. He reproached them with not
understanding their business, or wilfully departing from their
instructions; he had learned from Clerk, the ambassador at
the French court, that they were empowered to grant his
demands, and had been instructed by Francis to that effect.
In proof of this assertion he read to them a Latin translation
of Clerk’s letter. After dinner he returned to the charge,
telling them that he had advised this alliance contrary to the
opinion of many of the Council ; that he could never have
anticipated they would have made any difficulty; and as to

advising his master to abandon his demands, he would rather
die than offer such advice, for he would be thought a fool or

a traitor if he did, and be in danger of his life.

Francis, he

said, should consider his services, and not urge him to do
what might cause him to be murdered in his bed.!

To this angry remonstrance the Commissioners calmly
replied, insisting on the impossibility of the conditions pro-
posed, but they offered as a token of friendship a tribute of
galf to the amount of 15,000 crowns annually during the life

of the King and the Queen.

v

! This was not so extravagant an
aseertion as at first sight might appear.
The French were very unpopular in
London, and that unpopularity was
still more excited on this oceasion by
the Hanse merchants, who naturally
took part with the Emperor, and &
very active body of religious reformers,
whom they supplied with Lutheran
books brought over in bales of goods
from Flanders. Tyndale and his ad-
berents were violent Imperialists.
They hated the Cardinal as much for
his adherence to the ancient faith as
foe his French policy ; whilst the out-
nges perpetrated at Rome by the
s troops, under the name of
Latberanism, did not fail to recommend
the latter as the patron of the Refor-
mation and the enemy of the Pope.
“This time,” says Hall (p. 721), “a
bill was set up in London much con-
trary to the honor of the Cardinal, in
the which the Cardinal was warned

They might just as well, says

that he should not counsel the King
to marry his daughter into France, for
if he did he should show himself
enemy to the King and the realm,
with many threatening words.” Hall
attributes to the displeasure occa-
sioned by this bill the Cardinal’s pre-
caution for setting a watch, and
causing guns to be posted in different
quarters of the oity, at night-time, on
the 30th of April. But it is just as
likely that these precautions were
taken against the May Day riots of
the London apprentices, who em-
ployed the opportunity in attacking
and insulting all foreigners, and pil-
laging their houses. They had already
expressed their determination to be
revenged on the Frenchmen for a
quarrel which had taken place in the
streets, and which ended in two
apprentice boys being sent to the
Tower.
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Dodieu, have offered him a pair of gloves. He would abate
nothing, saying they would spoil everything by their un-
reasonable refusals and mismanagement. Next day D’Ouarty
visited the King at Greenwich. He was graciously received ;
but found the King as resolute as his minister. For the salt,
he said, it was no more than 15,000 crowns, and he had often
lost as much at play. As for the pension of 50,000 crowns, .
his people would not be contented that he should abandon his
claims on France, and give Francis his only daughter, without
some equivalent. ¢ My master,” replied D’QOuarty, with the
gallantry of a Frenchman, * does not ask for the hand of the
Princess because she is an heiress, but if your Majesty had a
dozen daughters he would'ask for the hand of one of them,
from his affection and gratitude to your person. He will not
forget kindness, as the Emperor has done.” The King was
pleased at the reply, and putting his hands on D’Ouarty’s
shoulders, said he would ask Wolsey to be reasonable, and
they must be reasonable also. He then conducted the ambas-
sador to the Queen’s apartment, where D’Ouarty delivered his
message from Louise and Marguerite of Navarre, then newly
married, but in obedience to Wolsey’s injunctions, said nothing
of his charge before Katharine.

The discussions were resumed on Monday and Tuesday
with no happier result. Wolsey still persisted in negociating
the treaty upon his own terms and in his own way. He
refused to deliver Mary until she was of marriageable age,
that is, fourteen; but he dropped a hint that she might be
married to the Duke of Orleans, or a French princess be
contracted to the Duke of Richmond. At this unexpected
change the ambassadors were thrown into greater perplexity
than ever. At last on Friday the 22nd, after disputing all
the morning, De Tarbes and Joachim contrived to arrive at
the basis of a common arrangement. The Cardinal proposed
that if Francis refused the Princess she should be married to
the Duke of Orleans, then a prisoner in Spain, who should be
brought up with her in the English court; and that Henry
should not offer her hand to any other, unless when the Duke
came of age he refused it. It was further arranged that the
two Kings should endeavour to recover the French children
by peaceable means, and if the attempt failed they should
jointly make war on the Emperor. It was further agreed that
a perpetual peace should be made between the two Kings and
their successors, on condition of a tribute of salt from France,
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and an annual pension of 50,000 crowns. These arrange-
ments were dependent on certain stipulations not necessary
to be mentioned here.!

It will be seen that the terms were so arranged as to leave
the Cardinal in effect master of the situation. He had fairly
won the field, by his firmness and dexterity, against the most
accomplished diplomatists of the age, and he was resolved to
keep it. The measures to be adopted for recovering the
French King’s children were studiously ambiguous, and left
it at the Cardinal's option to decide when and how he would
exchange peaceful remonstrances for armed defiance. He
could at his pleasure employ either method as best served his

purposes with the Emperor. His demand for the salt and
the pension are intelligible enough; not so his obstinate
resolve that a perpetual peace between the two crowns should
take precedence of all other arrangements. He was well
avare that by the treaty of the More, passed during the
captivity of the French King, provision had already been
made for perpetual amity during the lives of the two sove-
reigns; and he must have been too well acquainted with the
natare of princes to suppose that such treaties would last any
longer than suited their own inclinations and their interests,
or those of their successors. If, therefore, this intense anxiety
on his part had any other motive than that of securing his
master'’s profit at the expense of France, or disengaging
Francis irretrievably from the Emperor, it must be sought in
some hidden reason which history has not revealed.? He had
obtained the consent of the Emperor that negociations for

! Bee IV. p. 1406.

* From a letter sent by Scarpinello,
smbagsador in England, to his master
the Doke of Milan, on the 19th of
March, we gain some further insight
into Wolsey’s wishes for a universal
peace, and the reasons why the French
were unwilling to entertain it. He
mys that it was the dread of the
Turk, and the necessity of defending
Flanders and Naples, which alone
caawd the passing inclination of the
Emperor for peace, of which he had
given assurance to England. ‘ The
present suspension of hostilities by
the Pope and the Viceroy gives the
Bmperor fresh power; and while
England is thwarted in its pacific
negociations, the Emperor becomes
waster of Italy.”” He inferred from
Wolsey’s conversation that he was

equally alarmed lest either side should
gain a decisive superiority ; for whilst
such an advantage would render the
Emperor more intractable, he strongly
suspected that a victory would make
France insolent. He said also that
the French were averse to peace.
This aversion Scarpinello attributed,
though I know not how justly, to a
wish on the part of Francis to make
himself, by a war, master of Naples,
release his sons without a ransom,
and recover the kingdom of Navarre
for his mnewly married sister.
“Should he succeed and obtain the
kingdom of Naples, Italy would be in
no less danger from his domination
than from the Emperor.”” The Pope,
suspecting these designs, had hurried
on his arrangement with the Viceroy.
See Brown’s Ven. Cal, p. 41.
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a universal peace, embracing the Pope and the Venetians,
then unsuccessful in their encounters with the Imperial troops
in Italy, should be conducted in England. The management
of such a peace by himself would in effect have brought the
Pope to his wishes—would have enabled him to dictate to
Christendom—at a time when the Pope’s compliance was
becoming indispensable for the course to which Wolsey was
now unhappily committed, and for the permanence of his own
authority. It must not be forgotten, that throughout these
long and tortuous discussions not a hint transpired of Henry's
intentions ;—not a whisper escaped, not a doubt was ex-
pressed, of Mary’s legitimacy, by the French commissioners.
Repeatedly and emphatically the King spoke of his daughter
as his successor and his heiress.! His scruples of conscience,
if at that time he felt any, were effectually buried in his own
bosom. Had any doubt arisen of the legitimacy of his
marriage with Katharine, had it occurred to La Viste or De
Tarbes, it is impossible that they should not have turned it
to good account, or have failed to avail themselves of it for
securing better terms, if not for rejeeting the match altogether.
Yet the King had already been actively engaged in promoting
his divorce. Either Katharine was unconscious of the ruin
which hung over her, or, in the respect publicly paid to her
by the King, who smiled and talked with all the suavity and
affection of a most faithful and devoted husband, she was led
to hope for the hest, and put the best construction on her
fears. In the alternative proposed by Wolsey of marrying
Mary to the Duke of Orleans, that is, a child of eleven to a
child of six years, instead of an old debauchee, it would be
pleasing to think that he was influenced by some better feeling
than ‘““base and rotten policy.” Considering the life that
Francis had led, and was then leading, nature revolts acainst
80 odious and frightful a union. It seems more probable that
the Cardinal, unable to ascertain exactly the relations between
the French King and the Spanish Princess, thought it a wiser
and safer course to take the son in place of the father.
Engaged already in an endeavour to obtain from the Pope &

! In his very meagre account of wife, werc good or mot. “Of this
these negociations, Hall states (p. 720)  first notion grew much business or it
that the arrangement was suspended, were ended.” The story bas been
becnure the President of Paris (La  repeated from mouth to mouth, with
Viste) doubted whether the marriage  the variation of the Bishop of Tarbes
between the King and her (the Prin.  for the President of Paris. There
cess's mother), being his brother’s  was no truth in it.
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divorce for his master, by one or more of those legal fictions
to which the canonists of those days freely resorted for dis-
solving the marriage vow, and bringing this sacrament, as it
was then held, into confusion, if not into contempt, he must
have been doubly anxious that no oversight on his part should
hereafter afford an opportunity to Mary’s husband for following
the steps of Mary's father. The objection to her legitimacy
by the Bishop of Tarbes, afterwards set up as an excuse for
Henry’s scruples, was not then entertained even by himself;
and most certainly, as I have said, did not originate with the
French ambassador. Anticipation of Henry’s divorce could
not have been the reason why Wolsey rejected the King of
France in favour of his second son, preferring an inferior
match to the superior. Nor had he at that time any reason
‘% suppose, when that divorce was known, that Francis, in
his own behalf, would resent the imputation of Mary’s illegiti-
macy. For the Pope, though driven to the last necessity,
msulted by the Viceroy, and besieged in his own capital, was
not yet & prisoner ; nor was so terrible a calamity as the fall
of Rome anticipated. As he was indebted for peace and
eremption from fear to the efforts of Henry and of Wolsey,
vho intended to chain up his greatest enemy, or only so far
It him loose as might be necessary to frighten his Holiness
mto compliance, both of them made sure that the Pope would
be obedient and grateful. He would have nothing to fear in
tomplying with the King's wishes; and fear was the pre-
dominant motive of his actions. So, though Katharine might
be divorced, the right and legitimacy of Mary would remain
unchallenged, and there was no fear that the French King’s
indignation hereafter would disturb these arrangements.

On Monday, the 25th of March, the ambassadors dined
with the Lord Mayor. The next day they visited the King at
Hampton Court, “‘a handsome house, built by Wolsey, and
presented by him to the King.” After his Majesty had heard
mass, they were ushered into the hall, and presented by Wolsey
to the King. On that day they dined with the Cardinal, the
Dukes of Norfolk and Suffolk, and the Marquis of Exeter.
After dinner they rejoined the King in the Queen’s apartment.
Whilst the Queen and Wolsey entertained De Tarbes, the
King displayed his learning by conversing with La Viste on
e Lutheran heresy and his own book against the Reformer.
“etiring with the Cardinal to his room, they found him still

uxicus to proceed with the negociations. He insisted on the
oL 1 r
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old topics ; urged that haste was necessary in order to make
preparations against the Emperor; that if the Emperor
remained intractable Henry would meet Francis at Boulogne
a fortnight before Pentecost, decide the alternative marriage,
and satisfy the wishes of their master for an offensive league
and the delivery of the Princess. They excused themselves
from further proceeding on one plea or another; continued to
fight over each article three days longer; pretended to advance
when they meant to recede; and, like wary combatants, dis-
puted every inch of ground with one who was as wary and
watchful as themselves. The main dispute now turned on the
delivery of the Princess, whom the French had determined to
claim for the King, and not for his son the Duke of Orleans.
To their utter amazement Wolsey informed them that the
King and his Council advised Francis to marry the Spanish
Princess for the sake of peace, if the Emperor would not other-
wise restore the two Princes ; and if Francis refused to comply
his master would decline to make war on the Emperor. The
French commissioners were taken aback at a proposal so
completely at variance with his previous language, and abruptly .
broke up the conference. ‘‘We have to do,” says Turenne, °
in a letter to Francis I., “with the most rascally beggar .
(paillart) in the world, and one who is wholly devoted to his -
master’s interest.” He was always on the alert, always ready
to take an advantage. ‘You may be sure,” says Turenne in
a subsequent letter,! ¢ we have to deal with a man as diffioult
to manage as can be, as you will see by what I and my fellows
write to the King. . . . The bargain made by the Pope with
the Emperor has caused him to augment a certain article to
his advantage, which he had already agreed upon with De
Tarbes.” Subsequently the Cardinal consented to waive all
mention of Eleanor; and matters proceeded more smoothly.
On the 10th of April the treaties were drawn up, and copies
exchanged. On the 14th Wolsey left them to obtain the
King’s assent. He returned on Friday the 15th, and promised
that all should be settled by Wednesday the 20th, but was
attacked the next day by a tertian fever. In the interval the
French commissioners, without giving him notice, had endes«
voured to procure certain modifications of the terms to their
own advantage. Ill as he was, Wolsey sent for Joachim and
De Tarbes on the 22nd. He insisted much on his services tog§-
Francis and Madame, and his endeavours to settle the treaty;

! April 6: IV. App. 106.

my
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he had heard that they were not well pleased with the varia-
tions he had made from his previous offer ; this, he said, was
very unpleasant to him; it had done him more harm than all
his illness, caused, in part, by the opposition he had encountered
from Norfolk and others in the Council.! With the Duke he
assured them that he had had high words in the presence of
the King, and his opponents were urgent to break off the
match. ‘“The Emperor,” remarks Dodieu, ‘““has many friends
in England. He has tried all means in his power to dissuade
the King from this alliance, even by means of women who are
in favour with the King, as he thinks; but Wolsey has done
what he could to hinder them.? Whether the writer intended
to include Katharine in the number, it is impossible to say.

The end was reached at last, though not by the shortest or
the simplest route, and the victory in all points rested with
the Cardinal. An annual tribute of salt, 50,000 crowns by

" way of pension, and some two millions of gold crowns to be
paid by convenient instalments, could not be considered as an
insignificant set-off for the hand of Mary and an alliance with
England ; especially as that alliance involved no exertion and
no sacrifice on the part of this nation, except at its own time
and pleasure. The money lent to the Emperor was a desperate
debt. It was clear that he could not or would not pay; and
be was rapidly becoming far too powerful to be intimidated.
He was not likely to be more compliant when the fate then in
mospect for Katharine should come to his knowledge. To
transfer the debt from a bad and unwilling to an obliging and
less refractory debtor, was a stroke of policy which Henry, at

' all events, was not likely to condemn. Such haggling over
Mary’s hand may sound strange to modern ears, and stranger
still this commercial and mercantile spirit displaying its
front unabashed among the chivalrous pageants and Arthurian
aspirations of Henry’s court.

But the chivalry of the times had a greedy and a grovelling
side. It was a coarse and vulgar inheritance bequeathed to
the nation by the selfish and turbulent passions of the civil
wars. It might not be exactly true, as urged by the King and
the Cardinal, that the Commons would never be brought to
eonsent to the exchange of an Imperial for a French alliance

— - .

Rertolt ey hare ativen sithir from  of serving. the. French King: 1V,
secret hatred of Wolsey, or pique  p. 1410.

Suffolk was to have the command 3 IV.p. 1411,
\ the event of & war. The latter
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without some pecuniary equivalent; yet it is undeniable that
the power and temptation of money were then beginning to be
felt as they had never been felt before. Though Henry VIII.
inherited from his mother the reckless profusion and voluptuous
habits of the Yorkists, he inherited also from his father the
suspicious temper and the money-loving tendencies of the
Lancastrians ; and the latter were now rapidly gaining the
ascendant, not in him alone, but in the nation generally.!
However powerful a minister might be in reality or in suppo-
sition, he could not afford to overlook this temper of the times.
He could not prevent it from modifying his measures. Least
of all could Wolsey. It was for him to find the means for
carrying on the government without burthening the people,
and procure the sums required for the King’s increasing
expenditure without augmenting taxation. Every year the
task became more difficult. The luxurious habits of the Court
and the people, the greater costliness of the government, the
declining value of money, increased the burthen. But it is
also true that the old spiritual life of the people had died out:
the world had become more alluring and more attractive; the
harder and more frugal discipline of earlier times, more irk-
some and repulsive. Already Henry’s favourites were begin-
ning to suggest that the Church was rich, and bore mo
proportionate share of the burthens of the State. Already
they were beginning to instil into the King’s ears the ungrate-
ful return made by churchmen for the blessings of his graciou 2
government ; whilst Lollardism among the lower orders then, 4
as ever, confined its sympathy and applause to Evangelicsl
poverty, and stigmatized riches as a sign of spiritual pride
Amicable loans were out of the question. Wolsey then must
find the means for meeting the exigencies of the times, eithe
by anticipating the example of his successor Cromwell, or by
his foreign diplomacy. He chose the latter, and staved off the
difficulty for a season.

The 28rd of April, the feast of St. George, was always
observed at the Court of Henry VIII. with extraordinary
splendour. On that day the commissioners dined with t#
King at Greenwich. After dinner he led them into the hall

PRRT NI SFTICR. gl
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1 There were two forms of Pro-
testantism, one before and one after
the reign of Mary Tudor. The first
was greedy, aggressive, regardless of
the lives and consciences of others;
borrowing and using without stint the
offensive weapons of the old Faith it

had so loadly condemned ; and tyrss-
nizing with its Barbara and Celares
over the harmless weaknesses of
The other, though not without
faults, was tender and heroie,
with the fires and memories of Smith*
field.
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where the Queen, the Princess Mary, the French Queen, and a
large company, were assembled. He desired them to address
the Princess, then in her twelfth year, in French, Latin,
and Italian. She answered them all in the same languages.
She then performed on the spinet, ‘“and is,” says Dodieu,
‘‘the most accomplished person of her age.”! During their
conversation with the King on this occasion an expression
escaped him of the greatest significance. Whilst speaking of
his desire to induce the Pope to rejoin the League, and humble
the Emperor, he complained that his affairs had always been
hampered by the delay of his ministers in talking of war, and
that .he intended to visit the French King, and settle his
difficulties with him in person. The ambassador replied that
he must entrust everything to the Cardinal; but, answered
the King, ““ I have some things to communicate to your master,
of which Wolsey knows nothing.”” That secret could have had
nothing to do with war, or peace, or foreign policy, for in all
these topics he implicitly trusted the Cardinal. Henry was
already entertaining designs of a totally different nature—
designs he had not yet ventured to communicate in their
fullest extent even to his minister.

On the 80th of April the treaties were signed and sealed,
and it was agreed that Poyntz and Clarencieux should be sent
vith the Bishop of Tarbes to defy the Emperor. On the
Ist of May the French remained at home for fear of the
London apprentices. On Saturday the 4th, they were taken
to Greenwich, where they found the King seated on his throne,
surrounded by Wolsey, the ambassadors of the Pope, of the
Venetians, and the Duke of Milan, with many prelates and
nobles. After Henry had embraced them they were conducted
fo a seat in front of the throne, whilst the knights of the
Garter were seated behind them. De Tarbes made a compli-
mentary oration in Latin, to which Tunstal, Bishop of London,
replied, standing bareheaded ? at the foot of the throne. The
King concluded the interview by complimenting the ambas-
sdor, and thanking God that matters were in such a good
tain. On Bunday the 5th, the Bishop of London sung mass
in the chapel, Wolsey apparently being too ill to officiate.

h‘ IV. p. 1412.8We must add to
scquirements Spanish, whioh she
ad learned from her mother; but as
w0 Spanish ambassador was present,
‘e had no occasion for displaying her
woficiency in that language.

! The writer is struck with this,

because such uncovering of the head
was not usual in France. In general
strangers visiting England could not
belp noticing the much greater degree
of ceremony and respect with which
our Kings were treated, as compared
with the usages of other Courta.
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The conclusion of these negociations was followed by the
most splendid pageant on record, of which a minute account
has been given by Hall and by the Venetian secretary Spinelli,
who was present on this occasion. The rejoicings, even in an
age remarkable for its love of pageantry and grand ceremonial,
surpassed in splendour and magnificence all that had ever
been witnessed before. The decorations alone, not including
the entertainment itself, exceeded 8,000l. in our modern
estimate of money. Among the poets employed to write and
translate in English and Latin verse was the celebrated John
Rastall, married to Sir Thomas More’s sister.! The artists
engaged on the decorations were ‘ Master Browne, the King’s
painter,” two Italians, Vincent Vulpe and Ellis Carmyan, who
received for their wages 20s. & week—that is, about 13.. No
less a personage than ‘“ Master Hans (Holbein) was employed
for the painting of the plat of Tirwan, which standeth on the
back-side of the great rock,” at the cost of 4. 10s.—between
50l. and 60L. in modern computation. This work was greatly
admired ; for, says Hall, ‘‘ when supper was done, the King,
the Queen, and the ambassadors washed, and after talked at
their pleasure ; and then they rose and went out of the banquet
chamber by the foresaid arches; and when they were between
the uttermost door and the arches the King caused them to
turn back and look on that side of the arches, and then they
saw how Terouenne was besieged, and the very manner of

! The argument of the interlude,
as given by Hall, varies a little from
that in the text. ¢ When the King
and the Queen were set under their
cloths of estate . . . then entered a
personage clothed in cloth of gold,
and over it a mantle of blue silk, full
of eyes of gold, and over his head a
cap of gold, with a garland of laurel,
sot with leaves of fine gold. This
person made a solemn oration in the
Latin tongue, declaring what joy was
to the people of both the realms of
England and France to hear and know
the great love, league, and amity that
was between the two kings of the
two realms, giving great praise to the
king of England for granting of peace,
and also to the French king for sueing
for the same, and algo to the Cardinal
for being a mediator in the same.
And when he bad done there entered
eight of the King’s chapel with a
song, and brought with them one
richly apparelled; and in like manner

at the other side entered eight other
of the said chapel, bringing with thes
another person, likewise a

These two persons played a dialogus,
the effect whereof was, whether Riches
were better than Love. And whe
they could not agree upon a oconcls-
sion, each called in three knights, sl
armed; three of them would haw
entered the gate of the arch in th
middle of the chamber, and the othert
three resisted. And suddenly, betwess
the six kmights, out of the aroh fel
down a bar all gilt, at the which bef
the six knights fought a fair bettls
and then they were departed. Thes
came in an old man with a siv®
beard, and he concluded that love asd
riches both were necessary to prinos}
that is to say, by love to be obeyed
and served, and with riches to reward
his lovers and friends. And with
this conclusion the dialogue ended”
Hall's Chronicle, p. 728.

i e o
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every man’s camp, very cunningly wrought.”! The six
antique heads of Hercules, Scipio, Cesar, and Pompey, and
two not named, were modelled by John Demyans (de Maiano),
‘“ gilt, silvered, and painted, at 26s. 8d. each "—or about 141.
in modern value. Such prices, as compared with Rastall’s
payment, were liberal, for the poet received * for writing of
the dialogue and making (poetry) in rhyme, both in English
and Latin, 8s. 4d.”—equal to about 2l. in modern currency.?

But it is time to turn to Spinelli.

¢“On the fourth instant (i.e. of May) all the ambassadors, with the
exception of the Emperor’s, were summoned to Greenwich ; where, in the
presence of the King and the chief personages of the Court, the French
ambassador, the Bishop of Tarbes, delivered an oration, which was
answered by the Bishop of London; who on the morrow, Cardinal

Wolsey being unable to officiate from indisposition, sang mass with the
usual ceremonies, after which at the high altar, where the missal was

oo

on his

the Cardinal, the French ambassadors swore in his hands to
e perpetual peace now concluded with the king of England, he
swearing in like manner.

““Two of the ambassadors, namely, the prelate and the soldier, dined
with the King, the others dining apart together.

“On rising from the table they went to the Queen’s apartment, where
the Princess danced with the French ambassador, the Viscount of Turenne,
who considered her very handsome and admirable by reason of her great
and uncommon mental endowments, but so thin, spare, and small as to
render it impossible for her to be married for the next three years.

“Then yesterday there was a joust, the challengers at the tilt being
four, the eqmﬁ)etitors being sixteen, each of whom ran six courses ; a very

ag

t, by reason of the pro

wess of the knights. The joust ended

vith the day, not without rain, which rather impeded the jousting.

“The Ki

and the Queens, with some 200 damsels, then went to the

apartments which I informed you in a former letter were being prepared
on one side of the tilt yard at Greenwich 2 for the reception of the French
smbamadors, the rest of the company following them. The site adjoined
the other chambers, from whence the King and the nobility view the

! Hall, p. 722.

? Bee these and many other curious
particalars in 8ir Henry Guildford’s
account. IV, p. 1894.

# “The King had cansed a banquet
bouse to be made on the one side the
tit-yard at Greenwich, of 100 feet of
leagth and 80 feet breadth. The roof
was purple cloth, full of roses and
pomgarnets; the windows were all

ies, with curious monneles
(mouldings) strangely wrought; the
Jaw-pieces and crests were carved
with vinettes and trailes of savage
work, and richly gilt with gold and
bise (bister). This work corbolyng
bare the candlesticks of antique work,
which had little torchettes of white
wax. These candlesticks were polished
like amber. . . . At the nether end

were two broad arches upon three
antique pillars, all of gold.” Hall,
722. From this banqueting room the
guests passed, by a long gallery richly
hung, into another chamber, of which
the door was of masonry and em-
battled with jasper. Round the sides
five stages were erected, raised and
supported by pillars, and on the top
of every pillar was a silver basin filled
with branches of white wax. In the
middle of the apartment was a gate,
the top of which was adorned with
antique busts. The ceiling of the
chamber was painted by the King’s
astronomer, and ropresented the earth
surrounded by the sun, with the signs
of the zodiac, and the planets with
their cycles. Ibid. The supper was
served on massive gold plate.
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jousts. They were but two halls. about thirty paces in lengt
propurtional height and breadth.  The centre of the ceiling of
Lall was entirely covered with brucatel, of no great value, but

a goud etfect. The walls were hunz with the most costly t
England. representing the history of David ; and there was a row
closely set, lluminating the place very brilliantly, being ranged

windows, which were at no great distance from the roof. The ¢
was prepared in front of the hall, with a large canopy of tissuc
which was the King, with the Qucens, his wife and sister, at

Then came two lung tables : at one end of which, on the right
were seated the French ambassador and the Princess, each pa
some great lady. At the other table. to the left, the Venctian a
and the one from Milan, placed themselves, with the rest of the
ladies. At no great distance from the two tables were two ¢
reaching from the floor to the roof, forming a semicircle, on wl
large and varied assortment of vases, all of massive gold, the
which it would be ditlicult to estimate ; nor were any of them
silver-gilt dishes of another sort being used for the viands of
fish. which were in such variety and abundance that the banque
long while.

**The door of this hall was in the form of a very lofty trium
fashioned after the antique, bencath which were three vaulted
Through one passed the dishes for the table ; thruugh the other
removed ; and on each side of the centre one, which was th
stood two enormous cupboards bearing the wine to be served
Over the trimmphal arch was a spacivus baleony for the musician
the arms of the King and Quecen, with sundry busts of Emperon
King's motto, ** Dicu et mon droit,” and other Greek words. Cc
conceive anything so costly and well designed as what was witn
night at Greenwich.

**On rising from table all were marshalled, according to t
along a corridor of no great length, to the other hall, which was
less size than the first. The floor was covered with cloth of
broidered with gold lilies.  The ceiling, which was well-nigh fls
painted, representing a map of the world, the names of the
provinces being lugiln{c ; there were also the signs of the zodise
propertics, these paintings being supported by giants. 0 7
the hall were three tiers of seats, cach of which had a beullf i
wise for the spectators to lean on, nor did one tier |
other. Above these tiers were in like manner three rows
well disposed and contrived as not to impede the view.

*¢ Within the space for the spectators, on the il
first tier, the ambassadors were placed ; in the "
the third, those to whom adwmission was granted, | —
opposite side, in the same order, were the |- .
beauty and apparcl, enhanced by the ‘
think I was contemplating the choir of
placed one above the other. =
arch of a single span had been
[English measure], all gilt
decorated with a number
cence of this arch was
rand a structure
%he centre to the! o
two Queens | _

“All the

. 2
noise or
wenced. !
witnessed

=

=
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vith how much order, regularity, and silence such public entertainments
and are conducted in England. First of all, there entered the
eight singers, forming two wings, and singing certain English songs ;
in their centre was a very handsome youth alone, clad in skyblue taffety,
anumber of eyes being scattered over his gown ; and having presented
themselves before the ﬁi.ng, the singers then withdrew in the samo order,
there remaining by himself the youth, who, in the disguise of Mecrcury,
sent to the King by Jupiter, delivered a learned Latin oration in praise of
his Majesty ; which panegyric being ended, he announced that Jupiter,
having frequently listenefto disputes between love and riches, concern-
ing their relative authority, and being unable to decide the controversy,
be sppointed his Majesty as judge, and requested him to pronounce and
pass sentence on both of them. Thercupon Mercury departed ; and next
cme oight young choristers of the chapel, four on cach side ; those to
the right were all clad in cloth of gold, much ornamented, and the first of
them was Cupid ; the others to the left were variously arrayed, and their
ehhl:f was Plutus. In the centre walked one alone in the guise of Justice,
who sang.
“In this order they presented themselves to the King, before whom
wtice commenced narrating the dispute between the parties in English,
and desired Cupid to begin with his defence ; to which Plutus replied ;
each of the choristers on either side defending their leaders by reciting a
number of verses. The altereation being ended, Cupid and Plutus deter-
mined that judgment should go by battle ; and thus, having departed,
three men-at-arms in white armour, with three naked swords in their
ands, entered from the end of the hall, and having drawn up under the
triumphal arch, an opening was made in its centre by some unseen means,
and out of the arch fell down a bar, in front of which there appeared
well-armed knights. The combat then commencoed valiantly, man
to man, some of them dealing such blows that their swords broke.  After
they had fought some while a second bar was let down, which separated
them, the first three having vanquished the others, fighting with great
courage ; and the duel being thus ended, the combatants quitted the hall
in like manner as they had entered it. Thereupon there fell to the
ground, at the extremity of the hall, a painted canvas [curtain] from an
aperture, in which was seen a most verdant cave, appruachable by four
deps, each side being guarded by four of the chief gentlemen of the Court,
ad in tissue doublets and tall plumes, each of whom carried a torch.
Well grouped within the cave were eight damsels, of such rare beauty as
to be supposed goddesses rather than human beings. They were arrayed
I cloth of gold, their hair gathered into a net, with a very richly jewelled
fland, surmounted by a velvet cap, the hanging slecves of their surcoats
gng so long that they well-nigh touched the ground, and so well and
richly wrought as to be no slight ornament to their heauty. They
nded gracefully from their seats to the sound of trumpets, the first of
them being the Princess, hand in hand with the marchioness of Exeter.
er beauty in this array produced such an effect on everybody that all
the other inarvellous sights previously witnessed were forgotten, and they
fave themselves up solely to contemplation of so fair an angel. On her
mn were 80 many precious stones that her splendour and radiance
azzled the sight in such wise as to make one believe that she was decked
¥ith all the gems of the eighth sphere. Dancing thus, they presented
themselves to the King, their dance being very delightful by reason of its
variety, a8 they formed certain groups and figures most pleasing to the
sight. Their dance being finished, they ranged with themselves on one
side : and in like order the eight youths, leaving their torches, came down
umn the cave, and after performing their dance, each of them touk by
the hand one of those beautiful nymphs, and, having led a courant together
for a while, returned to their places.
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““Six masks then entered. To detail their costume would be but to
r:geat the words, cloth of gold,’ ¢ cloth of silver,’ etc. They chose such
ladies as they pleased for their partners, and commenced various dances ;
which being ended, the King appeared. The French ambassador, the
marquis of Turenne, was at his side, and behind him four couple of
noblemen all masked, and all wearing black velvet slip on their feet ;
this being done lest the King should be distinguished from the others ;
as, from the hurt which he lately received on his left foot when playing at
tennis, he wears a black velvet slipper. They were all clad in tissue
doublets, over which was a very long and ample gown of black satin, with
hoods of the same material, and on their caps of tawny velvet.
They then took by the hand an equal number of ladies, dancing with
%reat glee, and at the end of the dance unmasked ; whereupon the

rincess with her companions again descended, and came to the K.i.ns,
who, in the presence o? the French ambassadors, took off her cap, and,
the net being displaced, a profusion of silver tresses, as beautiful as ever
were seen on human head, fell over her shoulders, forming a most
:ﬁreeable sight. The aforesaid ambassadors then took leave of her; and
departing from that beautiful place returned to the supper hall, where
the ta%les were spread with every sort of confection and choice wines for
all who chose to cheer themselves with them. The sun, I believe,
greatly hastened his course, having, perhaps, had a hint from Mercury of
80 rare a sight. So showing himself already on the horizon, warning
being thus given of his presence, everybody io ht it time to &u:: the
royal chambers, returning to their own with such sleepy eyes the
daylight could not keep them open.”

The rejoicings and solemnities in the French court were
far less sumptuous. They were, in fact, marked with a
parsimony excusable enough in the impoverished state of the
French finunces, but very unlike the general splendour in
which Francis himself, and his subjects, were accustomed to
indulge on great State occasions. Viscount Lisle was sent
to receive the King’s oath, and has left us a description of the
ceremonial which took place on Whitsun Eve, June 8th.
The great hall was hung with fleurs de lis. The King took
his seat under ‘“his cloth of estate,” dressed in a gown of
purple velvet trimmed with sables, and white hose and
doublet. During the ambassador’s oration, a gentleman
usher kneeled at each corner of the dais. But whilst the
narrator is struck with this unusual ceremony, he is no less
struck with the familiarity allowed by the French King to his
courtiers. ‘‘ About and behind the King were all the great
lords temporal; some leaning on the pommels of his chair.
Lautrec and the Grand Master stood on either side; the
Admiral and others behind, within a space of two yards
between the wall and the back of the King's chair. The
archbishops and bishops sat on low stools behind the ambas-
sadors. And when the French chancellor replied, he never
rose from his chair, nor uncovered his head, nor raised his
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cap ""—according to the invariable custom in England—
‘“ whether he named the King his master or any other
prince.” On Whitsunday, the King took his oath in the
cathedral of Notre Dame. The most noticeable feature in the
ceremony was an enormous cloth of purple velvet, embroidered
with gold fleurs de lis, which served for a carpet. After the
ceremony dinner was served in one of the canon’s houses.
“The King was very merry all the dinner-time,” says Clerk,
“and had much communication with the papal Legate, with
w, and with divers other lords and gentlemen which stood
sbout him ; some leaning upon his chair, and some upon his
table, all much more familiarly than is agreeable to our
English manners.”! At a feast given the Thursday after in
the Palace to wind up the rejoicings, the roof and sides of the
spariment were merely covered with rich hangings and *rolls
of green box with garlands of the same.” The devices were
ot remarkable for splendour or ingenuity. In the first ¢ was
8 play of shepherds which brought in the Ruin of Rome.”
After this came another device of two angels, each holding the
half of & scutcheon in one hand, and a plane in the other;
“and ever they planed those half scutcheons until they had
fitted the two halves into one whole, half white and half red.
One of the angels held a long branch of rose in his hand, and
the word Angleterre written on his breast, and the other
France. And so lovingly holding between them the united
scuicheon, they made their reverence, and departed.” ?
As the difficulties in the late negociations could not be
entirely removed without a ‘personal interview, Henry had
more than once expressed, in warm language, his strong
desire to see his brother of France, assuring Turenne, that
“if their state allowed, he would not be one single day with-
out his company.”® The proposition was received on the
part of the French more coldly than might have been antici-
pated to a proposal so flattering. They held out no en-
couragement, but preferred the minister to his master.
Already Francis had urged his ambassadors to persuade
Wolsey to visit France, and obtain his master’s sanction for
that purpose. He added, as an inducement, * that he would
do for him what he would not do for all the cardinals in
Rome ; 4 for he would himself go to Picardy to meet Wolsey
and talk privately with him. Evidently he was not prepared

1 IV. p. 1445. 8 IV. pp. 1400 and 1412.
1 IV. p. 1444, ¢ IV. p. 1408.
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for another extravagant display like the Field of the Cloth of
Gold, in which English wealth easily outrivalled the more
frugal display of the French, sorely crippled in their finances
by the events of the last few years. Contemporary historians,
as usual, attribute to the Cardinal’s ostentation and vanity
this mission into France, but there is no indication whatever
that he either sought or desired it. Indifferent to the opinions
of men, solely influenced by his sense of devotion to the King’s
service, he never condescended to undeceive those who mis-
interpreted his actions, or credited him with measures of
which he was only the minister, and not the author. It is
this reserve which makes all judgment of his motives and
conduct so difficult and so perplexing. Except Henry himself,
none knew precisely the amount of responsibility due to the
Cardinal. No one could tell how far he was a spontaneous
agent, or stooped to a necessity he could not avoid, or yielded
against his conviction, rather than risk a worse alternative.
Those who could have dome him justice were too much
interested in his ruin, and too much wrapped up in the selfish
pursuit of their own interests, to waste their magnanimity in
vindicating the memory of a statesman to whose ruin they
had contributed, and out of whose fall they had reaped their
advantage. Cromwell, busily engrossed with his own ad-
vancement, troubled not himself about the honour of a master,
on whose disgrace he had risen to credit and importance.
Cavendish who, more than any other, has painted the last
days of the fallen statesman with unrivalled pathos and
fidelity, was clearly unversed in politics, and knew nothing,
except by vague report, of Wolsey's earlier and more active
years. Reformers and Romanists alike, though for opposite
reasons, hated the man who, by his influence over the King,
had obstructed the Reformation, and injured the monastic
orders by subverting so many of their houses to build his
colleges. Both condemned him, without pity or reflection,
for suggesting, as they thought, the divorce of Queen Katharine,
and estranging her husband from the Emperor. Strangely
enough, the most conflicting interests and most opposite
parties combined in maintaining the Emperor's ascendancy
in English politics. The continental trade of the country was
carried on at Antwerp and the Flemish ports; and Wolsey's
endeavours to transfer it to Calais, and develop our trade
with France, encountered bitter opposition. Most of the
Hanse merchants, tinctured with Lutheranism, and all of
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them engaged in the contraband traffic of importing Lutheran
books, then eagerly purchased at enormous prices, were
especially alarmed at the prospect of losing their trade, and
employed all their influence with the Reformers, whose
numbers at this time were rapidly increasing, in denouncing
the French alliance as inimical to the Gospel. Their oppo-
nents, who hated Lutheranism, but associated with Katharine
the cause of the Church, turned to the Emperor as the
champion of her in whose singular purity, constancy, and
devotion the Church seemed to find its most noble and affect-
ing example. From one cause or another, Tyndall and his
Yitterest opponents, More and Fisher, Norfolk, Darcy, and
Northumberland, satirists and theologians, those who hoped
% gain by Wolsey's fall, and those who had nothing to expect
from it, then and afterwards, misinterpreted his measures and
loaded his memory with obloquy. With still greater perversity
they distributed justice with inverted hands, attributing what-

ever was meritorious to the King, whatever was odious to his
imisier.
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CHAPTER XXVII.
ANNE BOLEYN.

Henry VIII. was not the ““ angel of purity ” it has now become
a fashion with some to represent him ; nor was he the monster
of lust and cruelty described by others, at all events in his
earlier years, and under Wolsey’s administration. He had been
carefully and even strictly educated by his father Henry VII.,
whose stern and sombre court formed a striking contrast
to the splendour and magnificence in which his son and
successor delighted. The horrors of a civil war, of a disputed
succession, of a successful rebellion under some powerful
noble, had passed away. The old and staid councillors of his
father had died; and, with the exception of Wolsey, their
places had been mainly filled by younger men of a very
different stamp; by laymen, not by ecclesiastics; by those
who could enter into the young King's pursuits and amuse-
ments—were more fitted for the tiltyard than the ecouncil
table; loved the tumult, gallantry, pomp, and splendour of
the rising generation and the new reign, and served rather to
spur than restrain the inclinations of the new monarch.
Until the close of the year 1524 the superabundant activity
of the King himself and his young courtiers, wasting itself
mainly in muscular amusements, or exchanging them for the
less justifiable excitement of dice and card-playing, found
more wholesome occupation in the war with France, or the
expectation of war. But the defeat of Francis at the battle of
Pavia left them in utter idleness, without the hope of employ-
ment. Men of education, sagacity, and experience, generally
ecclesiastics, were at that time engaged in all diplomatic
posts, requiring more than usual tact and ability. For such
employments the nobility and gentry, who frequented the new
court, were either disqualified by ignorance of their own, and
still more of the Latin, tongue—the common vehicle of com-
munication—or declined to qualify themselves by the necessary
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sacrifices of their time and amusements. In 1525 the King,
then thirty-four years old, was beginning to pay less attention
to business. He hated the drudgery of looking over files of
despatches, from which the most exciting topic was absent ;
withdrew himself more and more from the metropolis, and
spent his days in hunting. At that time he was in the very
vigour of his manhood ; then, and for some years after, the
admiration of all who beheld him ; conspicuous for his clear
and ruddy complexion, his strength and agility; towering in
stature above all those by whom he was surrounded. Even
five years after, when time and indulgence had spared neither
his looks nor his fair proportions, the Venetian ambassador,
Lodovico Falier, cannot refrain from breaking out into enthu-
sagtic praise of his many graces and personal accomplish-
ments :—*“ In this Eighth Henry God has combined such
corporeal and intellectual beauty as not merely to surprise
but astound all men. . . . His face is angelic, rather than
bandsome ; his head imperial and bold; and he wears a
beard, contrary to English custom. Who would not be
amazed when contemplating such singular beauty of person,
coupled with such bold address, adapting itself with the
greatest ease to every manly exercise. He sits his horse
well, manages him yet better. He jousts, wields the spear,
throws the quoit, and draws the bow admirably. He plays at
tennis most dexterously. . . . Besides the Latin and his
native tongue, he has learned Spanish, French, and Italian.”?
Removed more than ever from the personal influence of
Wolsey, now wholly engrossed with the public business, Henry
was surrounded by favourites, who recommended themselves
to his notice by ministering to his pleasures, and fostering his
love of profusion. Chief of these were Sir William Compton,
Bir Francis Bryan, Sir Gilbert Pickering, Sir Henry Norris,
and George Boleyn, of whom the last two perished on the
scaffold. To these must be added the Duke of Suffolk, ex-
clusively remarkable for his strength and stature; the Duke
of Norfolk, a small spare man, of dark complexion, cruel lips,
and more cruel temper; and Sir Thomas Boleyn, advanced
to the peerage in 1525 as Viscount Rochford. Of these, Sir
Thomas was the father of Ann Boleyn; Norfolk (Wolsey’s
great enemy) was her uncle ; George Boleyn, her brother; Sir
Francis Bryan, her cousin; Norris, her near relative and
admirer ; Compton, an intimate friend. With them, or some
! Brown’s Ven. Cal,, iv. p. 298.
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of them, Henry spent the day in hunting, and the night in
gambling, losing occasionally large sums of money. In 1525
he had attempted to make a favourite of Sir Thomas More,
professing to be delighted with his society, his wit, his modesty,
and his learning.! He had not yet forgotten his fondness fi
theological controversy, in which More was a proficient ; :?d
More had defended the King's book by a bitter attack upon
Luther. At the death of Sir Richard Wingfield, in July, 1525,
the King had advanced More to the chancellorship of the
Duchy of Lancaster. ‘“And for the pleasure,” says Roper,
‘“ he took in his company would his Grace suddenly sometimes
come home to his house at Chelsea to be merry with him,
whither, on a time unlooked-for, he came to dinner, and after
dinner, in a fair garden of his, walked with him by the space
of an hour, holding his arm about his neck. As soon as his
Grace was gone, I, rejoicing thereat, said to Sir Thomas More,
how happy he was whom the King had so familiarly enter-
tained, as I never had seen him do to any before, except
cardinal Wolsey, whom I saw his Grace walk once with arm
in arm.? “I thank our Lord, 8ir,” quoth More,” with mingled
pathos and humour, ““I find his Grace my very good lord
indeed, and I believe he doth as singularly favor me as any
subject within this realm. Howbeit, son Roper, I may tell
thee I have no cause to be proud thereof, for if my head would
win him a castle in France—(for then there was war between
us) ®—it should not fail to go.’”

That More, combining the religious fervour and devotion
of the recluse with the urbanity, grace, and ready wit of the
most cultivated man of the world, a considerate and patient
master, a pattern of conjugal purity and fidelity, should not

seek to push his fortune among the unscrupulous candidates

for royal favour is no more than might be expected. He
knew well what were the King’s intentions at that time, and
did not approve of them. He knew also how hard it was to
contend with one whose arguments he could not admit without

! See the letter of Vives to Eras-
mus, Nov. 18, 1525, IV. p. 780.

2 This remark deserves notice;
for, whatever favours the King may
bave shown him, the Cardinal never
forgot the rospect due to his Sove-
reign. The deference paid to him
by Wolsey on all occasions is remark-
able. He wasalwaysa minister, never
a favourite.

? If Roper means actual war, he
is certainly wrong. Wingfield died ia
July, 1525, and we were never at wat
with France after that year during
More's life. The King’s familiarity,
rightly assigned to this date by Roper,
was evidently connected with the
King’s anxiety to enlist More in favoar
of the divorce. But Sir Thomas con-
trived to elude the snare.

1
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peril of his conscience, or contradict without peril of his life.
His learning, his reputation, his legal acquirements, were sure
to point him out to the King as the one man above all others
in his kingdom whose judgment on the question none would
venture to impugn, and few would be inclined to dispute.
That judgment he had avoided giving, with all the tact and
dexterity of which he was master. But the pursuits of the
court, and the individuals of which its innermost circle was
composed, were scarcely such as could command his sympathy
and approbation. There was hardly one of them whose
character was not seriously tainted with that vice against
which the unsullied purity of More’s mind revolted ; not one
who looked upon the transgression of the marriage vow as
deserving reprobation or censure, or at least as worse than a
jest. Suffolk had been betrothed to one lady; then married
another ; then abandoned her, on the plea of his previous
contract, for the lady whom he had in the first instance
rejected. Norfolk lived with his duchess on the most scandalous
terms. Sir William Compton had been cited in the eccle-
sisstical court, for living in open adultery with a married
woman.! The fate of Norris and George Boleyn is too well
known to require comment. Sir Francis Bryan, the chief
eompanion in the King’s amusements, and the minister of his
pleasures, was pointed out by common fame as more dissolute
than all the rest.

Unfortunately the Queen had ceased to bear children ;
and the fact was so notorious as to be made the subject of
public comment in the courts of Europe, even by the English
ambassadors. She was five years older than the King in age,
and more than twice five in temperament and constitution.
Short and stout in person, amiable and even cheerful in the
midst of all her sorrows and afflictions, beloved and pitied by
all, she still retained the King’s esteem, and was outwardly
treated by him with unfailing respect,? though she had utterly

! Lady Ann Hastings. BSee IV.
1948, 1844. There seems to have
some affinity, or at least inti-
mate oomnection, between Compton
sad the Boleyns. For he devises in
bis will to Henry VIII. “certain
speciaities to the sum of 1,000 marks,”
which he had of 8ir Thomas Boleyn
for money lent to the latter. See
P 1943. Sir William died immensely

rich in 1528.
# On that head we have the un-

wor

impeachable evidence of Sir John
Wallop. “The English ambassador
here,” says Marin Giustinian, writing
to the Signory from Paris, “ does not
approve the divorce, praising the
wisdom, innocence, and patience of
queen Katharine. . . . He says that
the Queen was as beloved as if she
had been of the blood royal of Eng-
land.” April 15, 1533. Brown’s Ven.
Cal., iv. 393. She had nothing of the
sourness of the recluse about her.

ar
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lost his affections.
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She appeared with him on all public

occasions ; accompanied him in his progresses; was really

or apparently unsuspicious of his intentions.

These imten-

tions had been long fostered in his breast before they were

revealed to any one.

They were only betrayed by degrees;

not in their fulness to any—not even to Wolsey. The common
story, propagated by Tyndall, repeated by Roper, reiterated
since, that Wolsey requested Longland, the King’s confessor,
to put ““a scruple into his Grace’s head ” as to the legality of
his marriage is a mere calumny—one of the many figments
propagated by Wolsey’s enemies, without dread of contradic-

tion.
open court by the King.

It was denied by Longland himself; it was denied in
‘¢ 8ir,” said the Cardinal, ““I most

humbly beseech your Highness to declare me, before all this
audience, whether I have been the chief inventor or first -
mover of this matter unto your Majesty; for I am greatly

suspected of all men herein.”

“My lord Cardinal,” quoth

the King, “I can well excuse you herein. Marry,” quoth he,
*“ ye have been rather against me in attempting or setting forth

thereof.”

It was not an idle assertion. The truth of it will

]
4

abundantly appear in the sequel. Longland’s protestationis, ;
no doubt, correct, as confirmed by the King's own words. B
was the King himself who first broke the matter to his con- -3
fessor; ‘‘ and never left urging him until he had won himfo

give his consent.”!

The exact date at which Henry began to entertain these .
scruples, and their precise shape at the first, can never be
determined with accuracy; for the most sufficient of all
reasons: they were not known to the King himself.? They
sprung up unconsciously from a combination of causes, and
took definite form and colour in his breast by insensible
They must have brooded in his mind some time
before he would acknowledge them to himself, still less confess
their existence to others. They first became the subject of
conversation in the summer of 1527. The ostensible cause
of them, carelessly accepted by historians as the real

degrees.
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